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Corporate Information

NEER

ABOUT CGN MINING

The Company is incorporated in the Cayman Islands and listed on
the main board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 01164). The
principal activities of the Group are the development and trade of
natural uranium resources used by nuclear energy enterprises, with
a view to being one of the top suppliers of natural uranium resources
for nuclear power plants.
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DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Qiu Bin (appointed as ED and chief executive officer of the Company
on 15 April 2025)

Xu Junmei

An Junjing (resigned on 5 July 2024)

Non-executive Directors

Wang Xianfeng (appointed as the chairman of the Board and
chief executive officer of the Company on & July 2024, resigned as
the chief executive officer of the Company and re-designated as
NED on 15 April 2025)

Sun Xu

Liu Guanhua

Yin Xiong (resigned on 15 April 2025)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Gao Pei Ji

Zhang Yuntao

Dai Qijia (appointed on 12 March 2025)
Qiu Xianhong (resigned on 12 March 2025)

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Zhang Yuntao (re-designated as chairman on 12 March 2025)
Sun Xu

Dai Qijia (appointed on 12 March 2025)

Qiu Xianhong (resigned on 12 March 2025)

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Dai Qijia (appointed as chairman on 12 March 2025)
Gao Pei Ji

Liu Guanhua

Zhang Yuntao

Qiu Xianhong (resigned on 12 March 2025)

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Wang Xianfeng (appointed as chairman on 5 July 2024)
Gao Pei Ji

Zhang Yuntao

Dai Qijia (appointed on 12 March 2025)

An Junjing (resigned on 5 July 2024)

Qiu Xianhong (resigned on 12 March 2025)

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE
COMMITTEE

Xu Junmei (chairman)
Sun Xu
Gao Pei Ji

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

She Dong
Lai Siu Kuen
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AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES UNDER
THE LISTING RULES

Xu Junmei
Lai Siu Kuen

REGISTERED OFFICE

Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive

P.O. Box 2681

Grand Cayman KY1-1111
Cayman Islands

HEAD OFFICE AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF
BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

Room 1903,19/F, China Resources Building
No. 26 Harbour Road
Wanchai, Hong Kong

CORPORATE WEBSITE

www.cgnmc.com

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited
Industrial and Commercial Bank of China (Asia) Limited

AUDITOR
BDO Limited

CAYMAN ISLANDS PRINCIPAL SHARE
REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER OFFICE

Conyers Trust Company (Cayman) Limited
Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive

P.O. Box 2681

Grand Cayman KY1-1111

Cayman Islands

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR
AND TRANSFER OFFICE

Union Registrars Limited

Suites 3301-04, 33/F

Two Chinachem Exchange Square
338 King’s Road

North Point, Hong Kong

SHARE LISTING

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
STOCK CODE

01164
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OPERATING RESULTS ¥7&

hEREXARAR

ZEUFFR

Financial Highlights

For the year ended 31 December

MBRE

HZ12A31HILEE
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
20244 20234F 20224 20214 20204
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FEx FHT TAT F&T FAT
(Restated)
(551
Continuing operations BEMER
Revenue BER 8,624,272 7,350,952 3,648,680 3,859,530 2,862,226
Operating profit Kol 936,017 680,436 628,842 246,247 220,855
Finance costs BEM AR (121,806)  (131,464) (61,699) (49,683) (40,889)
Profit before taxation BREL AR F 814,211 548,972 567,143 196,564 179,966
Income tax expenses FTs R (287,485) (62,369) (52,228) (18,066) (24,749)
Profit from continuing KEHEMEER
operations FrisaH 526,726 486,603 514,915 178,498 155,217
Discontinued operations & 1L ¥7§
(Loss)/profit from RECKIEEBREZ N/A N/A N/A
discontinued operations (E518) /7 (184,745) 10,496 TNE A TEH B
Profit for the year REE R 341,981 497,099 514,915 178,498 155,217
Profit attributable to: THIATEIERF -
Owners of the Company KABHEA 341,981 497,099 514,915 178,498 155,217
Non-controlling interests iR - = = = =
341,981 497,099 514,915 178,498 155,217

FINANCIAL POSITION B # k%

As at 31 December

M12831H

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
20244 20234 20224 20214 20204
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THERT TAT THET FAT FTHAT
Total assets EERE 7,842,287 6,750,363 6,865,707 6,349,575 4,187,787
Total liabilities BE#E (3,920,581) (2,870,172) (3,517,568) (4,194,352) (2,160,727)
3,921,706 3,880,191 3,348,139  2,155223 2,027,060

Equity attributable to owners AR EIHEAE A
of the Company [E(h TR 3,921,706 3,880,191 3,348,139  2,155223 2,027,060
Non-controlling interests S - - - - -
3,921,706 3,880,191 3,348,139  2,155223 2,027,060
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Chairman’s Statement

FESE

Dear Shareholders,

In 2024, the great changes unseen in a century in the world
accelerated in evolution. The global economic and energy landscape
has undergone deep changes. On the economic front, the global
economy has demonstrated a certain degree of resilience, but it
also faced problems such as insufficient growth momentum and
prominent downside risks. Geopolitical risks, diverging monetary
policies, fluctuations in the supply chain and other factors continued
to affect the global economic landscape. Under the continuous
influence of Russia-Ukraine conflict, energy security, energy transition
and other factors, various countries are paying more attention on
energy issues, and the global nuclear energy development is in good
shape.

In the face of a complex and ever-changing external environment, the
Company continued to focus on the field of natural uranium resources
and actively responded to risks, ensuring safe and efficient production
and operation. In 2024, the Company successfully dealt with various
challenges such as inflation pressure, fluctuations in the supply
chain and geopolitical risks by optimizing its operational strategy and
strengthening its internal management, grasped the opportunity of
natural uranium market recovery and substantially pushed forward
high-quality development, and the overall performance and operation
remained stable. In terms of the operation of the projects on hand,
despite the restraints on the procurement of some raw materials in
Kazakhstan causing the production cost of Semizbay-U and Ortalyk
to rise, the target of the production plans was basically accomplished
under the Company’s close attention and strict supervision on
production and operation by the expatriate team. In terms of sales
of natural uranium, CGN Global grasped the opportunity of natural
uranium price fluctuations at high level, contributing to the significant
growth in the Company’s revenue. In terms of social responsibility,
the Company has updated its ESG targets, demonstrating a green,
low-carbon and responsible corporate image. At the same time, we
are pleased to see that the Company is receiving more and more
attention from the capital market. Since the inclusion of the Company
in the Hang Seng Composite Index, Shanghai Stock Connect and
Shenzhen Stock Connect, more individual and institutional investors
have become optimistic about the Company’s future prospects,
and the Company’s performance in market capitalization has been
stable. These achievements are attributed to the concerted efforts
of the Board and all staff, as well as the trust and support of our
shareholders and customers.

BAIIRIR -

2024 F R BFERINBBHE - DI
BERE RIS BB ERAEE o ILICOEE
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BEFETE - TMTRKRRLEME - it
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BERZFELEEZRICESR - R
58R  BEREE - e RENEZER
B SEEEREBHRBER - 2%
BEBRERETRAT -

o]
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M EBUa Rk S % EHKE - TR A
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BEURARARRAS  ARHERREBRE -
BUKBEEENRESS  2REIELE
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We understand that Shareholders’ support is the cornerstone of the
Company’s development. In 2024, the Company achieved steady
growth in its results, and on the premise of ensuring the Company’s
sustainable development, the Board proposed the payment of
a final dividend of HKO.7 cents per Share in appreciation of the
Shareholders’ trust and support. The Company has paid an interim
dividend of HKO0.3 cents per Share in September 2024, and the
annual average dividend percentage for 2024 would be approximately
22% upon the approval of the final dividend by the Shareholders.

For a long time, the Company has been focusing on its main business
of natural uranium resources development and trading, keeping
its eye on high-quality mining resources worldwide, and exploring
quality investment opportunities to form a reasonable combination
of in-production, under-construction, advanced and beginner
level exploration projects to meet the needs of the Company’s
sustainable development. Against the background of favorable global
development of nuclear energy, uranium resource companies around
the world have tightened their control on uranium resources. Coupled
with the entry of more uranium funds into the natural uranium trading
market, the difficulty in developing uranium resources has further
increased, placing a higher demand for our resource acquisition
capabilities and investment strategy. In 2025, under the premise of
risk control, the Company will adopt the strategy of focusing on both
mergers and acquisitions as well as exploration and development,
while making investments in high-quality uranium projects, and
continue to make assessments on potential targets and look forward
to making substantive progress as soon as possible to continue
resource extraction, strive for more investment returns, and bring
solid returns to all shareholders.
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Chairman’s Statement

FESE

The Company’s businesses are highly internationalized and our
mergers and acquisitions of overseas projects are subject to
geopolitical rivalry. In 2025, the complexity and volatility of the
international situation will continue. The fiscal and tax revenue
policies of various countries are undergoing new changes as the
natural uranium price fluctuates and geopolitical conflicts intensify,
all of which would affect the business development of the Company.
Meanwhile, due to factors such as inflation, currency depreciation,
insufficient raw material capacity and difficulties in cross-border
transportation as a result of the Russia-Ukraine conflict in Kazakhstan,
where the Company’s main operating mines are located, the prices
of raw materials for mining enterprises have been pushed up, further
increasing the pressure on cost control for the mines. With the
combination of the above factors, the Company may still face great
challenges in 2025, and the Board of the Company will maintain a
close track of the risk factors that may affect the operations of the
Company to ensure that the Company can identify the potential risks
in a timely manner and make effective responses. We firmly believe
that the difficulties cannot stop our determined and steady progress,
and that any issue encountered during development can certainly be
settled through development.

2025 is the final year for realizing the Company’s “Fourteenth Five-
Year Plan” objectives and tasks as well as the year for formulating
the “Fifteenth Five-Year Plan”. We will persistently seek development,
make progress to strengthen our operation while maintaining stability,
take the initiative to promote enhancement, and plan to enhance the
Company’s core capabilities and core competitiveness in multiple
dimensions.

e We will insist on safety first, systematically improve the safety,
quality and environment management system, enhance the
establishment of a nuclear safety culture, and properly implement
prevention and control of major safety risks;

e We will steadily promote the development and exploration of
new projects and projects on hand, strengthen our organization,
team and capability building to enhance our exploration capability
for uranium mines in order to acquire more high-quality equity
sources;

e We will stabilize international trades in natural uranium, establish
the new pricing mechanism of connected transactions with a
term of three years, mitigate and prevent operational risks, and
make medium and long-term operational arrangements;

,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,, ‘
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e We will strengthen our taxation risk management and control
in a strict and practical manner, enhance the analysis of the
situation in the countries in which the projects are located and
the contingency plan, resolutely protect the bottom line of no
incidence of major risks;

e We will continue to deepen the reform of the governance
and management system, comprehensively optimize the
standardization and effectiveness of program operation and
effectively support the Company’s business development;

e We will continue to improve quality, reduce costs and increase
efficiency through digital empowerment, technological innovation
and management innovation, focus on the implementation of lean
management, enhance operational quality and efficiency, shaping
the new quality productive forces in the natural uranium industry.

Though dreams may seem distant, they can be attained through
pursuit. Though desires may be arduous, they can be fulfilled
through perseverance. Looking back at 2024, we have accumulated
experience and wisdom, building a solid foundation for future
endeavors. As we look forward to 2025, we remain steadfast in our
convictions and continue to strive with unwavering determination.
Facing opportunities in an era of nuclear power recovery and increase
in demand for global uranium resources, the Board of the Company
and all staff will grasp the opportunity, commit to the long-term goal
of becoming a world-class natural uranium supplier, spare no effort
in enhancing the quality and efficiency of operations, implement
the “Strict Compliance, Prudent Decision-making, Detail-oriented
and Fact-based Approach” in an intensive manner, complete the
“Fourteenth Five-Year Plan” tasks and objectives with quality, lay a
solid foundation for a good start of the “Fifteenth Five-Year Plan”, and
create long-term value for shareholders and employees.

Chairman of the Board
Wang Xianfeng

Hong Kong, 20 March 2025
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Management Discussion and Analysis

ERENWRSSN

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is principally engaged in natural uranium investment and
trading. As at 31 December 2024, the Company (i) held 100% equity
interest in Beijing Sino-Kazakh, through which it held 49% of the
equity interest and off-take rights of products of Semizbay-U; (i) held
100% equity interest in CGNM UK, through which it held 49% of the
equity interest and off-take rights of products of Ortalyk. In addition,
the Group had a wholly-owned subsidiary, CGN Global, and held a
2.61% equity interest in Paladin.

In 2024, the Group achieved revenue of HK$8,624 million and profits
attributable to owners of the Company of HK$342 million.

Analysis of business environment
The nuclear power market

According to the data released by the International Atomic Energy
Agency (“IAEA”), at the end of 2024, there were 417 nuclear power
units in operation worldwide (excluding 23 nuclear power reactors
in suspended operation), with a total installed capacity of 377GWe,
and 62 units under construction, with a total installed capacity of
64GWe. In 2024, there were 6 new grid-connected units worldwide
with a total installed capacity of 6.8GWe; 9 units that commenced
construction with a total installed capacity of 10.2GWe; 2 reactivated
units with a total installed capacity of 1.6GWe; and 4 closed units
with a total installed capacity of 2.9GWe.

In 2024, geopolitics has highlighted the fragility of global power
supply, and as a low-carbon, safe and economical form of energy,
nuclear power’s steady growth momentum has continued. After
the announcement of Declaration to Triple Nuclear Energy at the
28th Conference of the Parties of the United Nations Framework
Convention on Climate Change, nuclear power’s role in global energy
transition has become increasingly prominent. Emerging markets
and developing economies have become the main drivers of future
development of nuclear energy. The major countries in nuclear energy
actively promoted the research and development of SMRs, bringing
new development opportunities to the global nuclear energy market.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Developments relating to nuclear power in major countries in 2024
are as follows:

Industry financing and forecast

o In July, the IAEA urged the World Bank and other international
banks to provide financing support for new nuclear power
projects. In order to achieve the climate goals, it is expected
that global investment in nuclear power will reach US$100
billion by 2050.

° In September, the IAEA raised its global nuclear power
expansion forecast for the fourth consecutive year. It is
anticipated that by 2050, the global installed nuclear power
capacity will increase to 950GWe under the high case
forecast, while the global installed nuclear power capacity will
increase to 514GWe under the low case forecast. Compared
to the 2023 forecast, the high case forecast was adjusted
upwards by 7% and the low case forecast by 11%. Moreover,
with regard to small modular reactors (“SMRs”), they are
projected to account for 24% of the newly installed capacity
under the high-case forecast and 6% under the low-case
forecast by 2050.

About Asia (except Mainland China)

Asia became the main region in promoting the development of
nuclear power. Many countries continued their active support for
nuclear power following the trend of previous years and increased
their efforts in nuclear power development, mainly through plans to
increase the installed nuclear power capacity plan and to build or
reactivate more nuclear power units.

° In February, Japan placed uranium on its list of “Specified
Critical Minerals” to secure a stable supply under the
protection of the Economic Security Promotion Act.

° In February, India planned to build 18 new nuclear reactors by
2032, which is expected to add 13.8GWe of newly installed
capacity.

° In April, Turkey planned to reach 7.2GWe of installed nuclear

power capacity by 2035 (currently 0GWe).
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In May, Japan approved a 20-year extension to the operation
of Units 3 and 4 of the Takahama Nuclear Power Station (to
2045); in October, Unit 2 of the Onagawa Nuclear Power
Station was reactivated after 13 years.

In October, Kazakhstan held a referendum and decided to
construct the first nuclear power reactor.

About Europe

In January, the UK published a roadmap for the development
of nuclear power before 2050, which aimed to increase the
UK’s installed nuclear capacity to 24GWe by 2050 (four times
the level in 2023); it also provided an additional funding of
1.3 billion British Pound for the construction of the Sizewell C
nuclear power station.

In August, Russia published the “2042 Energy Development
Plan”, which includes plans to build 11 new nuclear power
plants.

In October, Sweden planned to start construction for nuclear
power by the end of 2026.

In November, France published the updated “National Low
Carbon Strategy” and “Programmation Pluriannuelle de
I'énergie (PPE)” which emphasized promoting the construction
of new units while maintaining the operation of existing nuclear
power units and proposed 9 specific action projects items.

About North America

In February, the US Senate published the bill for the
“Emergency National Security Supplemental Appropriations
Act”, amounting to USD118 billion, where USD2.7 billion was
allocated from the Civil Nuclear Credit program to fund the
construction of the domestic uranium enrichment capacity
in response to sanctions against Russia; in March, the US
unveiled its 2025 Budget, USD2.7 billion of which are intended
to be allocated to the development of the domestic nuclear
fuel supply, and the US provided a loan of USD1.5 billion to
the suspended Palisades Nuclear Power Station in Michigan
to facilitate its restart.
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In April, the US passed the Prohibiting Russian Uranium
Imports Act; in May, the US President signed the bill into law
intended to “reduce and ultimately eliminate” the dependence
of the US civilian nuclear energy sector on Russia; in
November, the Russia government imposed temporary
restrictions on the export of enriched uranium to the US and
issued a government decree in response to the previous US
sanctions.

In June, the US Senate passed the ADVANCE Act
(Accelerating Deployment of Versatile, Advanced Nuclear
for Clean Energy Act), which aimed to simplify the licensing
procedure for new nuclear reactors in order to accelerate the
deployment and development of nuclear energy.

In September, Constellation announced the restart of Unit 1 in
Three Mile Island which has been suspended for 5 years, and
signed a 20-year electricity sales agreement with Microsoft; in
October, Google entered into an agreement with Kairos Power
to purchase electricity from 6-7 SMRs.

In November, the US published new nuclear energy
deployment targets and a framework for action, which
planned to add 35GWe of newly installed nuclear power
capacity by 2035 and to reach 200GWe of installed nuclear
power capacity by 2050.

About other regions

In March, more than 30 countries participated in the First
Nuclear Energy Summit to collectively explore the important
role of nuclear energy in reducing the use of fossil fuels,
enhancing energy security and promoting economic
development.

In May, China and Russia issued a joint declaration stating
that they would explore cooperation in the front end of the
nuclear fuel cycle and the joint construction of nuclear power
plants as a package.

In November, at the 29th United Nations Climate Change
Conference, 6 additional countries supported the previously
announced Declaration to Triple Nuclear Energy, i.e.,
increasing the global nuclear power capacity by 2050 to three
times the level in 2020, bringing the total number of supporting
countries to 31.
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Mainland China

According to information from the National Energy Administration
and Xinhua News Agency, as at 31 December 2024, the number of
nuclear power units in operation, approved and under construction
in Mainland China has reached 102 with an installed capacity of
113GWe, thus rising and ranking first in terms of scale. According to
data released by the China Nuclear Energy Association, there were
57 nuclear power units with a rated installed capacity of 59.4GWe in
operation in China (excluding the Taiwan Region of the PRC) as at
31 December 2024, along with 27 units under construction, which
maintained its top position in the world in terms of the scale of units
under construction. In 2024, 2 nuclear power units were connected
to grid and started power generation, while 6 nuclear power units
were under construction. The cumulative power generated by
nuclear power units in operation in China was 445.18 billion kWh,
representing an increase of 2.72% as compared to the same period
in 2023. The total power generated by nuclear power units accounted
for 4.73% of the total power generation of the PRC, representing a
decrease of 0.13% as compared to 2023.

The importance of nuclear power in China’s energy system has been
further clarified after the Chinese government launched the “Dual
Carbon” goals in 2020 and outlined in its 2021 work report that
“nuclear power will be developed in an active and orderly manner
while ensuring safety”.

Following the approval of 10 nuclear power units in 2022 and 2023
respectively, 11 more nuclear power units were newly approved in
the PRC in 2024, exceeding the pace of approval expected by the
China Nuclear Energy Association for the third consecutive year. In
August, the State Council announced the approval of 11 nuclear
power units across 5 new nuclear power projects (phase 1 project of
Xuwei in Jiangsu Province; phase 1 project of Lufeng in Guangdong
Project; phase 2 project of Zhaoyuan in Shandong Province; phase 2
project of San’ao in Zhejiang Province; and phase 1 project of Bailong
in Guangxi Province), which reflected the positive and clear attitude
towards the development of nuclear power in Mainland China, and
there will be great room for growth in the demand for natural uranium
in the future.

In May, President Xi Jinping visited France to discuss the topic of
carbon neutrality and promote the joint development of nuclear
energy, during which the CGN Group and Electricité de France signed
the “Letter of Intent on Deepening Cooperation in the Field of Nuclear
Energy”. In December, it was stated at the National Energy Work
Conference that China will approve a series of coastal nuclear power
projects that have met the requisite conditions, steadily advance the
construction of ongoing nuclear power projects, and complete the
construction of units such as the CAP1400 demonstrative project
in 2025. It is expected that the installed nuclear power capacity in
operation will reach 65GWe by the end of 2025.
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Global natural uranium market and industry development

Overall, the total global natural uranium production increased
marginally in 2024. According to the UxC report, global natural
uranium production in 2024 amounted to approximately 58,846tU,
representing an increase of 8.2% as compared to 2023. Among
this, Kazatomprom, a major uranium producer, reported attributable
production of 12,286tU (21% of global primary production) in 2024,
which was 10% higher than in 2023. Meanwhile, Cameco reported
attributable production of 10,200tU (17.5% of global primary supply)
in 2024.
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In 2024, the spot price of natural uranium showed an overall
fluctuating and reversing trend. In January, following Kazatomprom'’s
announcement that its production for 2024 was expected to
decrease, the spot price quickly increased from US$91/IbU,O.N" to
US$106/IbU,0,. Subsequently, due to the spot contracting activity
decreasing, the Federal Reserve raising interest rates, and the
production progress of major producers meeting the expectation, the
price entered into a fluctuating downtrend and fell to US$85/1bU,0q
by mid-March. From April to June, due to floods in Kazakhstan
and US sanction on Russia’s low-enriched uranium, the spot price
initially increased slightly, but as the market absorbed the impact
of these events, the spot price reversed again, with the second-
quarter price generally fluctuating in the range of US$80-90/IbU,Os.
In July and August, due to announcements of half-yearly results
from major natural uranium producers (including the production
progress of Cameco meeting the expectation, and Kazatomprom
raising its 2025 production guidance and announcing an increase
in resource estimates), the spot price gradually dropped to US$79/
IbU,O4. In September and October, due to a sharp increase in
demand for electricity amid the Al boom, technology companies such
as Google and Microsoft signed electricity purchase agreements
for SMRs, causing the spot price to rebound to US$83/IbU,O;. At
the end of the year, due to factors such as Cameco adjusting its
natural uranium production expectations for 2024, Kazatomprom’s
securing an underground exploration permit for the Severnoye
block and multiple uranium operators announcing increases in their
uranium mines’ reserves, market concerns about supply tightness
eased, causing the spot price to fall to US$69.75/IbU,O,, eventually
closing at US$73/IbU,0,. Meanwhile, in 2024, due to nuclear power
owners began entering the field of procurement and signing new
long-term trade contracts, combined with the backdrop of large-
scale global developments in nuclear power, the long-term contract
price continued to rise, gradually increasing from US$72/IbU,0; in
January to US$81/IbU,O, in November. At the end of the year, due
to a decrease in seasonal transactions, the long-term trading price
decreased slightly to US$79/IbU,Os.

Note: Under usual international practice, the usual measuring unit for natural uranium in
international uranium product trade is pound (Ib), and the usual units for uranium
reserves/production are tonnes of uranium (tU) and million pounds of natural
uranium. 1tU is approximately equivalent to 2,599.78 Ib U,Os.
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In 2024, both the global spot trading volume and the long-term
contracting volume of natural uranium decreased (according to the UxC
report, the annual spot trading volume was 15,731tU, representing
a decrease of 27.7% as compared to the corresponding period of
20283, and the annual long-term contracting volume was 35,996tU,
representing a decrease of 40% as compared to the corresponding
period of 2023). The main reason was an increase in financing costs
due to a slight increase in the average uranium price and interest rate
hikes by the US Federal Reserve in 2024, leading to a slowdown in
the signing of long-term contracting by nuclear power utilities and the
purchase of physical uranium in spot markets by financial institutions. At
the same time, while the long-term contracting volume has decreased,
uncovered requirements from utilities still exist and will increase in
the medium and long term. Major uranium producers started to sign
long-term contracting contracts, which are expected to increase
the incentives for other nuclear owners to enter into long-term trade
contracts and considering that the gap between primary supply and
demand still exists in the medium and long term, which supports the
long-term price. In addition, SPUT announced a new USD1 billion ATM
(At The Market) financing program for the purchase of natural uranium
in January. In 2024, the total amount of physical natural uranium held
by financial institutions was 34,846tU, representing an increase of 4.4%
as compared to the corresponding period last year, causing a certain
impact to the supply-demand dynamics of natural uranium.
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BUSINESS PERFORMANCE AND ANALYSIS

During the Reporting Period, the total equity source of the Group was
34,000tU and equity production was 1,324tU.

Uranium mines under production - Semizbay Mine and Irkol
Mine

During the Reporting Period, the volume of uranium extracted by
Semizbay-U aligned with the planned production level, which was
set at 80% of its designed production capacity. The designated
production capacity for 2024 was 975tU while the actual total
volume of uranium extracted was 976tU, achieving 100% of its
annual production targets, including 407tU from Semizbay Mine
with a production cost of US$32/IbU,0, and 569tU from Irkol
Mine with a production cost of US$24/IbU,O,. After deducting
processing losses, the total annual natural uranium production was
964tU. In 2024, Semizbay-U achieved its annual production targets.
Moreover, due to the rise in the market price of uranium, continued
depreciation of the Tenge and the adoption of effective measures for
cost control, Semizbay-U’s profit increased significantly during the
Reporting Period, laying a solid foundation for its stable operation and
development in the future.

As at 31 December 2024, the remaining resources and reserves of
Semizbay Mine and Irkol Mine were as follows:

Average Grade %
i %
Resources '000tU
BRE T mE s
Reserves ’000tU
#E T Mg

Uranium mines under production - Central Mynkuduk Deposit
and Zhalpak Deposit

During the Reporting Period, the volume of uranium extracted by
Ortalyk aligned with the planned production level, which was set at
80% of its designed production capacity. The adjusted designated
production capacity for the second half of 2024 was 1,750tU while
the actual total volume of uranium extracted was 1,783tU, achieving
102% of its annual production targets, including 1,663tU from
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Central Mynkuduk Deposit with a production cost of US$22/IbU,Oq
and 120tU from Zhalpak Deposit with a production cost of US$31/
IbU,O,. After deducting processing loss, the total annual natural
uranium production was 1,739tU. Affected by the shortage of sulfuric
acid supply in the market, the production plan of Central Mynkuduk
Deposit was adjusted during the interim period. During production
and operation, the Company actively adopted various measures to
effectively control product costs, which brought satisfactory economic
benefits in 2024. In addition, most of the mining and construction
projects at the Zhalpak Deposit were completed as planned in 2024.

As at 31 December 2024, the remaining resources and reserves of
Central Mynkuduk Deposit and Zhalpak Deposit were as follows:

Average Grade %
Sl %
Resources ’000tU
BRE T Mg 3
Reserves ’000tU
fEE 148

Uranium mine project pending for development - operation
and project exploration by Fission (discontinued during the
year under share swap)

During the Reporting Period, based on information available to the
Board and other publicly available information, Fission focused its
efforts on the development of its PLS Project. In 2024, all preliminary
engineering design work was completed, and further drilling and
sampling were conducted to assess the geological conditions
of future engineering work on the tailings facilities area, waste
management area and landfill, and ventilation system area. A total
of 32 engineering geological holes were drilled, 24 of which were
in the tailings facilities area, 4 in the waste management area and
landfill, and 4 in the ventilation system area. At the same time, in
order to increase the minable resources of the project, enhancement
and expansion works on the resources categories were conducted
for part of the inferred resources in the R1515W region. A total of
13 exploration drill holes were completed, with a cumulative drilling
length of 4,109.7 metres. Uranium mineralization was found in 9 of
them, with 2 holes showing excellent uranium mineralization, which
further enhanced the minable resources of the project, thereby
increasing the amount of recoverable products.
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On 8 October 2024, the acquisition of all issued and outstanding
shares of Fission by Paladin (the “Share Swap Acquisition”) was
approved by the Supreme Court of British Columbia, Canada. On
18 December, the acquisition was passed the Canadian national
security review. The Share Swap Acquisition is at a premium. Upon
completion of the transaction, 0.1076 share of Paladin would be
received for every 1 share of Fission, the shareholders of Fission hold
24.0% of the equity interest in Paladin.

As at 31 December 2024, all 96,736,540 shares of Fission
(corresponding to 11.26% of its equity interest) originally held by the
Company have been swapped with 10,408,851 shares of Paladin
(corresponding to 2.61% of its equity interest).

Natural uranium trading business

As at 31 December 2024, the Group achieved revenue of HK$8,624
million from natural uranium trading, an increase of 17% as compared
to 2023, including trading revenue from the sales of off-take natural
uranium products from the mines of Semizbay-U and Ortalyk of
HK$1,957 million, representing an increase of 16.0% compared to
2023 (2023: HK$1,688 million). In 2024, the Company purchased a
total of 1,294tU of natural uranium products from Semizbay-U and
Otralyk, basically unchanged from 1,299tU in 2023. The average
sales price was US$75.04/IoU,0O, while the average sales cost was
US$80.80/1bU,0.

During the Reporting Period, CGN Global sold a total of 4,593tU with
the average sales price of US$71.99/IbU,0, and the average sales
cost of US$71.12/IbU,Q,, realising trade revenue of HK$6,667 million.
In 2024, international geopoalitics, procurement strategy of uranium
funds as well as news on market supply and demand were the main
factors affecting the market price. CGN Global placed prevention
and control of market risks as its top operational priority, studied
the market trends carefully, and operated strictly in accordance with
its risk control system. As a result, CGN Global outperformed its
performance indicators despite the complex and changing market
environment.
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As at 31 December 2024, the Group held 1,494tU of natural uranium
at a weighted average cost of US$71.64/IoU,O,, and had 3,465tU
under contracts for sale but not yet delivered, at a weighted average
selling price of US$77.52/IbU,Os.

Acaquisition of new uranium resources project

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not have significant
investments save for its interests in Semizbay-U, Ortalyk, Fission and
Paladin disclosed above.

Maintenance of investor relationship

In 2024, due to the impact of geopolitical fluctuations as well as
interest rate cuts by the US Federal Reserve, the Bank of Japan and
the European Central Bank, the global capital markets experienced
fluctuations before gradually recovering, the net inflow of southbound
capital for Hong Kong stocks increased, and the Hang Seng Index
reversed its four-year downward trend. Against this backdrop,
the Company seized favorable market opportunities, leveraging
the favorable global policies on nuclear power generation and the
recovery of the natural uranium industry, the Company achieved
fruitful results in maintaining investor relations. During the Reporting
Period, the Company strengthened its communication with investors
through the dual “offline + online” channels, and systematically
optimised its information disclosure, market promotion, industry
research, etc., achieving satisfactory results.

During the Reporting Period, the Company made several efforts
to broaden its channels of direct communication and liaison with
Shareholders, achieving satisfactory results. Having reviewed the
following key work and outcomes, the Company considered the
implementation of our shareholder communication policy to be
effective during the Reporting Period:

************ EEENRRDN
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CELEEY T

Channels Key points

Annual general meeting °
REBFRE

Annual results presentation and interim °
results presentation

FEREABMERTHXERGE

Regular reports and announcements o

EMBERDE

Company awards °
ATRIE

Approved 7 ordinary resolutions on 20 June
6A208 @ #LETEL@RER

On 22 March, the 2023 annual results conference
was convened by the Company in Hong Kong and
Beijing. More than 30 attendants, including analysts
from Morgan Stanley, BOC International, CICC, Mixed
Ownership Reform Fund and other institutions and
investors, attended in person, while around 10,000
people watched the live streaming online

3A22H - RAIEEE - L RFMBR2023FE XA
Bhg - REERTAF - PRERE - F2RF B
HEEERBHNDITANAIRE A HI08A ARSH2INE
B REHIBARBEER

On 23 August, the 2024 interim results conference
was convened by the Company in Hong Kong. Around
50 attendants, including analysts from J.P. Morgan,
BOC International, Morgan Stanley, CICC and other
institutions and investors, attended in person, while
more than 2,700 people watched the live streaming
online

8A23H ' RRIEBBBH2024F R AR BERMHE -
REERAR - PRER - BRI pEREF
BERDITRIAIRE ATS0ARMTRIZEMS - &
EHETB27T00 N BB E R

Released 26 announcements, 1 circular and 3 regular
reports throughout the year, including 1 profit alert
REEMEMHAE  1PBHRINERRE - HPE
B1RBNES

“Golden Bull Award for Hong Kong Stocks” by China
Securities Journal

PEIE SR RS 5E]

“Best Investor Relations Award” from China Financial
Market

PEIRLE [ R EREEBERE]

“Top 10 Chief Financial Officer Award” and “Top 100
Secretary of the Board Award” from Judongmi

BREW T = e] RIaEEWE]
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Channels
RE

Brokerage strategy meeting and (reverse)
roadshow communication

FEEMER(R)BEER
Keynote Speech
FEEB

Analysts’ reports

ZATEN R &

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~ ERBHMR DA

Key points
i35

Proactively conducted investor roadshows and reverse
roadshow for exchanges, and participated in more
than 600 brokerage strategy meetings and investor
exchanges throughout the year

BIRETIRE EREREREERN - 2FRA2M%5
R E MR E & 600845

Hosted more than 30 investment institutions and
brokerage firms for on-site research throughout the
year

2F REHEFSOMFIREREE - AR E AT
Connected with over 400 institutional investors
throughout the year

2F R 400 BB E B R IME

In May, the Company attended the Guosen Securities
Investment Strategy Conference and delivered a
keynote speech titled “Prospect of the Natural Uranium
Market”

58 RREIZNBAEEFRE T HER(RAMTSRE
E)FEEEH

In June, the Company attended the Huatai Securities
Investment Strategy Conference and delivered a
keynote speech titled “Prospect of the Natural Uranium
Market”

68 RRIBNERBHFRBESUBER(RABNISE
E)FEEER

During the year, the Company received 29 research
reports

REE AR RAEEAERE29R

Newly covered by 8 brokerage firms in their research
reports (CCBI, Daiwa Securities, Haitong International
Securities, Huatai Securities, Zheshang Securities,
CMB International, Guolian Securities)
MEGSRFEERNARBREERS (BRERE - K
BH o BEERES  EREFF  OFMEESF - BRE
B Bl

Many institutions upgraded their ratings of the
Company. For example, among others, BOCI
Securities raised its target price to HK$2.30, CITIC
Securities raised its target price to HK$2.70, and CICC
raised its target price to HK$2.51

ZHRMEE FRRRTR  MPRIJLF LRABRER
2308 HERF LABRERE2.70ET - FEA
Al EABEERZ251ETE
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BEREFNWE D

Channels
RE

Inclusion in major indices

EAEEREY

ESG
ESG

Company website
ATk

(http://www.cgnmc.com)

Official We Media channel
BAERERE

Official e-mail
BEHEAE

ir.cgnmc@cgnpc.com.cn

Key points
i35

In February, the Company was included as a
constituent to the small cap index of the FTSE Global
Equity Index Series (GEIS)

2R REEMAIEREREHRREREZET (GEIS)
ANBEEEE

In March, the Company’s rating by QuantData was
upgraded (from B to A, marking our first-ever A ESG
rating which was subsequently upgraded to AA in May)
3R - RAERFFT AR (ABRAZA - RAFE(E
ESG ARG - W5 AIRFZAAR)

In April, the 2023 Environmental, Social and
Governance Report was published

47 - EMHC02BFFEERIE - 18 REERE)

Continuous maintenance of:

Company news and industry information
RNRIBZERITEER

Announcements and circulars

N=EEL N

Results, report and roadshow materials

B WmEEEEME

Analysts’ reports

DHTRIERE

Daily stock price and monthly natural uranium price
index

ARB(E M8 AR AMERIEH

An official WeChat account and corporate accounts
on Futu, Zhihu, Royal Flush and Xuegiu.com have
been established, continuously sharing information and
research related to the natural uranium industry
ERRBEAMER 8% AT - REERSHE
PR - WHRHER M EL R AT R ABRE B AR
Published more than 10 pieces of short message,
medium and in-depth articles throughout the year
RERMEN - FEMREXE10HR

For receiving investor enquiries and feedback
RUIREEBARERRE
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BUSINESS PROSPECTS

BUSINESS ENVIRONMENT OUTLOOK
Nuclear power market analysis

First, in terms of the advantages and necessity of nuclear power,
nuclear energy is characterised by high energy density, low carbon
emission, stable power generation and high annual utilization hours
of power generation, making it a reliable baseload energy. Under
the global goal of “Carbon Peaking and Carbon Neutrality”, nuclear
energy can assist various countries in achieving the goal of low
carbon emission and sustainable development. Meanwhile, nuclear
power can reduce reliance on imported fossil fuels while enhancing
national energy security.

Second, in terms of the forecast for global future installed capacity,
in 2024, the IAEA increased its projection for nuclear power capacity
growth by 7% compared to its previous high-case forecast, with
global nuclear power production capacity anticipated to increase
to 950GWe by 2050. Meanwhile, according to UxC’s forecast,
global natural uranium demand for nuclear power stations will reach
108,000tU by 2040, representing a 46.3% increase compared to the
end of 2024. As a result, the demand for nuclear fuel will continue to
rise significantly in the future.

Third, in terms of the forecast for China’s development, against
the backdrop of actively promoting “Carbon Peaking and Carbon
Neutrality”, China’s nuclear power development is posed to encounter
unprecedented opportunities. Since 2013, the proportion of nuclear
power generation in China has steadily increased from 2.11% in 2013
to 4.22% before the approval of nuclear power recommissioning in
2018, reaching the current level of 4.73%. However, compared to
the average proportion of nuclear power generation in developed
countries at 10%, there is still huge room for improvement in
China. China has approved 10 new nuclear power units per year
for three consecutive years, and according to the prediction of the
China Nuclear Energy Association, nuclear power will account for
approximately 10% of China’s electricity structure by 2035.

************ EEENRRDN
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Lastly, in terms of the nuclear power policies of major global
countries, a number of countries around the world have continued
to put forward policies in favor of the nuclear power industry during
the year to address energy instability brought by geopolitical
factors, the complex and volatile international situation and other
uncertainty risks. These policies mainly cover the following aspects:
increasing the plans for installed nuclear power capacity, delaying the
decommissioning time of nuclear power stations, building/approving
new nuclear power units, reactivating nuclear power stations,
providing financial support and establishing multinational cooperation
to promote the development of nuclear power. The above measures
will have a long-lasting and far-reaching impact on the global supply
and demand dynamics of nuclear power.

Natural uranium market analysis

First, in terms of the spot and long-term trade trend, the average
prices of spot and long-term trade both increased slightly in 2024.
Against this backdrop, the volume of spot and long-term trade
dropped slightly during the year, but it is expected that there is still
room for growth in the future. Following the Fukushima accident,
uranium prices remained low for a long period and no new long-
term contracts were signed for a significant period of time, with
power plant owners procuring in the spot market to meet demands
not covered by long-term contracts, while most natural uranium
producers sustained their sales with long-term contracts signed prior
to the Fukushima accident. However, from 2022 to 2024, the number
of long-term contracts rebounded, with new long-term contracts
being signed reflecting that with the stimulus of rising spot uranium
prices, the long-term demand from nuclear power plant owners will
gradually become more prominent, and the fundamentals of the
natural uranium market will improve, injecting real momentum into the
natural uranium market. However, it should be noted that the number
of long-term trade contracts has not yet returned to the level before
2010 and there is still room for growth in the future. As uranium prices
recovered and stayed at a high level, many uranium producers opted
to resume and commence production. Main production increases
were from Cameco and Kazatomprom. In addition, Lotus Resources
reactivated the Kayelekera project, UEC announced the reactivation
of the Christensen Ranch uranium mine in the US, IsoEnergy
reactivated the Tony M uranium mine, and Boss Energy reactivated
its Honeymoon uranium mine and commenced production at its Alta
Mesa uranium mine. Meanwhile, some uranium explorers accelerated
their exploration and development progress. For example, C29

RE - EEREBEAZZERR @A - &
FEERZEBRRSREEHABUAT K
BRI REN - BRRBHNEMSES
THEE R - TR B AR EITENK
R EZREGEATEETE - REZRER
BERERE  TESZBWREKE
BRI B AR - RV E L - R4
BeXH - ZRAFREREERRS

XA BT

B ERENKREEZ T HE © 2024518
B REFEFHEROE/NEER T
IESET  FEBRE  REXZERBR
K - BFRERKRIMDEEE - BSEHE -
HMERRAER  ERE—BHBALZER
MNRHBANES XX BBREMEHE
KB RAGHREENT R - REH K
AHMEERUBESHATEZNRAEL
RZBEEHEE - A - 2022FE2024F &
BHENERSE  ERASHNELT - R
FEREMELRORET - REZEE
FHRMAFSEHOE - RAMTIZER
ETEERTE - ARAMTIZEARLE
REEE) ) - BEBIENRE  REEL
EMAREEE2010FFIKFE - KEDAE
RAERTR - EEMEERE  FEER
BAIKF - HZMBEEEREEE - &
E - EFEHERECamecofBERET - H
#41NLotus Resources’A A & RiKayelekera
THH - UECERIZER Christensen Ranch
%% - IsoEnergy A RIE R Tony M
Boss EnergyA A5 THoneymoon iz &
RUSEE M Alta MesalhiB I ESE AR - &
S RN R IR BN IR B EE - 40C29
MetalsA RIRRE)UlytauT8 B #EHF T 1E -
Aura EnergyA RI¥E K TirisshiE ) S8 T1E
WEBREEILMNA9% * Deep Yellow? A
TumastifEF 2L MN18% % ; BEREEHD



TEREXARAT —TNFFR

Management Discussion and Analysis

Metals activated the drilling work of the Ulytau project, Aura Energy
expanded the drilling work of the Tiris uranium mine and achieved a
49% increase in reserves, and the reserves of Deep Yellow’s Tumas
uranium mine increased by 18%. However, some producers indicated
that the pace of production resumption and reactivation was slower
than expected. For example, the No. 6 uranium mine project under
PIMCU in Russia will commence production in 2028, two years later
than the original plan, and the development of the Zuuvch-Ovoo
uranium mine in Mongolia is subject to delay.

Second, in terms of global energy security and supply landscape,
the impact of the Russia-Ukraine conflict since February 2022 has
caused the price of traditional fossil energy to skyrocket, which led
to energy security and energy independence being emphasised at
an unprecedented level. As a result of events such as the coup in
Niger with part of the mining rights for uranium being withdrawn by
the government, the evolution of the global energy landscape has
accelerated. Nuclear power has become an important breakthrough
to ensure national energy security and optimize the energy structure.
At the same time, in order to reduce dependence on Russia’s
nuclear fuel supply, North American and European countries have
successively adopted a strategy of supply diversification, while the
US introduced laws to ban the imports of Russian low-enriched
uranium and likewise, Russia announced temporary restrictions on
exports of enriched uranium to the US in response to US sanctions.
The landscape of global supply on nuclear fuel has changed and wiill
continue to change accordingly.

Third, in terms of multilateral cooperation on nuclear fuel, many
countries have started multilateral cooperations, having embraced a
positive attitude towards nuclear energy and ensuring the safety and
stability of their domestic fuel supply.

Finally, the procurement of financial institutions further increased the
pressure on the supply-demand gap. Since the second half of 2021,
financial institutions, including SPUT and Yellow Cake Plc, have
purchased a large amount of natural uranium in the spot market, while
SPUT stated in its announcement that it “maintains a business model
of buy-and-hold, and continues to build up a physical inventory of
natural uranium”. Meanwhile, the Swiss asset management company
Zuri-Invest AG released physical natural uranium AMC products in
2023 (with the purchase amount undisclosed). A total of 34,846tU

*********** EEENRRDN
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was held by financial institutions at the end of 2024, achieving a net
increase for three consecutive years, which may pose further pressure
on the secondary supply formed by future spot commercial inventories.
In addition, according to the UxC report, Western governments’
secondary supply, such as inventory and enrichment capacity, has
continued to decrease, which will also put pressure on the balance of
spot supply and demand.

In summary, with the existence of a gap between supply and demand
in the long term, the supply and demand fundamentals are expected
to support the long-term price, and the spot price of natural uranium
will be more susceptible to fluctuations caused by disturbances in the
supply and demand sides.

BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT OUTLOOK
Operation of Semizbay-U

In accordance with the adjusted production plan of Kazatomprom,
Semizbay-U will continue to operate in accordance with its production
reduction plan in 2025. To ensure that Semizbay-U will achieve its
annual production and operation targets safely in 2025, the Company
will continue to actively participate in the governance of Semizbay-U
through its board of directors. In addition to ensuring that Semizbay-U
will complete its annual production plans and product sales plans
and achieve its annual profit targets, the Company will also actively
promote the development of new sandstone-type uranium resources
projects, so as to prepare for Semizbay-U’s subsequent uranium
resource substitution and the sustainable Sino-Kazakh cooperation.
At the same time, the expatriate team will continue to strengthen
supervision on the implementation of annual production, procurement
and sales plans as well as the annual budget, effectively control the
cost of products, and ensure the timely and high-quality completion
of the preparation work for mines in newly developed regions of
the Semizbay Mine and the Irkol Mine along with the processing of
natural uranium.
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Operation of Ortalyk

In 2025, the Company will continue to participate in the governance
of Ortalyk through its board of directors to ensure that the annual
production plans and product sales tasks of Central Mynkuduk
Deposit and Zhalpak Deposit will be completed safely and efficiently
and their annual profit targets will be achieved. Additionally, it will
ensure that the annual mine construction missions of Zhalpak are
completed on time and with high quality. At the same time, the
expatriate team will actively participate in the production plan and
operation management of the mine, conducting on-site inspections
and overseeing and supervising the implementation of the annual
production and operation plan and annual budget to ensure the
enterprise meets its annual operation targets. Additionally, the
expatriate team will actively participate in monitoring the progress
and quality of the mine construction of Zhalpak Deposit ensuring
the mine construction plan is completed under the premise of safe
construction.

Management and control on PLS Project

The Company will continue to actively communicate with Paladin to
jointly negotiate the development of the PLS Project.

Active expansion of trading business

The Group will continue to maintain and expand its business
channels, and, under the premise of strictly controlling operational
risks, actively explore new business models and new trading
opportunities to ensure the achievement of annual trade targets.

Acaquisition of new uranium resources projects

With the steady development of nuclear power generation worldwide
and the natural uranium industry in the ascendant, the Group will
continue to follow up on the opportunities of high-quality uranium
projects around the world, and approach potential targets at an
opportune time, in order to provide continuous and stable uranium
resources for nuclear power plant owners. At the same time, the
Group will seek to establish strategic partnerships with internationally
renowned uranium producers and traders to study the feasibility of
developing uranium projects in various modes.
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Implementing equity incentive policy

In order to further improve the medium and long-term incentive and
binding mechanism of the Company, and to strengthen the alignment
of interests and risk taking among Shareholders, the Company and
employees, we are committed to enhancing the sense of belonging
and loyalty among management and core staff. To this end, the
Group will continue to promote the implementation of medium to
long-term incentive proposals, such as share option scheme to foster
a win-win development for both the Company and its employees.

RISK IDENTIFICATION AND MANAGEMENT

The comprehensive risk management system of the Group functioned
effectively in 2024 with all risks under control and no significant risk
incidents were reported. The completed major work includes:

Firstly, the Company operated a risk management system in a solid
manner. We analyzed the external situation and internal conditions of
each business of the Company, to clarify the environment in which
the Company’s risk management takes place. We also organized in-
depth comprehensive risk identification centered on major risks and
aligned with key core projects. Based on the operational realities
of the Company, we reviewed the Company’s major risk response
measures and established major risk warning indicators and
thresholds. In the course of operation, we provided timely warning
according to the progress of risk events, dynamically adjusted
response measures, conducted monthly risk monitoring and regularly
reported on risk management to effectively control the occurrence of
major risk events.

Secondly, we continuously optimized our specialised risk
management. Comprehensive management procedures and
mechanisms for each specific risk management area were established.
In terms of legal and compliance risks, the Company consistently
monitored changes in laws and regulations and political situation in
countries where our overseas projects are located, studied the laws
and historical legal documents of countries where our key projects
are located, conducted legal assessments and highlighted the risks
to provide maximum protection of the legitimate rights and interests
of the Company. We regularly tracked legal and compliance risks
and promoted compliance risk awareness among employees. In
terms of financial risk, the Company paid close attention to the
impact of fluctuations in foreign exchange rates and interest rates on
its operations, and took various measures to suppress and control
financial expenses. We actively responded to changes in taxation
policies overseas to reduce the impact on the Company’s operations.
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Thirdly, benchmarking and exchanging knowledge to enhance the risk
management capabilities. The Company has conducted management
exchanges risk exchange with industry peers, shared best practices,
broadened risk management perspectives, and strategically improved
risk management capabilities.

Upon systematic assessment and analysis, the Company is subject
to the following two main risks in 2025, the details of which are as
follows:

Production and operational risks of the projects in Kazakhstan.
There are risks to achieving the annual production target due to
factors such as insufficient domestic supply of sulphuric acid in
Kazakhstan and the downward adjustment of production volume
by Kazatomprom. The Company will strengthen procurement
management, continue to carry out procurement optimization work,
identify key areas for procurement improvement, review major
procurement contracts and optimise procurement means. At the
same time, the Company will strengthen awareness of cost reduction
and efficiency enhancement, and continuously reduce its production
cost by means, such as “improving the reuse rate of equipment”,
“repairing instead of building” and “changing instead of purchasing”.

Risk of adverse impact on the operation of the Company
caused by global conditions. Influenced by rising energy prices as
well as intensified geopolitical conflicts and competition for resources,
panic sentiment has spread, putting pressure on the global capital
market. The Company’s capital market performance and future
financing, resource development, international natural uranium trade,
and the production and operation of participating companies will
face certain challenges. The Company will closely track the situation
and changes in Russia, Ukraine and Central Asia, promptly assess
the impact on the Company’s capital market performance and
various businesses, and formulate countermeasures to safeguard the
Company’s interests.

*********** EEENRRDN
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FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE AND ANALYSIS

Financial performance reflects the operation performance
of the Group throughout the year. By monitoring changes in

BHRBAR DT

MBRBRERRAEEZFELER B
BRI BIERED - SRR EEEAE

financial indicators, business development of the Group can be EHEBEREAMMR
comprehensively understood.

OVERVIEW OF FINANCIAL RESULTS AND POSITION IS EE RN TEE
Major financial indicators FEHHBIEE

2023
20234
(RETIEEEICT)]
(&%)
Profitability indicators BREENER
Gross profit margin (%)' EFE (%) -0.77 1.75
EBITDA (HK$ million) 2 EBITDA(& & #T)? 753.17 692.81
EBITDA/Revenue ratio (%)® EBITDA & %88 L% (%) 8.73 9.41
Net profit margin (%) * YF e M (%) 3.97 6.75
Operation ability indicators EERNEE
Trade receivables cycle — average FEUBR FB R — 49 CK)°
(Days)® 11 19
Inventory cycle — average (Days) © FEIRE— T (X)° 60 69
Investment return indicators REBRIER
Return on equity (%) 7 %5 [O1R 2 (%) 8.77 13.75
Profit attributable to owners of the RARER ANEG RS R
Company to revenue ratio (%) ® b= (%)8 3.97 6.75
Return on assets (%) & ERIRE (%) 4.69 7.30
Repayment ability indicators EEELEE
Bank balances and cash (HK$ million) #R1T41F &I & (& ET) 1,153.79 1,017.24
Net tangible assets (HK$ million) 1° BREEFE(GHEFT)° 3,917.01 3,879.52
Gearing ratio (%) ' BRAGFE %) 99.97 73.97
Notes: B EE -
1. Difference between revenue and cost of sales divided by revenue multiplied by 1. EEEHEERAZERUEEEHERN
100%. 100% ©
2. The sum of profit before tax, finance costs, depreciation of right-of-use assets, 2. BREADES  BMERKE FAREENER
depreciation of property, plant and equipment and (loss)/profit for the year from W BEMRETENREDRIEEBRD
discontinued operations, if any. REZ (F518),/#F (anh) 2 F0 -
3. The sum of profit before tax, finance costs, depreciation of right-of use assets, 3. BREIADES - BEKAE ERABEENER

ME - BERRBITENRE T K LEBH
AEEZ (B1R) 8 () 2 A S %58
FHIELA100% ©

depreciation of property, plant and equipment and (loss)/profit for the year from
discontinued operations, if any, divided by revenue multiplied by 100%.

4. Profit for the year divided by revenue multiplied by 100%. 4. NG MR A S RB A SR LA100% ©
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5. Average receivables (i.e. the arithmetic average of the beginning and the end of
the Reporting Period) divided by average daily sales (i.e. revenue divided by 360
days).

6. Average inventories (i.e. the arithmetic average of the beginning and the end of
the Reporting Period) divided by average daily costs of sales (i.e. costs of sales
divided by 360 days).

7. Profit for the year attributable to owners of the Company divided by total
average equity (i.e. the arithmetic average of the beginning and the end of the
Reporting Period) multiplied by 100%.

8. Profit for the year attributable to owners of the Company divided by revenue
multiplied by 100%.

9. Profit for the year attributable to owners of the Company divided by total
average assets (i.e. the arithmetic average of the beginning and the end of the
Reporting Period) multiplied by 100%.

10. Total equity less right-of-use assets, net.

11. Total debt divided by total equity multiplied by 100%.

The profit of the Group was HK$342 million in 2024, representing a
year-on-year decrease of 31% as compared to that of HK$497 million
in 2023.

Revenue

*********** EEENRR DN

58 T REURER R (BNIR & BRI R E AT T35 (E)
BRUAST S B SH & 30 (BN & S BERIABB0K) ©

6. FHEE ANREHNHAREMN FHE) BRI
P15 H S AR (BNH & AUASER IABB0K)

7. AR BHER A G AF 5 MR A T 19 4
=B E (AR MR EIT P E) BRI
100% °

8. RABHEA NEBERFEENRAERERE
FeLA100% °

9. AAREE ARERFEH MG ATFIHE
EAE ANRERNHMREM FHE) BFRIA
100% °

10. REQENAEAREENFE -

11. EBETER A ERLERIRA100% °

BERE

AEB2024FEm M ASMAEEST » &
2023F M497B BB LR LLHA381% °

For the year ended

31 December Changes

BZE128318LEE -0

2024

20245
HK$000
T

Natural uranium trading KAHE S 8,624,272

Increase/ Increase/

2023  (Decrease) (Decrease)

2023% #in/(RL) &,/ (hd)

HK$'000 HK$’000 %

FAT FHERT Bk
(REJEENIED)

(&30

7,359,952 1,264,320 17

The revenue of the Group was HK$8,624 million in 2024, representing
an increase of 17% as compared to that of HK$7,360 million in 2023,
mainly due to CGN Global seizing the opportunities presented by the
active natural uranium market, resulting in increased annual sales
revenue.

REB2024F & ¥ T R8,624H BT -
20234 87,3608 BATIEMI7% + £
ZRAZP EZEIFRHE N FIER XA
TiGE R - 2FHETEEM -
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Cost of sales SHERM A
For the year ended

31 December Changes
BZ12A31BLEE 2F
Increase/ Increase/
2024 2023
20235
HK$'000

TET

(Decrease)
#m, (Bd)

HK$°000

THET

(Decrease)

i/ (WD)

20245
HK$000
FTHT

Natural uranium trading cost ~ KRHHE S A

8,690,392

(Represented)
(E=27)

7,231,197 1,459,195 20

The cost of sales of the Group was HK$8,690 million in 2024,
representing an increase of 20% as compared to that of HK$7,231
million in 2023, mainly due to CGN Global seizing the opportunities in
the active natural uranium market, resulting in increased annual sales
revenue, and a corresponding increase in cost of sales.

Gross profit and gross profit margin of natural uranium trading

Affected by the narrowing of trading spread in the off-take business
and the international trade, the Group recorded a gross loss from
natural uranium trading of HK$66 million in 2024, representing a
decrease of 151% as compared to a gross profit of HK$129 million
in 20283, while the gross profit margin of natural uranium trading
decreased from 1.75% in 2023 to -0.77% in 2024.

Other operating income

The other operating income of the Group was HK$57 million in 2024,
representing an increase of 93% as compared to that of HK$30
million in 2023, mainly due to the increase of interest income.

Selling and distribution expenses

Selling and distribution expenses of the Group was HK$15 million in
2024, representing a decrease of 19% as compared to that of HK$19

REE2024F HEK A R8,6908 &%
JC  82023F M7,231 5 B8 T
20% * FERARFEZEKRHEE QR
ERRAMTIS SRS - 2 FHERE
o - SHE AR FEE AN o

RARMEZ ENRERN =R

XEEESRBEESEERERE
NEE20245BHRAHE 5 EIE66H
EBTT - W2023FMEMN1298 BB TR
D151% » RAHE 5 FE R E{E2023FH)
1.75% & 220245 #9-0.77% °

H &l A

AEE2024FEMEERABSTES
TCAETT  BR2023F W30 H & TN
93% ' FEREZFEUW AL -

HER DB
AEE2024FHERDHERA T A158
BEIL W20283FM190BEE L TR

million in 2023, mainly due to the year-on-year decrease in average 19% ' TEEREREL2024FFHEFEER
inventory in 2024 as compared with 2023, leading to a year-on-year 2023F AL B - FEE B #2023
decrease in storage expenses as compared with 2023. FRILLB T T -
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Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses of the Group was HK$57 million in 2024,
representing an increase of 9% as compared to HK$52 million in
2023, mainly due to the donation to Kazakhstan rain disaster.

Share of results of a joint venture

The joint venture of the Company is Semizbay-U. As at the end of
the Reporting Period, the Group held 49% of the equity interest of
Semizbay-U, which mainly owns and operates the Semizbay Mine
and the Irkol Mine in Kazakhstan. The remaining 51% equity interest
of Semizbay-U is held by Kazatomprom.

The Company indirectly acquired 49% interest in Semizbay-U in
2014 for a consideration of USD133 million and such 49% interest
is recognised as the Group’s equity in the joint venture of the Group
which amounted to HK$641 million as of 31 December 2024,
representing 8% of the total assets of the Group.

During the Reporting Period, the Group received a total of HK$209
million dividend (net of tax) from Semizbay-U and the Group’s
share of Semizbay-U performance amounted to HK$399 million,
representing an increase of 46% as compared to the corresponding
period of 2023, which was mainly attributable to an increase in profit
of Semizbay-U as compared with the corresponding period of 2023
as a result of an increase in price of natural uranium, which led to the
increase in the Group’s share of result of Semizbay-U as compared
with the corresponding period of 2023.

Share of results of an associate

The associate of the Company is Ortalyk. As at the end of the
Reporting Period, the Group held 49% of the equity interest of Ortalyk
which mainly owns and operates the Central Mynkuduk Deposit
and the Zhalpak Deposit in Kazakhstan. The remaining 51% equity
interest of Ortalyk is held by Kazatomprom.

The Group acquired 49% interest in Ortalyk on 30 July 2021 for a
consideration of USD435 million and such 49% interest in Ortalyk
is recognised as equity interest in an associate of the Group which
amounted to HK$3,399 million as of 31 December 2024, representing
43% of the total assets of the Group.

************ EEENRRDN
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During the Reporting Period, the Group received a total of HK$309
million dividend (net of tax) from Ortalyk and the Group’s share of
Ortalyk performance was HK$617 million, representing an increase of
93% as compared with the corresponding period in 2023, which was
mainly attributable to an increase in profit of Ortalyk as compared with
the corresponding period of 2023 as a result of an increase in price
of natural uranium, which led to the increase in the Group’s share of
result of Ortalyk as compared with the corresponding period of 2023.

Finance costs

The finance costs of the Group were HK$122 million in 2024,
representing a decrease of 7% as compared to HK$131 million in
2023, mainly due to the year-on-year decrease in the annual average
interest-bearing debt scale in 2024.

Income tax expenses

Income tax expense of the Group was HK$287 million in 2024,
representing an increase of 361% as compared to HK$62 million
in 2023, mainly due to the Group’s exposure to the risk of rising
tax costs in Kazakhstan in 2024. According to the best estimate of
the management of the Company, income tax expenses increased
as a result of the average provision of the current withholding tax
on dividends at the general dividend withholding tax rate as well as
additional provision and additional payment of the withholding tax on
dividends for previous years based on the differences.

Discontinued operations

As regards Share Swap Acquisition, Fission was an associate of the
Company which was listed on the Toronto Stock Exchange (“TSX”).
The Group’s interest in Fission was diluted from 12.62% as at 31
December 2023 to 11.26% up to the date of share swap on 23
December 2024.

On 24 December 2024, Paladin announced that it had completed
the acquisition of all issued and outstanding shares of Fission on 23
December 2024. 96,736,540 shares of Fission (corresponding to
11.26% equity interest) originally held by the Company have been fully
swapped with 10,408,851 shares of Paladin (corresponding to 2.61%
equity interest), which resulted in a loss from discontinued operations
of approximately HK$170 million. The shares of Fission were delisted
from the TSX on 24 December 2024. The shares of Paladin have
been listed for trading on the TSX on 27 December 2024 following
the completion of transaction.
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As regards the sales of investment properties, the change in fair
value of the investment property held by Beijing Sino-Kazakh during
the year before its disposal was approximately HK$ -12 million.
Subsequently, the property was sold to an independent third party
for approximately HK$25 million, resulting in a loss on disposal of
approximately HK$3 million. In summary, the discontinued operation
of the investment properties segment for the year had a total impact
of approximately HK$ -15 million.

Profit for the year

The profit of the Group was HK$342 million in 2024, representing
a decrease of 31% as compared to HK$497 million in 2023, mainly
due to the increase in income tax expenses and the loss from
discontinued operations.

FINANCIAL POSITION AND ANALYSIS

Total assets

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s total assets were HK$7,842
million, representing an increase of 16% as compared to HK$6,750
million as at 31 December 2023, mainly due to the year-on-year
increase in inventories as a result of an increase in purchase demand
of natural uranium.

Total liabilities

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s total liabilities were HK$3,921
million, representing an increase of 37% as compared to HK$2,870
million as at 31 December 2023, mainly due to the year-on-year
increase of bank borrowings as a result of an increase in purchase
amount of natural uranium.

Net current liabilities/assets

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s net current liabilities were
HK$292 million, representing a decrease of 136% as compared to the
net current assets of HK$823 million as at 31 December 2023, mainly
due to the adjustment of long-term loans from a fellow subsidiary to
short-term loans as a result of their repayment period being shorter
than one year, leading to an increase in current liabilities.
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Current assets

As at 31 December Changes
M2H31H 28
Increase/ Increase/
2024 2023  (Decrease) (Decrease)
20244 20234 i (A4) #Eh (BD)
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$°000 %
THERT FHET THERT Bo
Inventories 53y 2,158,335 697,245 1,461,090 210
Trade and other receivables  FEUS AR F 4t FE U IE 80,360 461,551 (381,191) (83)
Amount due from an FEY — R B A BIFIE
intermediate holding
company 1,655 (1,655) (100)
Amount due from a fellow W —ERZH B AR ZIE
subsidiary 17 18 (1) (6)
Income tax recoverable AU EIETS R R 47,503 36,300 11,203 31
Bank balances and cash RITEFRRS 1,153,789 1,017,239 136,550 13
Total current assets MEEEAME 3,440,004 2,214,008 1,225,996 55

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s total current assets were
HK$3,440 million, representing an increase of 55% as compared to
HK$2,214 million as at 31 December 2023, mainly due to the year-
on-year increase in inventories as a result of an increase in purchase
demand of natural uranium.

As at 31 December 2024, the aggregate amount of bank balances
and cash of the Group was HK$1,154 million (31 December 2023:
HK$1,017 million), among which, approximately 0% (31 December
2023: 0%) was denominated in HKD, approximately 99% (31
December 2023: 99%) was denominated in USD, approximately 1%
(81 December 2023: 1%) was denominated in RMB.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group did not have any bank deposits
and cash pledged to any banks (31 December 2023: Nil). The ratio of
current assets of the Group to total assets was 44% (31 December
20283: 33%), and the ratio of bank balances and cash to total assets
was 15% (31 December 2023: 15%).

R2024F12A31H - AEBRBEEL
E/R3,4408 BT - 82023512 A31H
B2, 214 B BB TIEINN55%  TEZRAR
BFEARAMFERR K EAMRILL EF -

R2024F 12 A31H « REBHEAE RRTT
HEF NS H1,154F 8870 (20234F
12A318 :1,01788%7T) - A4 40%
(2023 12A31H : 0%) BHETT  #199%
(20234128318 : 99%) BXETT * #91%
(2023F12A31H : 1%) BARE -

R2024F12A318 + REBET([IRTT
HEiF LB E R HEIERT (20235412 A 31
H:®) AEERDHEEGHLEEED
LE ) 544% (202312 8318 : 33%) -
BITEFRESHBEENLHN A15%
(2023F 128318 : 15%) °
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Non-current assets

*********** EEENRR DN

FRBEE

As at 31 December Changes
M2H31H 28
Increase/ Increase/
2024 2023  (Decrease) (Decrease)
20244 20234 i (A4) #Eh (BD)
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$°000 %
THERT FHET THERT Bt
Property, plant and equipment  #1% - R & R E 770 1,076 (306) (28)
Right-of-use assets FREEE 4,693 673 4,020 507
Financial assets at fair BAREGFARMEEKE
value through other TREE
comprehensive income 355,889 = 355,889 100
Investment properties REME - 39,141 (39,141) (100)
Interest in a joint venture R—fAREhEER 641,143 550,389 90,754 16
Interests in associates JiN /NI - 3,399,334 3,945,017 (545,683) (14)
Other receivable Hfth e 0R 448 50 398 796
Deferred tax assets BERIEEE 6 9 3) (33)
Total non-current assets FRBEELE 4,402,283 4,536,355 (134,072 3)

As at 31 December 2024, the total non-current assets of the Group
were HK$4,402 million, representing a year-on-year decrease of 3%
as compared to HK$4,536 million as at 31 December 2023, mainly as
a result of the full conversion of the 11.26% equity in Fission originally
held by the Company into a 2.61% equity in Paladin at the end of the
year.

R2024F12A318 » NEEIERBEE
RERA402BEETT - B2023F12 A
31H#4,536 B BB TRLL THE3% £
ZAARFRAQBRFAFissionA A)HY
11.26% % # & Zh 810 B Paladin A A #Y
2.61%MRIER LR -
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On 24 December 2024, Paladin announced that it had completed
the acquisition of all issued and outstanding shares of Fission on 23
December 2024. In accordance with the completion arrangements,
Fission had applied for delisting from the TSX on 23 December 2024,
which became effective at the close of trading in the afternoon on
24 December 2024. Paladin was listed for trading on the TSX on 27
December 2024. The Company obtained 2.61% equity interest in
Paladin from the share swap, whose swap value was approximately
HK$381 million as measured at Paladin’s opening price of CA$6.75
on the first day of its listing on the TSX. Paladin’s closing price on the
TSX as at 30 December 2024 (corresponding to 31 December 2024
in Hong Kong time) was CA$6.27, and the swap price of the equity
interest in Paladin held by the Company was approximately HK$356
million. The Group held only 2.61% equity interest of Paladin at 31
December 2024 and did not have any right to appoint or remove any
member in the board of directors, nor any right to have influence on
the activities of Paladin. Hence, Paladin is not a subsidiary, associate
nor joint venture of the Group. The Group did not have intention to
hold Paladin shares for trading and elected to classify the Paladin
shares as financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income.

Current liabilities

2024F12 A24H - PaladinX A E MK
82024 12 423 H 5K ¥ FissionA A)
FrE B 8T Rk a U - RIRE
ZHE - FissionA A] 2 72024512 H23H
BN ZFER™ - WH2024F12 524
H T F USRS £ 3 o Paladin A1 742024
FI2A2TAEZ XA LEMRS o AAT]
B S Paladin’A B12.61 %A% & -
Hi R VEEIZPaladin A RIEZ X FiE B
R ARBES. 75T E - MEEED
381 HE BT ° Paladin’A A& £ 20244
12 A30H (HEEH SR H2024512 A31
B)RZRFTKEREA6.277T © AAA
A Paladin’A 7 IR EH EE4356 B8 5
HIT o NEEN2024F12A31HEFEHR
Paladin’A 712.61% A% # - SiEZERAER
ARESESKE - IMEREPaladinA A8
SEENMELFZ - At 0 PaladinA R)IIEAR
EEMMBAR - BEQRKAEE QT -
REFEZS EPaladin A 7D IHEES
E It F gPaladin A IR A B AR AR
BEff A AEMEERE s SREE -

RBRE

As at 31 December Changes
M12A31H 2%
Increase/ Increase/
2024 2023  (Decrease) (Decrease)
20244 20234 i (Rd) #E (RD)
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$°000 %
THET FET THET Bk
Trade and other payables FERTBR R R E A B FRIR 796,857 999,401 (202,544) (20)
Loan from a fellow subsidiary R E —ERRZMEAF2ER 1,395,914 - 1,395,914 100
Loans from an intermediate XA —EHREERABZER
holding company - 17,656 (17,656) (100)
Bank borrowings RITIEK 1,519,996 348,979 1,171,017 336
Lease liabilities HEEE 1,534 537 997 186
Amount due to an intermediate &1~ — R TR AR A B8
holding company 12,058 10,938 1,120 10
Amounts due to fellow FERT R Z KB A BFIE
subsidiaries 1,385 1,598 (213) (13)
Income tax payable e TS Rk 4,444 12,119 (7,675) (63)
Total current liabilities RBAEAR 3,732,188 1,391,228 2,340,960 168
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As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s total current liabilities were
HK$3,732 million, representing an increase of 168% as compared
to HK$1,391 million as at 31 December 2023, mainly due to the
year-on-year increase of bank borrowings as a result of an increase
in purchase amount of natural uranium, as well as the adjustment
of long-term loans from a fellow subsidiary to short-term loans as a
result of their repayment period being shorter than one year.

Non-current liabilities

BERBFNWE D

R2024F12A31H  AEERBAER
B/A3,732B 8B T * 820234127318
71,891 BEE B L EF168% @ TERE
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o ARNEEHRENR—F  ARAEH
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As at 31 December Changes
M12H31H 25
Increase/ Increase/
2024 2023  (Decrease) (Decrease)
20244 2023%F i/ (Rd) #E (RD)
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$°000 %
THET FET THET B
Loans from a fellow subsidiary KA —ERZHBEA B2 ER - 1,395,914  (1,395,914) (100)
Lease liabilities HEEE 3,065 - 3,065 100
Deferred tax liabilities BERIARE 185,328 83,030 102,298 123
Total non-current liabilities hREBSERE 188,393 1,478,944 (1,209,551) (87)

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s total non-current liabilities
were HK$188 million, representing a year-on-year decrease of 87% as
compared to HK$1,479 million as at 31 December 2023, mainly due
to the adjustment of long-term loans from a fellow subsidiary to short-
term loans as a result of their repayment period being shorter than
one year.

Capital and Reserves

M2024F12H318 » AEBEFERBEE
@BEAR188E BB « 20234 12H31H
#91,4798 BAE LR T87% » 2R
HAKRE —HRRMWBARMRAENR
HREEHREN—F  FAERRKEHE

=+
e

BEXRf#E

As at 31 December Changes
M2H31H k)

Increase/ Increase/
2024 2023  (Decrease) (Decrease)
20244 2023%F  #tn/(RL) #i/ (HD)
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$’000 %
FTHET FAT FHERT B
Share capital FEN 76,007 76,007 - -
Reserves G 3,845,699 3,804,184 41,515 1
Total equity EEEE 3,921,706 3,880,191 41,515 1
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As at 31 December 2024, total equity of the Group amounted to
HK$3,922 million, substantially the same as compared to HK$3,880
million as at 31 December 2023.

The Group’s gearing ratio (total debt divided by total equity multiplied
by 100%) was 100% (2023: 74%).

Assets and investments

Save as disclosed above, during the Reporting Period, the Group
did not conduct any significant equity investment, major acquisition
or disposal in relation to relevant subsidiaries, joint ventures and
associates.

Investment direction

According to the business positioning and development strategy of
the Group, the primary investments focus of the Group remains to
be acquiring competitive overseas uranium resource projects at low
cost. The Group will carry out relevant investment activities when
appropriate, to lay the foundation for the Group’s future development.

Financial capital

Capital structure

As at 31 December 2024, the Company had a total of 7,600,682,645
ordinary shares in issue (31 December 2023: 7,600,682,645
ordinary shares), and the market capitalization of the Company was
approximately HK$12,389 million (31 December 2023: HK$13,073
million).

Liquidity risk and financial resources

The Company has adopted prudent capital and fiscal policies and
objectives. During the Reporting Period, the Company’s operating
fund was mainly from cash generated from operating activities and
external borrowings. The capital requirements of the Company mainly
include potential acquisition expenses for the purchase of natural
uranium resources and working capital for operation.

The Group has sufficient financial resources for its daily operation and
business needs and does not have seasonal borrowing demands. If
any suitable acquisition opportunity arises in the future, the Group will
raise funds from diverse financing channels.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

The Company’s financing capacity is affected by multiple external and
internal factors. To obtain financing on more favourable terms, the
Company needs to understand the external financing environment
and adopt reasonable financing models and strategies based on its
own capital structure.

The Company pays close attention to financial market trends, actively
considers its responses to internal and external financial risks,
formulates reasonable models and strategies to ensure the safety
and economic efficiency of financing, and takes strict management
measures on debt risks to prevent exposure to related risks and to
facilitate the financial health and development of our core business.

Financing model

Given the complex and ever-changing financial market, the Company
has been exploring diverse financing methods and strives to establish
a financing model with a combination of short-, medium- and long-
term capital, and direct and indirect financing as well as multiple
financing channels to secure a stable flow of funds. In the process
of debt financing, the Company has taken a balanced approach
between cost and safety. The Company aims to obtain competitive
financing cost but does not consider obtaining the lowest possible
financing cost as the only objective to avoid compromising financial
safety and the quality of services received.

For projects with large capital expenditures and sound expected
returns, the Company will prudently consider using equity financing to
balance the capital risks and enhance Shareholder value.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s development includes various financial risks, such as
debt risks and exchange rate risks.

Risk management of debt

As at 31 December 2024, the bank borrowings (drawdown in 2024)
were US$196 million, denominated in US$ with floating interest
rate and unsecured with interest ranging from 4.73% to 5.59% per
annum. Loans from a fellow subsidiary (drawdown in 2022) were
US$180 million, denominated in US$ with fixed interest rate and
unsecured with interest at 4.79% per annum.

*********** EEENRRDN

R RIERE RE N BURNINEB R A E 2 R A
Z REENEENGMHERGRENAE
12 RAIREEMIMNERMERE - WER
BEMEERBEABMRNAENRER
EWSS L

RRF—EBYVBISRTISER - Bk
Z R Lk 5 RSMBR SRR - B
EEENRMEBEAMER  BRARRE
ZERMEMEEE - WIRREZENESRR
IR HED R R R A AE AR - AR
ERRNPHRE RO EBTRE -

BMERN

EEMZENEBMSRET  ARE)—
BERRZTCHBET N Bh@EuE -
T RPESRERE  EEREREER
RMERES  ZRREVRHPERN
RARREEBENESRE - HEBKRE
BREF - ARRHRBEXANEL 2R
BRRA - ARENEKEBAHRF IR
BRA - A NARIE OB E KA R ME—
BR  URBERELEREINREGE

=
E-°

HREABRIFUARTEENARBEEARER
A - ARERREMEERAREREF
b - EERREE -

R EEE

AEBEBERFEZSBVTRR - 10
EER - EXERSF

BEXRRERE

M2024F 12 A31H » RITHEF (2024
FIRR) B1BBEEET  ZZEZBEFUA
ETEEREERARENERN F4.73%
£559% - RE—HRARMBARZER
(R20224F 1R B180BEBETT » %ETF
BEFUETHEREERRFNER
4.79% °

43



44

CGN Mining Company Limited Annual Report 2024

Management Discussion and Analysis

ERENWRSSN

To manage liquidity risk, the Company closely monitors the cash,
cash equivalents and unutilised credit to ensure sufficient liquidity
for operation and to reduce the effects of cash flow volatility. The
Company’s management also closely monitors external borrowing
to ensure sufficient unused credit facilities are available. As at 31
December 2024, the Group had undrawn credit of US$1,799 million
and RMB50 million, which can be utilised to provide sufficient cash
for the Group’s operation and to reduce the impact of cash flow
volatility.

Exchange rate risk

The Company’s functional currency is US$. During the Reporting
Period, the Group’s sale and purchase of products were mainly
settled in US$ and RMB (2023: US$ and RMB), while its cash was
mainly denominated in US$ and HK$ (2023: US$ and HK$). Daily
expenses, including administrative expenses, sales and distribution
expenses, were mainly settled in US$, HK$ and RMB (2023: USS$,
HK$ and RMB). The Group was not subject to any material exchange
rate risk during the Reporting Period.

For exchange rate risk management, the Company aims to control
cost rather than profitability. In 2024, the Group had no forward
foreign exchange contracts, interests or currency swaps or other
financial derivatives for hedging purposes, and experienced no
significant difficulty or impact on its operation or liquidity due to
exchange rate fluctuation.

Contingency events
External guarantees

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not provide any guarantee
to any external party (2023: Nil). The guarantee provided by the
Company to CGN Global, a wholly-owned subsidiary, was US$300
million (2023: US$250 million), of which US$196 million (2023: US$45
million) was utilised. The Company does not allow subsidiaries to
provide any form of guarantee to any entity or individual without the
approval of the Company.
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Pledge of assets

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not pledge any of its assets
(2023: Nil).

Contingent liabilities

As at 31 December 2024, the Group did not have any material
contingent liabilities (31 December 2023: Nil).

Legal proceedings

The Company confirms that there was no significant litigation, and is
not aware of any pending or threatened litigation against it, which had
or could have a material and adverse effect on its financial condition
or operation during the Reporting Period.

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Details of changes in accounting policies as required under the
applicable accounting standard are explained in notes 2 and 4 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements.

************ EEENRR DN

BERF
HEMA - AEEWEEEER (2023
FE) -
HABE

MN2024F12A831H » NEEWES K
RBIE(023F12831H « ) o

LA

ARABEBNBEHA - BEFAEAF
B B AABAEF AR K ERELE B FF
AEERAREGH AR R HAR FALE
EREATHNZE

St BERAR

REERN ST ERZRARNGTBOR
HBEIRERE MR T2 R4

45



46

CGN Mining Company Limited Annual Report 2024

Corporate Governance Report

AN\ MLFRE
ERERRE

The Company is committed to establishing and fulfilling good
corporate governance practices and procedures to ensure a
competent Board, robust internal control, and transparency and
accountability to all Shareholders, thereby enhancing the credibility
and reputation of the Company. We firmly believe that good corporate
governance practices can earn us the trust of Shareholders as well
as other stakeholders and, most importantly, preserve the long-term
interests of the Shareholders.

In addition, a healthy corporate culture is critical to achieving the
Group’s vision and strategy. The Group is committed to maintaining
high standards of business ethics and corporate governance in
the Company’s business activities. Directors, management and
employees are all required to act in a lawful, ethical and responsible
manner.

BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS

Non-executive director and chairman

Mr. Wang Xianfeng (“Mr. Wang”), aged 50, joined the Group in
July 2024 and is currently a NED and the chairman of the Board
and serving as the chairman of CGNPC-URC and the chairman
of Swakop. Mr. Wang joined Guangdong Nuclear Power Joint
Venture Company Limited* (ERZEE&EBMRAF]) in July 1996
and subsequently held management positions in CGNPC and
its subsidiaries. Mr. Wang worked in Daya Bay Nuclear Power
Operations and Management Co., Ltd.* (KIS &Z B BELEIRAR
H1EAR]) from March 2003 to December 2011, and successively
served as the head of the overhaul planning division of the
maintenance department, deputy director of the overhaul division
of the maintenance department, director of the planning division
and assistant general manager of the Yangjiang branch. Mr. Wang
worked in Yangjiang Nuclear Power Co., Ltd.* (5 TZEHR R 7))
from December 2011 to June 2022 and successively served as the
deputy manager of the production department, assistant general
manager and vice general manager. Mr. Wang worked in CGN Lufeng
Nuclear Power Co., Ltd.* (P E#ZFE L% E AR A 7)) from June 2022
to May 2024, serving as a director and the general manager. Mr.
Wang joined CGNPC-URC since May 2024. Mr. Wang graduated
with a Bachelor’s degree in engineering in electrical machinery and
appliances from Huazhong Polytechnic University in July 1996 and
graduated with a Master’s degree in engineering in the field of nuclear
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energy and nuclear technology engineering from Shanghai Jiao Tong
University in March 2009. Mr. Wang was accredited as a senior
engineer and a full senior engineer by CGNPC in February 2008
and December 2023, respectively. Mr. Wang has nearly 30 years of
management experience in the nuclear power industry.

Executive director and chief executive officer

Mr. Qiu Bin (“Mr. Qiu”), aged 52, joined the Group in April 2024 and
is currently an ED and the chief executive officer of the Company
and and is currently a director and the general manager of CGNPC-
URC and a director of Swakop. Mr. Qiu joined Guangdong Nuclear
Power Joint Venture Company Limited* (ERZESZLBE R
7)) in July 1994, and subsequently held management positions in
CGNPC and its subsidiaries. He served as a master operator and
a simulator instructor in the production department of Guangdong
Nuclear Power Joint Venture Company Limited* (ERZBEASHR
7~ al) from July 1994 to March 2003, served as a master operator
and a safety engineer in the technical department and the safety
and quality assurance department of Daya Bay Nuclear Power
Operations and Management Co., Ltd.* (KapExEE LS ER AR
& (T~ 7)) from March 2003 to December 2011, served successively
as the deputy head of safety and the head of safety in the production
department of Xianning Nuclear Power Co., Ltd.* (B{ZZEABRE A
7)) from December 2011 to May 2013, and served successively as a
manager in the operation department of CGN Lufeng Nuclear Power
Co., Ltd.* (FEZELZEFRAF]) and the company’s deputy
chief engineer from May 2013 to July 2019. Mr. Qiu joined CGNPC-
URC in July 2019, and has served successively as the vice president,
the general manager and the director of Swakop, and the vice
general manager, the general manager and a director of CGNPC-
URC. Since August 2024, Mr. Qiu has been an external professor
at the School of Earth Science of the East China University of
Technology. Mr. Qiu graduated from Xi’an Jiaotong University in July
1994 with a bachelor’s degree in engineering, majoring in thermal
energy and power engineering in power stations, and graduated from
Shanghai Jiao Tong University in June 2009 with a master’s degree
in engineering, majoring in the field of nuclear energy and nuclear
technology engineering. Mr. Qiu was accredited as a senior engineer
by CGNPC in October 2005. Mr. Qiu has over 30 years of experience
and extensive knowledge in the nuclear fuel industry.
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Executive director

Ms. Xu Junmei (“Ms. Xu”), aged 46, appointed as an ED and the
chief financial officer of the Company in March 2022 and serving as
a director and the chief accountant of CGNPC-URC and a director
of Swakop. Between August 2002 and August 2013, Ms. Xu worked
for KPMG Huazhen LLP, including two years of secondment at the
State-owned Assets Supervision and Administration Commission
of the State Council between June 2011 and August 2013. Ms. Xu
joined CGN Group in August 2013 and has held various positions,
including deputy manager and manager of the finance department of
CGNPC-URC and the deputy director of the finance shared service
center of CGN Power Co., Ltd. (listed on the main board of the Stock
Exchange with stock code: 01816; and listed on the SZSE with
stock code: 03816). Ms. Xu graduated from the University of Science
and Technology Beijing with a Bachelor of Arts degree, specializing
in English, in July 2002 and obtained a Master of Management in
Business Administration from Tsinghua University in July 2015. Ms. Xu
is a member of the Chinese Institute of Certified Public Accountants
and also a Certified Internal Auditor conferred by The Institute of
Internal Auditors. Ms. Xu holds the title of Senior Accountant.

Non-executive director

Mr. Sun Xu (“Mr. Sun”), aged 59, joined the Group in November
2018 and is currently a NED of the Company and serving as a
director of CGNPC-URC and CGN Energy International Holdings Co.,
Limited” (F BIEZREIRBIFRIERREBR A ), respectively. Mr. Sun
joined Guangdong Nuclear Power Joint Venture Company Limited’
(BERZEAZABR AT in June 1990 and served in management
positions at various group members of CGN Group. Since January
2011, Mr. Sun served as a full-time director of CGN Group and
has been a full-time director and a member of various professional
committees to various group companies in nuclear power, nuclear
fuel, new energy and other industries. Mr. Sun graduated from
the Asia International Open University (Macau) in April 2001 with a
Master’s degree in business administration. Mr. Sun was accredited
as a senior economist by CGNPC in September 2014. Mr. Sun was
appointed as a convener of external directors of members of CGN by
CGNPC in 28 February 2023.
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Non-executive director

Mr. Liu Guanhua (“Mr. Liu”), aged 42, joined the Group in July
2022 and is currently a NED of the Company. Mr. Liu is also the
managing director of the investment department of Chengtong Mixed
Ownership Private Equity Fund Management Co., Ltd." (F:8 &
ALEESEEBR AR (“Chengtong Mixed Ownership”), mainly
responsible for investment in new energy. Mr. Liu has also been a
director of Shanghai Jie-Hydrogen Technology Co., Ltd.” (L/8# &
BHER D B R A F)) since September 2021, and a director of Beijing
Micro-structure Workshop Biotechnology Co., Ltd.” At = {#E TH 4
YR ABR A &) and Zhejiang Hancheng Technology Co., Ltd.” (41
TDEREHE B R A R]) since December 2021. Mr. Liu graduated from
the Central South University with a bachelor of science degree in
applied chemistry in June 2005. Mr. Liu further obtained a Master of
Science degree in advanced chemical engineering with biotechnology
and a PhD degree from the Imperial College of Science, Technology
and Medicine in November 2006 and August 2010, respectively. Mr.
Liu was accredited as a senior engineer by the Chinese Academy
of Sciences in 2013 and a chartered financial analyst by the CFA
Institute in 2017.

Independent non-executive director

Mr. Gao Pei Ji (“Mr. Gao”), aged 78, joined the Group in August
2014 and is currently an INED of the Company. Mr. Gao was a
deputy director of C & C Law Office in Beijing, a leading law firm
in China, between 1984 and 1993. Mr. Gao became a partner at
Clifford Chance between 1993 and 2007. Following his retirement in
2007, he became a PRC legal consultant to Clifford Chance, Hong
Kong office. Mr. Gao was an independent non-executive director
of CITIC Resources Holdings Limited (listed on the main board of
the Stock Exchange with stock code: 01205) from May 2011 to
December 2023. Mr. Gao has extensive and diversified experience in
a broad area of legal practices, including banking and finance, direct
investment (both inbound and outbound from the perspective of the
PRC) in the areas of energy, natural resource and petrochemical
projects. Mr. Gao has been involved in the development of nuclear
power projects since 1985, including the development of Daya Bay
nuclear power project, the incorporation of the operating company
for Daya Bay and Lingao nuclear power plants and the development
of the Taishan nuclear power project (applying third generation
technology). Mr. Gao holds a LLM degree from the Law School of
University of California, Berkeley. He has been admitted to practice
law in the PRC since 1984.
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Independent non-executive director

Mr. Zhang Yuntao (“Mr. Zhang”), aged 48, joined the Group in August
2023 and is currently an INED of the Company. Mr. Zhang worked as a
managing director of an international investment bank from May 2005
to December 2017, and as general manager of a private equity fund
focusing on Hong Kong and Mainland China since 2018, specializing
in fund management. Mr. Zhang obtained a bachelor’s degree in
economics majoring in international finance and a master’s degree
in economics majoring in finance from the University of International
Business and Economics in Beijing, PRC in July 1999 and June
2002, respectively. Mr. Zhang is also a chartered financial analyst and
has passed the qualification examination of the Chinese Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Zhang has approximately 20 years of
experience in capital market investment and financing.

Independent non-executive director

Ms. Dai Qijia (“Ms. Dai”), aged 40, joined the Group in March 2025
and is currently an INED of the Company. From September 2010 to
February 2016, Ms. Dai successively served as the vice president
of Equity Research Department of the Royal Bank of Scotland and
Barclays Capital Asia Limited. From March 2016 to May 2019, she
served as a director and head of rating advisory of Fixed Income,
Currencies and Commodities Department of Guotai Junan Securities
(Hong Kong) Limited. From May 2019 to January 2024, Ms. Dai
served as the deputy general manager and head of credit rating
advisor and sustainable finance of Treasury and Markets Group
of China CITIC Bank International Limited. Ms. Dai is currently the
chief executive officer of Lianhe Green Development Company
Limited. Ms. Dai has approximately 17 years of experience in capital
market investment and financing. Ms. Dai graduated from Shanghai
International Studies University in July 2006 with a bachelor’s degree
in management, majoring in accounting.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Ding Huaibo (“Mr. Ding”), aged 43, is currently the vice
president of the Company and serving as a vice general manager of
CGNPC-URC. Mr. Ding joined CGNPC-URC in 2009 and has served
as the deputy manager of the industry development department
and the nuclear fuel department and the manager of the nuclear
fuel department. Mr. Ding had also served as the nuclear fuel
management manager of CGNPC and CGN Power Co., Ltd. (listed
on the main board of the Stock Exchange with stock code: 01816;
and listed on SZSE with stock code: 03816). Mr. Ding graduated from
Xi'an Jiaotong University with a bachelor of science degree in applied
physics in 2004 and from Tsinghua University in 2009 with a doctor
of science degree in physics. Mr. Ding possesses over 14 years of
experience and knowledge in the nuclear fuel industry. Mr. Ding was
accredited as a senior engineer by CGNPC in December 2021.

Mr. Tian Deqgiang (“Mr. Tian”), aged 42, is currently the vice
president of the Company and serving as the vice general manager
of CGNPC-URC and a director of Swakop. Mr. Tian joined China
Nuclear Power Engineering Co., Ltd." (FE&XILI2ER A7) in
September 2006 and successively worked in the Lingao Phase I
on-site project department, Fangchenggang project department,
Hongyanhe project department and Construction Management
Centre. Mr. Tian joined CGNPC in March 2016, and previously served
as systems business manager of the Policy and Systems Division
of the System Management Department. Mr. Tian joined CGNPC-
URC in September 2018 and had served as the general manager and
chairman of CGNPC-URC Logistics (Beijing) Co., Ltd." (F EiZ k%

UL R) AR A F), a subsidiary of CGNPC-URC. Mr. Tian joined
the Company in March 2023. Mr. Tian graduated from Xi’an Jiaotong
University in July 2004 with a bachelor’s degree in engineering,
majoring in architectural environment and equipment engineering. Mr.
Tian was accredited as a senior engineer by CGNPC in December
2011.
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Mr. Wang Jiandong, aged 42, is currently the vice president of the
Company and serving as the vice general manager of CGNPC-URC.
Mr. Wang Jiandong joined China Nuclear Power Engineering Co.,
Ltd.* (R EZ T2 AR A7) in 2007, successively served as a training
instructor, a senior training supervisor in the engineering training
center and the deputy module manager of the human resources
department. Mr. Wang Jiandong worked at CGNPC from April 2018
to June 2024, successively served as the head of the personnel
division and the head of the cadre division of the human resources
department, and served as the head of the first cadre division of the
human resources department of CGN Power Co., Ltd. (listed on the
main board of the Stock Exchange with stock code: 01816; and
listed on SZSE with stock code: 03816) from July 2022 to June 2024.
Mr. Wang Jiandong obtained a bachelor’s degree in management
majoring in engineering management and a master’s degree in
engineering majoring in civil engineering from Dalian University of
Technology in July 2004 and January 2007, respectively. Mr. Wang
Jiandong holds the Nuclear Safety Engineer qualification certified by
the Department of Institutional Administration and Human Resources
Management of the Ministry of Ecology and Environment of the PRC.
Mr. Wang Jingdong was accredited as an engineer by China Nuclear
Power Engineering Co., Ltd.* (FEZ T ER A F]) in December
2009.

Mr. Shan Xuequn (“Mr. Shan”), aged 53, is currently the assistant
president of the Company and serving as the assistant general
manager of CGNPC-URC. Since January 1998, Mr. Shan has worked
in the Office of the State Economic and Trade Commission and the
Office of the State-owned Assets Supervision and Administration
Commission of the State Council (the Party Committee Office),
successively serving as a cadre, chief section officer, deputy director
of the Secretariat Division 1 and researcher, etc. In May 2016, he
joined CGNPC and CGN Power Co., Ltd. (listed on the main board of
the Stock Exchange with stock code: 01816; and listed on the SZSE
with stock code: 03816), successively serving as assistant to the
director, deputy director of the President’s Office and the assistant
general manager of the Investment and Development Department.
Mr. Shan graduated from Harbin Institute of Technology in July 1994
with a bachelor’s degree in engineering, majoring in aircraft structural
design and strength, and graduated from Renmin University of
China in July 1996 with a master’s degree in economics, majoring in
industrial economics.
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Mr. Zhou Rongsheng (“Mr. Zhou”), aged 54, is currently the
assistant president of the Company and serving as the assistant
general manager of CGNPC-URC. Prior to joining the CGN Group,
Mr. Zhou was previously lecturer and an associate professor of
school of nuclear science and engineer, an associate professor
and head of education and training centre of school of mechanical
engineering of Shanghai Jiao Tong University. Mr. Zhou joined CGN
Group in September 2010, and served as nuclear fuel manager of
technology and production management department, head of nuclear
fuel management division of technology research and development
department of CGNPC, and head of nuclear fuel management
division of asset operation department of CGN Power Co., Ltd.
Mr. Zhou joined CGNPC-URC in January 2016 and acted as the
assistant general manager since then. Mr. Zhou graduated from
Anhui Education College* (Z #1285 £Ft) with a Bachelor’s degree
of chemistry in 1995 and obtained a Master’s degree of engineering
in nuclear fuel cycle and material in 1998 and a Ph.D. degree of
engineering in nuclear fuel cycle in 2002 from Nuclear Power Institute
of China.

Mr. She Dong (“Mr. She”), aged 55, joined CGNPC Group in 2011
and is currently a joint company secretary and the general counsel
of the Company and serving as the secretary of board of directors
and general counsel of CGNPC-URC. Prior to joining the Company
and the CGNPC Group, Mr. She worked at the Accounting Centre
of China Aviation (REIfZ4EE
including deputy manager and deputy head of the planning operation

») and held various positions,

department (FT&I4E £ &). Mr. She obtained a bachelor’'s degree in
law majoring in law from the China University of Political Science and
Law in July 1992 and graduated from the Université de Montréal in
Canada with an LLM degree majoring in international commercial
law in December 2009. Mr. She acquired a professional qualification
in law in the PRC, with over 20 years of experience in legal and
compliance related areas.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Under code provision C.2.1 of part 2 of the Corporate Governance
Code, the responsibilities between the chairman and chief executive
officer should be separate and should not be performed by the same
individual. During the Reporting Period, Mr. An Junjing (resigned
on 5 July 2024) and Mr. Wang Xianfeng (appointed on 5 July 2024)
performed both the positions of the chairman of the Board and the
chief executive officer of the Company successively. The Board
believes that each of Mr. An Junjing and Mr. Wang Xianfeng serving as
both the chairman of the Board and the chief executive officer of the
Company would ensure consistent leadership and operation.

Save as disclosed above, the Company had adopted and complied
with all the applicable code provisions of part 2 of the Corporate
Governance Code during the Reporting Period. In order to make a
clearer distinction between the responsibilities of the chairman of
the Board and those of the chief executive officer of the Company,
the Board has appointed Mr. Qiu Bin to serve as the chief executive
officer of the Company with effect from 15 April 2025.
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MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as the standard for
securities transactions by the Directors. All Directors have confirmed,
following specific enquiries made, that they have complied with the
required standards set out in the Model Code regarding Directors’
securities transactions during the Reporting Period.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Composition and role

The Board of the Company currently comprises eight Directors,
including two EDs, three NEDs and three INEDs. The composition
of the Board is based on a comprehensive consideration of the
Directors’ professional skills, working background and qualifications
demonstrating a differentiated and diverse board composition. The
members of the Board during the Reporting Period and up to the
Latest Practicable Date are as follows:

Audit Remuneration
Committee

Directors

EDs HITES
Mr. Qiu Bin (aopointed as £D and chief executive  SBIEILA (R200554 F 15 /EZ(F /5
officer of the Company on 15 April 2025)' A %%ffﬁw FIERRTE)
/, ?

ENZEE

ESETRESRZNERESA

AATERMBETIAETRTESR
SHEE - @A EEEH RSN
% FAEFHRARINEEHNDNY
SPIZEFA -

Exg
MR AE

AAREEGRABRERHEN - 8124
HITES  SRIFMITES MIBBULIEH
TER EFEMANEREZTMNERR
B BEBSSREREZTHERAZRE -
BN TEFZRMREZTTENLTH - BT
SHARBERRERATE  EFEK
Bt

Nomination ESG
Committee Committee

REZ8&  ESGZEE

Committee

¥MzEE

Ms. Xu Junmei A C
Mr. An Junjing TEELE

(resigned on 5 July 2024) (Ro004%7 5 AFHE) exC
NEDs FHTER
Mr. Wang Xianfeng (aopointed as the chaiman 55851 (R202447 Fo BEE (T

of the Board and chief executive offcer of the  AEEETEELATEEHTT

Company on 5 July 2024, resigned as the B RO025F4515AHF

chief executive offcer of the Company andre- A AGIBEHTEHFF

designated as NED on 15 April 2025 FHTEE) G
Mr. Sun Xu Bk M M
Mr. Liu Guanhua e M
Mr. Yin Xiong (fesigned on 15 April 2025) Bk i (R200544 F 15 B8 )
INEDs BUHTES
Mr. Gao Pei Ji BEERE M M M
Mr. Zhang Yuntao RBREE C M M
Ms. Dai Qiia (4gpointed on 12 March 2025 B EL T (RooosEs 128

BEP M 6 M

Mr. Qiu Xianhong fesigned on ERSE R B (20055 3 120 8HF)

12 March 2025) exC exC exM

C — Chairman of the relevant Board committees

M — Member of the relevant Board committees

exC — Former chairman of the relevant Board committees
exM — Former member of the relevant Board committees

1. Mr. Qiu Bin was appointed as the ED on 15 April 2025. On the same day, he
obtained the legal advice on Hong Kong law referred to in Rule 3.09D of the
Hong Kong Listing Rules with regards to the requirements applicable to him
as a director of a listed issuer and the possible consequences of making a
false declaration or giving false information to the Stock Exchange, and he has
confirmed he understood his obligations as a director of a listed issuer.
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2. Mr. Wang Xianfeng was appointed as the ED on 5 July 2024. On the same
day, he obtained the legal advice on Hong Kong law referred to in Rule 3.09D
of the Hong Kong Listing Rules with regards to the requirements applicable to
him as a director of a listed issuer and the possible consequences of making a
false declaration or giving false information to the Stock Exchange, and he has
confirmed he understood his obligations as a director of a listed issuer.

3. Ms. Dai Qijia was appointed as the INED on 12 March 2025. On the same day,
she obtained the legal advice on Hong Kong law referred to in Rule 3.09D of
the Hong Kong Listing Rules with regards to the requirements applicable to
her as a director of a listed issuer and the possible consequences of making a
false declaration or giving false information to the Stock Exchange, and she has
confirmed she understood her obligations as a director of a listed issuer.

The Board is responsible for formulating the overall strategy and
policy of the Group to ensure that there are sufficient capital and
management resources in place to support the implementation of
relevant strategies and the integrity of the financial and internal control
systems, and the compliance with relevant legal requirements in
business operations. All members of the Board have duly fulfilled their
duties and acted in the best interest of the Group and Shareholders.
Unless otherwise disclosed in this annual report, to the knowledge
of the Company, there was no financial, business, family or other
material/related relationship among members of the Board.

All Directors should comply with Rule 3.08(d) of the Listing Rules at
all times to avoid actual and potential conflict of interest and duties. In
each meeting of the Board and special committees of the Board (the
“Meetings”), Directors are required to declare if they have any interest
in the matters being considered in the Meetings. If a Director or any of
his associates have material interests in the matters to be considered/
approved, the Director will not be counted towards the quorum and
will not vote at the meeting. The Director may be required to recuse
themselves during the discussion of the relevant matters.

Pursuant to Article 108 of the Articles of Association of the Company
and the Corporate Governance Code, all Directors are required
to retire from office by rotation once every three years. The Board
complies with Rules 3.10(1) and (2) and 3.10A of the Listing
Rules in relation to the appointment of at least three INEDs, which
represents at least one-third of the Board, and one of the INEDs
has appropriate professional qualifications in accounting or related
financial management expertise. During the Reporting Period, the
qualifications, number and proportion of INEDs were in compliance
with regulatory requirements.

The Company has established a mechanism to ensure independent
views and advice are available to the Board through seeking external
independent professional advice from legal advisers and auditor, as
well as maintaining the full attendance of all INEDs at all meetings
of the Board and its relevant committees. The Board reviews
the implementation of the aforementioned mechanisms and its
effectiveness thereof on an annual basis.
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Responsibilities of the Board

As the decision-making body of the Company, the Board
takes charge of the corporate governance function. The major
responsibilities of the Board include the tasks stated below. The
Board may delegate the responsibilities to other committees as it
thinks fit:

@)

to review the Company’s policies, programs and procedures
and make recommendations as necessary from time to time;

to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices to
ensure compliance with the legal and regulatory requirements;

to oversee the implementation of any code of conduct and/
or business ethics of the Company to ensure the Company’s
compliance with the relevant rules and regulations, including
but not limited to the Listing Rules and the Takeovers Code;

to review the Company’s compliance with the Corporate
Governance Code and disclosure in the Corporate Governance
Report;

to form any committee(s) or panels, appoint members thereto,
delegate at any time and from time to time to any person
or committee(s) or panel(s), any of its powers and functions
conferred on it, review and approve the reports of the
committee(s) and panel(s), review their performance and revise
their composition and terms of reference as appropriate;

to oversee all matters and to formulate policies in relation to the
Company’s internal control, succession plans, remuneration and
compensation for Directors and employees, risk management,
corporate governance and corporate social responsibility, and
to supervise the implementation of such policies conducted by
the Company’s management;
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(h) investigate any significant instances of non-compliance or
potential non-compliance of the Company; and

(i) to do any such things to enable the Board to discharge its
obligations and responsibilities.

Major work performed by the Board in relation to its corporate
governance function in 2024 includes:

1. reviewing and approving the Board’s major work plan of 2024
(including summary of the Board work of 2023);

2. reviewing and approving the report on the comprehensive risk
management of 2024 (including summary of risk management
situation of 2023);

S8 reviewing and approving the internal audit work plan of 2024
(including summary of the internal audit work of 2023);
4. reviewing and approving the internal control evaluation report of

2023;

5. reviewing and approving the environmental, social and
governance report of 2023;

6. reviewing and approving the environmental, social and
governance strategic goals and plans of 2025;

7.  reviewing and approving corporate systems including the
amended Comprehensive Risk Management System;

8. reviewing the interim report on the implementation of comprehensive
risk management of 2024;

9. reviewing the interim report on the implementation of the internal
audit plan of 2024; and

10. reviewing environmental, social and governance-related
enhancement inttiatives.
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APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

All Directors, including the chairman, are required to retire from office
by rotation once every three years and are subject to re-election by
Shareholders at the annual general meeting in accordance with the
Articles of Association and the Corporate Governance Code. The
Articles of Association of the Company provides details in relation to
the procedures of election and appointment of the Directors.

Besides, pursuant to Article 112 of the Articles of Association of the
Company, Directors appointed to fill casual vacancy shall hold office
only until the next general meeting after their appointment, and shall
be subject to re-election at a general meeting.

Each of the Directors enters into a director service contract with the
Company immediately after their appointment for a term of two years
and is subject to retirement and re-election at least once every three
years. The contract sets out the details of the duties and obligations
of Directors. All Directors understand that they have joint responsibility
towards all Shareholders in terms of the operation, business and
development of the Company. They are required to fulfill Directors’
duties according to the director service contract and relevant laws
and regulations. All Directors confirmed that they provide sufficient
time and effort in company affairs, express their views cautiously and
diligently and duly fuffill their Directors’ duties.

Directors’ Interests

According to the register maintained under section 352 of Part XV
of the SFO, the shareholdings of the Directors of the Company or its
associated companies (as defined in the SFO) as at 31 December
2024 are as follows:

EENZAERER

BRIFEANMAESHARBARE
RANREEREATINERE  B8=Fh
MBE—R > WARRRBEARS EEK
REE - AOEEMAPHARETES
BIBREFT -

O RAERARFI12RRE - B
TEARRERNESTNERZHES
EROT—ERRBFAERAL - BRA
RERBFRGEER -

PEEREZERBGUANRARREE
ERBEVNAMFLELB=FRIER
BE-R ANPHAVAESRENE
%o 2REFEREMAHZERRAR
AHES EBRBREBHANESE
WARREERBA O RBBERERE
TEERE - MEEFORRRARHE
BMENREARER  EERPBREER
RoEREFRENET -

ExER

RIEEH RS IEH EXVEL B 3521518
HENELMAHE - FESN20245F12
A31BFEARRARKBEEZE (EERF
FHREE L) RO HIFRAT

Percentage of
issued share

Personal (0],1-1¢ Number of capital of
Name of Director interests interests shares the Company
HAEQTE BT
EEnA B AR HibER RHEE BRAB DL
Ms. Xu Junmei - 120,000 120,000 0.00%
RERL L
i Such shares were held by the spouse of the Director. 1. ZERMBAESZEBIEE -
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Directors’ Training and Continuous Professional Development

Newly appointed Directors will receive an introduction package
related to the laws applicable to directors of a listed company and
their duties, which covers the statutory and regulatory obligations of a
director.

Pursuant to code provision C.1.4 of Part 2 of the Corporate
Governance Code, Directors should participate in continuous
professional development training to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills. The Company encourages all Directors to
participate in continuous professional development to ensure better
fulfillment of Directors’ duties and contribution to the Company’s
development. During the Reporting Period, all Directors participated
in continuous professional development by attending internal training,
seminar or forum. Furthermore, attending training seminars or reading
materials is also beneficial to continuous professional development.

A summary of training taken by the Directors in 2024 is set out as
follows:

Directors

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~ SREARE

EERIIRBEERRRE

EZENHESKRIER LT ARES
REFEERENERREBERE XMt
A AEREEFEENEEERE -

RIFEEE AT RIS — 80 TR E
ClLAGRTE  EFR2EBEZXER
FIAR - DABEIR N R EL AN BAIREE © 1 7]
FREREFLEBEEXER - UHER
EERAENEHBITRAARANERER
B - RIREHIN - MAEESCDRBR2HE
MEREF - R S RmiBE T A2 RS
BEHR - UbIN - B IE R BIEN
BTN HEERER -

R2024%F - ER2HFHIBERMT -

Type of training

BIER

EDs BITES
Mr. Wang Xianfeng (appointed on 5 July 2024) T 58554 (R20244F 7 5 HH#EZ(T) ab,c
Ms. Xu Junmei REEZ L b
Mr. An Junjing (resigned on 5 July 2024) RIS A (Ro0244F7 A5 HE1F) b
NEDs FHITES
Mr. Sun Xu R SLE ab
Mr. Yin Xiong BRI E a,b
Mr. Liu Guanhua IR E A ab
INEDs BYFHITES
Mr. Qiu Xianhong Ef St A ab
Mr. Gao Pei Ji SIRESEE ab
Mr. Zhang Yuntao REBESLE a,b
a. Attending training seminars in person/via video: on 1 November 2024, the a. HE ARSI IR - R ARR20244
Company held a training session for Directors, the topic being the global A1 ARREEFEEI - TRAERE
security landscape. ESiZ
b. Reading training materials relevant to the Company’s business or the Directors’ b. MERAARERNEEETHERBEERH
duties and obligations. KIIEIIERS o
c. Attending the pre-service training of Directors conducted by the legal counsel in & MN20244F7 A - EARBERBITHNE SR
July 2024, RIIEF o
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Under code provision C.2.1 of Part 2 of the Corporate Governance
Code, the responsibilities between the chairman and chief executive
officer should be separate and should not be performed by the same
individual. During the Reporting Period, each of Mr. An Junijing (resigned
on 5 July 2024) and Mr. Wang Xianfeng (appointed on 5 July 2024)
had performed both the positions of the chairman of the Board and
the chief executive officer of the Company successively. The Board
believes that each of Mr. An Junjing and Mr. Wang Xianfeng serving as
both the chairman of the Board and the chief executive officer of the
Company would ensure consistent leadership and operation.

Save as disclosed above, the Company had adopted and complied
with all the applicable code provisions of part 2 of the Corporate
Governance Code during the Reporting Period. In order to make a
clearer distinction between the responsibilities of the chairman of
the Board and those of the chief executive officer of the Company,
the Board has appointed Mr. Qiu Bin to serve as the chief executive
officer of the Company with effect from 15 April 2025.

NEDS

NEDs, including INEDs, are experienced individuals from different
industries and backgrounds. At least one of them possesses the
appropriate accounting qualifications and related financial management
expertise as required by the Listing Rules. Based on the expertise and
experience of each of the Directors, the Directors assume their related
responsibilities to provide independent judgment and advise on the
Company’s management. The number of NEDs represents more than
half of the Board members, which enables the Company to make
objective and independent judgments and decisions. The advice of
NEDs shall be the primary reference for decision making, in the event
of a potential conflict of interest regarding a matter.

The initial term of appointment of each NED is two years and is
subject to retirement and re-election as required by the Articles of
Association, and will continue thereafter until terminated by not less
than three months’ notice in writing served by either party to the
other.

The Company has conducted annual independence inquiries with
each INED in accordance with the requirements of Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules and has received annual independence confirmation
letters from each of them. After taking into consideration of the
factors set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, the Company is of
the view that all the INEDs are independent.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. She Dong (“Mr. She”) and Ms. Lai Siu Kuen (“Ms. Lai”) have
been appointed as joint company secretaries of the Company on
27 September 2021. Mr. She is currently the general counsel of the
Company, and Ms. Lai is a director of Company Secretarial Services
of Tricor Services Limited and works closely with Mr. She, who is also
her primary contact person at the Company.

The role of the company secretaries is to support the chairman
of the Board, the Board and relevant committees, and to ensure
smooth communications and timely transmission of information. At
the same time, the company secretary plays an important role in
ensuring the Board meetings are convened in accordance with laws
and regulations, and the Board’s decisions are executed correctly.
The company secretary is also an important communication bridge
between the Company and Shareholders, and assists the Board to
perform its responsibilities to Shareholders in accordance with the
Listing Rules.

In accordance with the Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules, Mr. She and Ms.
Lai have received no less than 15 hours of professional training during
the Reporting Period.

BOARD PROCESS AND ATTENDANCE OF MEETINGS

There are at least four regular Board meetings held every year, and
ad hoc Board meetings are convened when necessary. In addition
to written resolutions, Directors participated in the meetings either in
person, by proxy or through electronic means of communications.
Board members are regularly and comprehensively informed about
the business development of the Company during such meetings.

At least 14 days’ notices of all regular Board meetings were given
to all Directors, who were given an opportunity to add matters to
the agenda for discussion. The finalised agenda and accompanying
board documents were sent to all Directors at least three days prior
to the meetings.
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During the Reporting Period, there were four Board meetings held by ~ RIREHA - AR EBHINETE S
the Company in total. The attendance of each Director at the Board w BEFHRESgSRMEEEES
meetings and relevant committee meetings are as follows: EEMNERNT

Number of meetings attended/Number of meetings held

HERE, ERETRY

Board Audit Remuneration Nomination ESG
Position Meeting Committee Committee Committee Committee
Bz - BREZEE ¥MZE8 REZER ESGZEE
Mr. Wang Xianfeng ~ ED, chairman of the Board and chairman of the 1/2 N/A N/A N/A N/A
Nomination Committee
(aopointed on 5 July 2024)
FRgEE HITES ESLIRNRLZELIR 1/2 TEf TER TEA TER
(200457 A5 EZE)
Ms. Xu Junmei ED and chairman of the ESG Committee 3/4 N/A N/A N/A 0N
RERLT HTESRESGZEEERE 3/4 TEf T TER 0/1
Mr. An Junjing ED, chairman of the Board and chairman of the 1/2 N/A N/A 1/2 N/A
Nomination Committee
(resigned on 5 July 2024)
RERLE HITES EZRIRRRELZELIR 1/2 TEf TEf 112 TEfA
(Fo024%7 F5AEHT)
Mr. Sun Xu NED, member of the Audit Committee and the 3/4 3/3 N/A N/A 11
ESG Committee
FessE FHITES  ENELE2ZERESCRES 3/4 33 TER TER 11
Mr. Yin Xiong NED 4/4 N/A N/A N/A N/A
i FRTEE 474 TER TER TER TER
Mr. Liu Guanhua NED and member of the Remuneration 4/4 N/A 11 N/A N/A
Committee
AmEL L FOTEEREWRESRE 4/4 TER 11 T TEm
Mr. Qiu Xianhong INED, chairman of the Audit Committee and 4/4 33 1 2/2 N/A
the Remuneration Committee and member
of the Nomination Committee
it BUFNIES BRZESER  HMES 404 33 17 212 TEm

SIRNREZEEZRE
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Number of meetings attended/Number of meetings held

HERE, ERETAH

Board Audit Remuneration Nomination ESG
Position Meeting Committee Committee Committee Committee
Btz S BERZES FMESE REZEE ESGZEE
Mr. Gao Pei Ji INED, member of the Remuneration 4/4 N/A 11 212 11
Committes, the Nomination Committee and
the ESG Committee
EIEEEE BUFNIES FHZERZE  RAEE 4/4 TEm 17 212 17
2% B RESCEREERE
Mr. Zhang Yuntao  INED, member of the Audit Committee, 4/4 33 N 212 N/A
the Remuneration Committee and the
Nomination Committee
REBEE BUNNTES BNEZESZE  FHUZE 4/4 3/3 11 2/2 TEf
SRERRAZESZE

During the Reporting Period, the chairman of the Board held one RMEHRA - EgXFERRAEILIE
meeting with the INEDs of the Company without the presence of ~ BfTERET T — LB HMESHEDN
other Directors. & o

Should a potential conflict of interest involving a controlling EHEERBRRIESFEIENANEE
Shareholder or a Director arise, the matter will be considered and ®ERAEEBNERREAETER
approved in a physical meeting, as opposed to being dealt with by o MIELERRZRIE - MFEEAF
written resolution. Other Directors and INEDs with no material conflict HERMNEMES EBUIERITESEL
of interest would be present at the relevant meetings. EEHEEEEH -

The Company has arranged appropriate Directors and Officers AR EEE e MRAEEITENE
Liability insurance in respect of potential legal action against Directors. HENEERSAEEABRETRBIZR
ZHE o
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DELEGATION AND WORK DONE BY THE BOARD

The Board provides leadership and oversees the Group’s business
management, strategic decisions, performance and affairs.

The Board has formulated a clear written policy that delineates
matters reserved for Board approval of the Group. The reserved
matters include, among other things:

1. business development and planning;

2. corporate policies;

3. financial planning;

4. investment planning;

B¢ annual budget;

6. major disposals and acquisitions;

7. major connected transactions;

8. appointment of Directors, company secretary and other senior

management; and

9. other significant operational and financial matters.

In addition to work relating to corporate governance, other major
works performed by the Board during the Reporting Period include:

1. considering, reviewing and approving the 2023 annual results,
annual report and matters relating to the annual general
meeting;

2. reviewing the implementation report of 2023 and approving

the business plan of 2024;

3. reviewing and approving the budget planning of 2024;

4. reviewing and approving organizational adjustment and
staffing plan of 2024;
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reviewing the (continuing) connected transactions execution
report of 2023;

considering the appointment of the auditor of 2024 and
determination of their remuneration;

reviewing and approving the appointment of Directors and
appointment of senior management;

reviewing and approving the external donations; and

reviewing the framework for the preparation of the 2025
business plan.
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The day-to-day operation and management of the Group is
delegated to the senior management. Certain authorities are also
granted to relevant Board committees, the delegated authorities and
responsibilities are reviewed by the Board from time to time.

BOARD COMMITTEES

There are four committees under the Board of the Company, namely
the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee, the Nomination
Committee and the ESG Committee, with its own terms of reference
established. Each specific committee works on its own specific scope
of responsibility, providing comments and recommendations to the
Board for consideration.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee is delegated by the Board to exercise its
specific rights within the ambit of the terms of reference.

As at 31 December 2024, the Audit Committee comprised one
NED, namely Mr. Sun Xu, and two INEDs, namely Mr. Qiu Xianhong
(chairman) and Mr. Zhang Yuntao.

The function of the Audit Committee is to assist the Board in providing
an independent review of the effectiveness of the financial reporting
process, internal control and risk management systems of the Group,
and oversee the audit process. The Audit Committee also serves as a
focal point for communication among Directors, the external auditors
and the management as regards financial reporting, internal control
and auditing.

Major work performed by the Audit Committee during the Reporting
Period includes:

1. listening to a presentation from the auditor regarding the 2023
audit report and related matters;

2. deliberating on the draft of annual report and the results
announcement of 2023;

3. deliberating on the annual budget of 2024;

4. deliberating on the internal audit work plan of 2024 (including
the summary of the internal audit work of 2023);
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oF deliberating on the internal control evaluation report of 2023;

6. deliberating on the report on the comprehensive
risk management of 2024 (including the summary of
comprehensive risk management of 2023);

7. deliberating on the interim results and matters relating to
interim report of 2024;

8. deliberating on the amended Comprehensive Risk
Management System;

9. deliberating on the interim report on the implementation of

comprehensive risk management report of 2024;

10. reviewing the interim report on the implementation of the
internal audit plan of 2024; and

11. communicating on the audit plan of 2024.

During the Reporting Period, the Board had no disagreement with the
Audit Committee’s view on the selection, appointment, resignation or
dismissal of the external auditors.

Internal control

The Board has overall responsibility for establishing and maintaining
effective internal control system as well as reviewing its effectiveness,
to safeguard the Group’s assets and Shareholders’ interest. The
Board conducts annual reviews to ensure that the resources, staff
qualifications and experience in relation to the Company’s accounting,
internal audit, and financial reporting; the Company’s environmental,
social and governance performance and reporting; and the
Company’s training courses and budgets thereof received by staff
are adequate. Management at all levels of the Company evaluates
the adequacy and effectiveness of the internal control system through
regular reviews of the system. The internal control department reports
to the Audit Committee once a year on key findings regarding internal
controls. Audit Committee, in turn, communicates any material issues
regarding internal control system to the Board.

During the Reporting Period, the Audit Committee conducted a
review on the effectiveness of the internal control system (including
financial controls, operational controls and compliance controls), and
no significant control failings were identified. Therefore, the Board
considered that the internal control systems of the Group were
effective and sufficient, and in compliance with the code provisions of
the Corporate Governance Code.
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Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee is delegated by the Board to exercise
its specific rights within the ambit of the terms of reference.

As at 31 December 2024, the Remuneration Committee comprised
one NED, namely Mr. Liu Guanhua, and three INEDs, namely Mr. Qiu
Xianhong (chairman), Mr. Gao Pei Ji and Mr. Zhang Yuntao.

The function of the Remuneration Committee is to make
recommendations to the Board on the Company’s remuneration
policies and structures for its EDs, NEDs and senior management
and advise the Board on the remuneration packages of the EDs
and senior management with reference to the Company’s goals and
objectives.

During the Reporting Period, the main task of the Remuneration
Committee was to consider the remuneration of the newly appointed
director. No Directors’ remuneration adjustment was made. Mr. Sun
Xu, Mr. Yin Xiong and Mr. Liu Guanhua, NEDs, have waived their
entitlement to Directors’ remuneration.

Pursuant to code provision E.1.5 of part 2 of the Corporate
Governance Code, the annual remuneration of the members of the
senior management (excluding the Directors) by band during the year
ended 31 December 2024 is as follows:

#FriNsE (&)

Remuneration band (HK$)

Nil to 1,000,000
1,000,001 to 1,500,000
1,500,001 to 2,000,000
2,000,001 to 2,500,000
2,500,001 to 3,000,000
3,000,001 to 3,500,000

0-1,000,000
1,000,001-1,500,000
1,600,001-2,000,000
2,000,001-2,500,000
2,500,001-3,000,000
3,000,001-3,500,000

Details of the remuneration of the Directors and the five highest
paid individuals are set out in note 15 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee is delegated by the Board to exercise its
specific rights within the ambit of terms of reference.

As at 31 December 2024, the Nomination Committee comprised one
ED, namely Mr. Wang Xianfeng (appointed as the chairman on 5 July
2024), and three INEDs, namely Mr. Qiu Xianhong, Mr. Gao Pei Ji and
Mr. Zhang Yuntao.

The function of the Nomination Committee is to review and formulate
the nomination procedure with regards to the appointment, re-
appointment and removal of Directors; to review the structure, size
and composition of the Board and make recommendations or any
proposed changes to the Board to implement the Company’s goals
and objectives; to make recommendation to the Board on candidates
for appointment as Directors; and to assess the independence of
INEDs. The Nomination Committee adheres to a rigorous selection
procedure in choosing the right person as a member of the Board.
Various criteria such as appropriate professional knowledge,
experience, skills and possible contribution of the candidate will be
considered.

During the Reporting Period, major work performed by the
Nomination Committee includes:

1. recommending the retirement and re-election of Directors at
the annual general meeting;

2. assessing the independence of INEDs; and

3. considering the appointment of Director.

Board diversity policy

The Board adopted the “Board Diversity Policy” and reviews
its implementation and effectiveness annually. The Company
recognises the merits of Board diversity and sees its value in driving
competitiveness. In deciding on the Board’s composition, the
Board considers various skills, regional and industry experience,
background, gender and other attributes of the members of the
Board. All appointments of the Board are based on talent, skill and
experience of the individual, as well as gender diversity, so as to meet
the Company’s operational needs.
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To achieve gender diversity among Board members, the Company
actively seeks suitable females to join the Board. As of the date of
this report, the Board has met the requirements for non-single gender
members under the Listing Rules.

As at 31 December 2024, the Board composition has fulfilled the
diversity requirements on skills, background, geography, gender
and industry experience. The Board will continue to adopt the Board
Diversity Policy in order to maintain the necessary balance of diverse
skills, experience and perspectives of the Board.

Anti-corruption and Whistle-blowing Policy

The Group does not tolerate any corruption, bribery, extortion, fraud
or money laundering during the course of its business activities.
As such, it has formulated an anti-corruption and whistle-blowing
policy (the “Anti-Corruption and Whistle-blowing Policy”) which
prohibits all forms of corruption practice having referenced the
relevant laws and regulations. The Anti-Corruption and Whistle-
blowing Policy forms an integral part of the Group’s corporate
governance framework, which sets out the specific behavioural
guidelines that the employees of the Group must follow to combat
corruption. The Anti-Corruption and Whistle-blowing Policy is
designed to provide the employees and any external parties with
confidential whistleblowing channels to report to the Group the actual
or suspected illegal activities and misconducts in corporate financial
reporting, internal control or other areas. The Anti-Corruption and
Whistle-blowing Policy is reviewed and updated on a regular basis to
align with the applicable laws and regulations as well as the industry
best practices.

ESG Committee
The ESG Committee of the Company is delegated by the Board to

exercise its specific rights within the ambit of the terms of reference.

As at 31 December 2024, the ESG Committee comprised one ED,
namely Ms. Xu Junmei (chairman), one NED, namely Mr. Sun Xu, and
one INED, namely Mr. Gao Pei Ji.
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The function of the ESG Committee is to review and assess the
governance objectives of the Company, management structure and
management policies on ESG matters, to identify and assess the ESG
risks and opportunities of the Company and to review the annual ESG
report of the Company.

During the Reporting Period, the major work of the ESG Committee
was to review the annual ESG report and make recommendations to
the Board.

DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the preparation
of the financial statements of the Group. In preparing the financial
statements, the Company has adopted the HKFRS, adopted and
applied appropriate accounting policies consistently, and made
reasonable and prudent judgments and estimates. The Board is not
aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions
which may cast significant doubt over the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern. Accordingly, the Board has continued to adopt
the going concern basis in preparing the financial statements.

The Company’s auditor, BDO Limited, acknowledged its reporting
responsibilities pursuant to the Corporate Governance Code. The
auditor’s responsibilities are set out in the independent auditor’s
report.

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~ SREARE

ESGZEENBERBRNIEALQT
ESGEHMERRR - BEERBMEENR
B BRI NFHERN R BESGRR LS -
B AR RFEESGHRE °

BEHAN  ESGREENEIETIERES
FRESGHREY MEFSRHES -

EESREBAEMBHERERNEE

EEHREHNRRASEVHHERER
MEME - RAERBMBEHRERE K
REBMHREER - EREENSEHK
RYBRHER - YEIFHAEMEEDN
H B S - BEEEW T ABAEM K AT
HAREERBLLNENBRERREN
EMABEREENEMNERTHAR RS
£ Hlt - EFERREMBBREES

BERAREREREE -

ARRNGBMEE L ERRGTNES
AR ARERERBEEEE ATAER
MIRE B o RBETHBE S BB
e

73



74

CGN Mining Company Limited Annual Report 2024

Corporate Governance Report

ERERRE

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

During the Reporting Period, the remuneration paid by the Company
to the auditor, BDO Limited and its affiliate company, is set out as
follows:

FriR B0 BR 7%

Services rendered

Audit services B RTE

Non-audit services IEEIZ RS
The amount of fee incurred for non-audit services arose from the
review of interim results and tax services.

SHAREHOLDERS AND SHAREHOLDERS’ MEETING

In order to ensure that all Shareholders of the Company enjoy equal
status and effective exercise of their own rights, the Company
convenes general meetings every year in accordance with the Articles
of Association. During the Reporting Period, one general meeting
was held, namely the annual general meeting on 20 June 2024. The
attendance of each Director is as follows:
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HK$’000
TEx

1,185

609

FFBZIRFPAELM R MRS T HEHR
15 RIS AR FS

BRRMBRAE

RREARATMERRZE FEMALE
BT B S BN - AR RIREEZ4
AR ESFERRERE - MEHR -
B20244%6
EEHFER

ARANBBRITTIRKRERS
RA20HBTHRERAFTRE -
BHR2E

AT :

Number of
meetings
attended/

Number of

meetings held

HEXE

ERBTRE
Mr. Wang Xianfeng (appointed on 5 July 2024) T Hes& e (Ro024F 7 A5 HEZ(T) N/AT i FR
Ms. Xu Junmei REB/LZL 11
Mr. Sun Xu HBSEE 0/1
Mr. Yin Xiong BRHES 11
Mr. Liu Guanhua RS A 11
Mr. Qiu Xianhong ER St 11
Mr. Gao Pei Ji SIRESEE 1/1
Mr. Zhang Yuntao RABELAE 11
Mr. An Junjing (resigned on 5 July 2024) REIEH A (R2024% 7 55 H BFE) 0/1
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Right to convene an extraordinary general meeting

Pursuant to Article 64 of the Articles of Association, the Board may, if
so requested by a Shareholder or multiple Shareholders, at the date
of deposit of the requisition holding not less than 10% of the voting
rights attached to the share capital of the Company on the basis of
one vote one share, convene an extraordinary general meeting for the
purpose of any business transactions specified in the requisition; and
such meeting shall be held within two months after such requisition.

Such requisition shall be made in writing to the Directors or the
company secretary for the purpose of requiring an extraordinary
general meeting and delivered to the registered office of the Company
in Cayman lIslands and/or the principal place of business of the
Company in Hong Kong. The requisitionists must state the purposes
of the meeting and sign the requisition letter.

If the Board does not convene a meeting within 21 days from the
date of the receipt of the requisition, the requisitionist(s) himself
(themselves) may convene a physical meeting, and the Company shall
reimburse the requisitionist(s) all reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board to convene such
meeting.

Right to put enquiries to the Board

Shareholders have the right to put enquiries to the Board. All enquiries
may be made in writing and sent to the attention of the joint company
secretary, Mr. She Dong, in one of the following ways:

1. By post: CGN Mining Company Limited
Room 1903
19/F, China Resources Building
No. 26 Harbour Road
Wanchai, Hong Kong

2. By facsimile: (852) 2116 4031

38 By e-mail: ir.cgnmc@cgnpc.com.cn
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Voting by poll

Pursuant to Rule 13.39 of the Listing Rules and Article 72 of the
Articles of Association of the Company, any votes of the Shareholders
at a general meeting must be taken by poll, except where the
chairman decides to allow a resolution which relates purely to a
procedural or administrative matter to be voted by a show of hands.

Procedures to put forward proposals at general meetings

Shareholders who would like to put forward proposals at a general
meeting shall follow the procedures below:

On the requisition in writing of either: i) any number of Shareholders
of the Company representing not less than one-fortieth of the
total voting rights of all the Shareholders having at the date of the
requisition a right to vote at the meeting to which the requisition
relates; or ii) not less than 50 Shareholders, the Company shall, at the
expense of the requisitionists:

a) circulate to Shareholders entitled to receive notice of the next
annual general meeting a notice of any resolution which may
properly be proposed and is intended to be proposed at that
meeting;

b) circulate to Shareholders entitled to have notice of any general
meeting sent to them any statement of not more than one
thousand words with respect to the matter referred to in any
proposed resolution or the business to be dealt with at that
meeting.

The requisition must be signed by the requisitionists and delivered
to the registered office of the Company in Cayman Islands and/or
the principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong for the
attention of the company secretary not less than 6 weeks before the
general meeting, if a notice of resolution is required for the requisition,
or not less than 1 week before the general meeting for any other
requisition.

Change in constitutional documents

During the Reporting Period, no changes were made in the
constitutional documents of the Company.

BHRLTRETRER

RIE TR RIE13.39 R A A ERMAA
FT2HFHRTE - BERNERAE LIFHAE
MR ENEABETETT - EEXER
AFREAERERFIITHREENRERAIA
RBFTHETRR -

RRRAELREEZZNERF

BRI A R |12 2 F 3 M0 AR R L
T

RIFERRADNRHERE B ARAE
ZERTERA S EIREAMABRRAE
BRERO+ D2 —EBNERAR AR
B i) NP RE0BRRAEEIRHEKX
B ARRIZBELATNER - EENXH
PR B SR A TARE ¢

a) REE: 223 QN ER SV RN =)
MARRBIRF L ATERNAE® LIE
A2 A FR2HEARER ¢

b) [AIA R AIBIR A 2B EH AR
REHTEZR—TFEHBRLE - A
BAEMZASHEZMEMIRESR
PRt ER IR A S LRI A
e

BERZRARRHERMALRE IR
BRAGAMTAIRAEER(WAFTEE
HIRFBRBANESR) HRRAGH A D
R—EH (R EAEBER) KERQF]
REASHENIMRERER SLNEE
MEE LB R AR ME AL -

ERXHEEH

WP - AR R B AR X PR A AT ]
@JO



TEREXARAT —TNFFR

Corporate Governance Report

Shareholder communication policy

During the Reporting Period, the Company considered the
implementation of the Shareholder communication policy to be
effective. Details are set out in the section headed “Management
Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report.

Risk management and internal control
Comprehensive risk management

The Company has in essence established a relatively comprehensive
risk management framework. With reference to the relevant risk
management requirements of the “Risk Management Guidelines”
of ISO31000:2018 standard and the Corporate Governance Code,
the Company effectively identified, evaluated and managed the
significant risks. It also strictly implemented the Comprehensive
Risk Management Policy. Meanwhile, the Company categorised
its risks into significant risks and general risks for classification
and coordinated the management of specific risks such as project
investment risk, and established corresponding risk management
process. The Board, management, the risk management department
and business departments were responsible for their respective duties
within risk management. The Board was responsible for the risk
management and the internal control system, with the duty to review
the effectiveness of such systems to ensure the efficient operation of
the Company’s risk management framework.

Such systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate the
risk of failing to achieve business objectives, and can only provide
reasonable but not absolute assurance against material misstatement
or loss.

The Company handles and disseminates inside information in
accordance with the detailed procedures set out in the Company’s
information disclosure policy, to ensure that inside information could
be promptly identified and remain confidential until the disclosure
of such information is appropriately approved. The dissemination of
such information is conducted in an effective and consistent manner.
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Internal audit

During the Reporting Period, the Company conducted audit
work including risk management assessment, internal control
assessment, audit on gearing ratio management, specialized audit
on the accounting information quality and capital management, and
specialized audit of the management of procurements and contracts.
By implementing specialized audits, risk management reviews and
internal control assessment, the audit department provided regular
management recommendations to the Board, effectively monitoring
monitor the risk identification and response measures of the Company
across relevant areas. This leverages the active supervisory role of the
internal audit in monitoring risk prevention and internal control and in
ensuring Company’s compliance with laws and regulations.

At the same time, the audit department of the Company, as the lead
department for accountability for violations of business operations,
is responsible for the establishment of a comprehensive and
rigorous accountability system for non-compliant operations and
investments, providing further assurance for the Company’s lawful
and compliant operations. The audit department regularly collects
leads from departments and subsidiaries on any non-compliant
business operations and investments and maintains a ledger for
managing accountability in such cases. During the Reporting Period,
the Company did not receive any leads on non-compliant operation
and investment, and no non-compliant operation and investment was
found.

The Directors have reviewed the effectiveness of the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems for the year ended 31
December 2024. No material deficiencies have been identified so far
and there were no significant areas of concern which may affect the
Shareholders.

HUMAN CAPITAL

To support the sustainable development of the Company, we
adhere to the guiding principles and values of valuing, caring for and
enhancing talent, cultivating an excellent team of management and
professional personnel. The Group upholds an equal and diversified
employment policy and opposes any form of discrimination, including
sex discrimination, and is committed to achieving gender diversity in
its workforce.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had 27 employees, of whom 7
were in Hong Kong, 11 were in Kazakhstan and 9 were in the UK. For
further information on staff remuneration, please refer to notes 14 and
15 in the consolidated financial statements.
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Professional qualifications

Among the existing workforce, 67% of employees hold intermediary
or higher professional qualifications.

Employment mechanism
Path of development

The Company cares about the growth and career development of
each employee, and has established two career development paths,
namely the management and the professional technical path, along
with a mechanism for transitioning between the two paths. Staff are
free to develop along either paths and showcase their talents. At the
same time, the Company provides guidance to staff in creating their
personal career development plan, to help them grow professionally.

Internal talent market

The Company established the internal talent market to better
utilise the ability and expertise of each employee. Vacancies will be
prioritised for internal candidates, enabling employees to realise their
career aspirations while optimising the allocation of internal human
resources, an approach that fosters the mutual growth of both the
Company and its employees.

Evaluation system

In order to ensure the Company’s objectives are effectively
implemented, we have established both incentive and restraint
mechanisms to guide employees’ conducts by way of continuous
communication, feedback and improvement. The Company
established a comprehensive performance management system
which includes communication, coaching, tracking and assessment
during the formulation and implementation of the performance plan,
S0 as to achieve the expected performance results, and promote the
mutual development of the Company and employees.
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Cultivating talents

In order to promote the continuous growth of the Company and
maintain market competitiveness, the Company has always adhered
to the core philosophy of “cultivating people, not just training
them” and implemented the fundamental requirements of “training,
assessment, authorization and employment” in the training of all
employees ensuring lifelong learning and authorized onboarding.
By absorbing the experience and best practices of domestic and
international talent development, the Company has and integrating
them with its own development characteristics established an
effective independent talent development system and a standardized
training management system.

The Company formulates a annual detailed tiered training plan to
improve the quality and skills of managers and employees at all
levels through face-to-face training, online training, and a blended
approach. This effectively meets Company’s talent needs for stable
development.

In the future, the Company will continue to invest in talent
development. The Company believes that through systematic talent
development, it can better enhance the ability of our employees,
strengthen the core competitiveness of the Company, and ensure the
sustainable development of the Company.

Remuneration system

To effectively attract high-quality talent and unlock employees’
potential, the Company established a competitive remuneration
system tailored to the characteristics of the industry. The remuneration
system emphasizes the value of positions and individual contributions
encouraging employees to serve the Company long-term and jointly
commit to its continuous growth and sustainable development while
sharing in the fruits of the Company’s development. Remuneration is
primarily consists of monthly salary, performance bonus, over-time
pay, allowance and subsidy and benefits. Directors’ remuneration
also takes into consideration the remuneration policy of the Company
and the duties of the Directors.

In addition to the establishment of social security benefits for
employees, the Company is also committed to building the
Company’s internal welfare system to improve the welfare of
employees. The Company prioritizes the health of employees, and
organizes annual health checkups for employees.
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The Board is pleased to present the Directors’ report and audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2024 as follows.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND ANALYSIS OF
OPERATIONS

The Company is mainly engaged in the trading of natural uranium
and other investments. The principal businesses of our subsidiaries
include the trading of natural uranium and investment in natural
uranium resources. An analysis of the Group’s business for the year is
set out in note 6 of the consolidated financial statements.

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

The head office and principal place of business of the Company
in Hong Kong is located in Room 1903, 19/F, China Resources
Building, No. 26 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong.

EARNINGS AND DIVIDEND DISTRIBUTION

The earnings of the Group for the year of 2024 are set out in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income on pages 106 and 107 of this annual report.

The Board recommended the payment of a final cash dividend of
HKO.7 cents per share for the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023:
Nil). During the Reporting Period, an interim cash dividend of HKO0.3
cents per share for the six months ended 30 June 2024 was declared
and paid (for the six months ended 30 June 2023: Nil). The proposed
final cash dividend is subject to the Shareholders’ approval at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.

If such final dividend is approved by the Shareholders, such proposed
final dividend is expected to be paid on or before 30 July 2025 (subject
to further announcement) to Shareholders whose names appear on
the register of members of the Company on 30 June 2025 (subject to
further announcement).

During the Reporting Period, none of the Shareholders has waived or
agreed to waive any dividend arrangement.

ANNUAL RESULTS

Details of the Group’s business performance for the year of 2024
and its analysis are set out in the section headed “Management
Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy, pursuant to which
Shareholders are entitled to participate in the Company’s profits
whilst retaining adequate reserves for future growth. The declaration
and payment of dividends by the Company is also subject to any
restrictions under the laws of the Cayman Islands, the Articles of
Association and any applicable laws, rules and regulations.

The Board may from time to time determine and pay the Shareholders
such interim dividends as it considers appropriate. The Board
may also recommend the payment of final dividends which require
approval by Shareholders in general meetings.

The ratio of final dividend distribution for the end of the year is based
on the various factors including the annual business performance of
the Company, future cash commitments and investment needs to
sustain the Company’s long-term business growth. If a final dividend
is declared, it is expected to be not less than 20% of the distributable
profits of continuing business from the Company’s ongoing
operations for the year.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A detailed review of the Group’s business performance during
the Reporting period, the Group’s exposure to potential risks and
uncertainties, the Group’s business prospects, financial performance
and analysis, together with its compliance with the relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the Group are set out in
the section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” of this
annual report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of changes in property, plant and equipment and investment
properties of the Group are set out in notes 16 and 18 to the
consolidated financial statements respectively.

SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the major subsidiaries held by the Company are set out in
note 34 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company are set out
in note 31 to the consolidated financial statements.
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DIRECTORS

During the Reporting Period and as at the Latest Practicable Date,
Directors of the Company are as follows:

EDs

Mr. Qiu Bin (@ppointed as ED and chief executive officer of
the Company on 15 April 2025)

Ms. Xu Junmei

Mr. An Junjing (resigned on & July 2024)

NEDs

Mr. Wang Xianfeng (appointed as the chairman of the Board and
chief executive officer of the Company on & July 2024, resigned as
the chief executive officer of the Company and re-designated as
NED on 15 April 2025)

Mr. Sun Xu

Mr. Liu Guanhua

Mr. Yin Xiong (resigned on 15 April 2025)

INEDs

Mr. Gao Pei Ji

Mr. Zhang Yuntao

Ms. Dai Qijia (appointed on 12 March 2025)
Mr. Qiu Xianhong (resigned on 12 March 2025)

Pursuant to Article 112 of the Articles of Association, any Director
appointed to fill a casual vacancy or as an additional Director shall
hold office only until the next following annual general meeting of the
Company and shall then be eligible for re-election at the said meeting.
Directors who are determined to retire by rotation at that annual
general meeting shall not be counted in the number or selection of
such Directors.

Pursuant to Articles 108 and 112 of the Articles of Association, Mr.
Wang Xianfeng, Ms. Xu Junmei, Mr. Sun Xu, Mr. Gao Pei Ji, Ms.
Dai Qijia and Mr. Qiu Bin will retire from office by rotation at the
forthcoming annual general meeting, but are eligible for re-election.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

There is no service contract, which is not terminable by the
Company within one year without payment of compensation (other
than statutory compensation), in respect of the Directors who are
proposed and offered for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN MATERIAL
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS AND
CONTRACTS

Save for the transactions set out under “Connected Transactions”,
there was no transaction, arrangement or contract of significance
entered into or signed by the Group in which a Director or an entity
connected with a Director is or was materially interested, either
directly or indirectly, subsisting during or at the end of Reporting
Period.

DIRECTORS’ INDEMNITIES

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, every Director shall be entitled
to be indemnified out of the assets of the Company against all losses
or liabilities which he may sustain or incur in the execution of the
duties of his office or otherwise in relation thereto. The Company has
arranged appropriate liability insurance coverage for the Directors and
senior management.

BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS

The biographical details of the Directors are set out on pages 46 to
50 of this report.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Distributable reserves of the Company as at 31 December 2024
amounted to approximately HK$197 million.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
Association and there was no restriction against such rights under the
laws of the Cayman Islands.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold
or redeemed any of the listed securities of the Company (including
sale of treasury shares) during the Reporting Period.

The Company did not hold any treasury shares as at the end of the
Reporting Period.

CONVERTIBLE SECURITIES, OPTIONS,
WARRANTS AND OTHER SIMILAR RIGHTS

During the Reporting Period, the Company had no convertible
securities, options, warrants and other similar rights.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

During the Reporting Period, the Company does not have any share
option scheme or outstanding share option.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

Details of the retirement benefit schemes are set out in notes 14 and
15 of the consolidated financial statements.

COMPANY WEBSITE

www.cgnmc.com
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DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS

(@)

The Directors’ and chief executives’ interests and short
position in the shares, underlying shares and debentures
of the Company or any associated corporation

As at 31 December 2024, the interests or short positions in the
Shares, underlying Shares and debentures of the Company
or its associated corporations held by the Directors, the chief
executives of the Company (as defined in the part XV of the
SFO) which were required to be notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV
of the SFO (including interests and short positions which they
were taken or deemed to have taken under such provisions
of the SFO), or which were required, pursuant to section 352
of the SFO, to be recorded in the required register, or which
were required pursuant to the Model Code to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange are as follows:

Personal
Name of Director interests
EEME AR
Ms. Xu Junmei -
REBEZ L
1. Such shares were held by the spouse of the Director.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, none
of the Directors and the chief executives of the Company
had any interests or short positions in the Shares, underlying
Shares and debentures of the Company or its associated
corporations (as defined in the part XV of the SFO) which
were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests and short positions which they were taken
or deemed to have taken under such provisions of the SFO),
or which were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO,
to be recorded in the required register referred to therein,
or which were required pursuant to the Model Code to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange.

Other
interests

Hth i
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(b)  Substantial Shareholders’ interests and short positions (b) FEBRRREAIRRMGRKIEERG

in the shares, underlying shares of the Company FEERAE

As at 31 December 2024, according to the register kept by M2024F12 8318 @ IRARQ AR
the Company pursuant to section 336 of the SFO and so far BESH KB E GO F 336158 T #
as is known to, or can be ascertained after reasonable enquiry GFrEft  AEEEEHESEE
by the Directors, the following persons/entities, other than the MBS IER - THAL EEE
Director or chief executive of the Company, had an interest (PERREARRAEEHIESITEHA
or short position in the Shares and underlying Shares and B)RARQRIRM - RN RE
debentures of the Company which would fall to be disclosed REFERHBIREES RAEEE
to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of XVEBEE2 K 35 BRI X B AN A )
Part XV of the SFO: BEREMERIOAE

Approximate percentage
Name of Shareholder Capacity Number of Shares Mot of Shareholding Mt

BARR
RRER 54 BB Bt T4 b

Substantial Shareholders

FERE
CGNPG Motes2.3.489 Interest in controlled corporation 4,323,017,558 (1) 57.01% (L)
G378 3 R REEE R
CGNPC-URC Motes2.486) Interest in controlled corporation 4,283,695,652 (L) 56.43% (L)
th R i (e 40 REEEER
China Uranium Development Beneficial owner 4,278,695,652 (L) 56.43% (L)
GRETEE e ERBAA

Person having a security interest 10,000,000 (L)

in shares

FHERDORZERNA
Other Shareholders
AMRE
China Chengtong Holdings Group Limited,” Me? Interest in controlled corporation 759,300,000 (L) 9.99% (L)
PR EEREEER DR ) REEEER
The China State-owned Enterprise Mixed Ownership  Interest in controlled corporation 759,300,000 (L) 9.99% (L)

Reform Fund Co., Ltd." 7
q]ﬁ/i\%/ttuﬁﬁﬁ%uaﬁﬁgﬁﬁ MT‘E?/ § %)z%ﬁé

Chengda Holding Limited te? Beneficial owner 759,300,000 (L) 9.99% (L
HEBRAR AR W= ERAA
State Street Bank & Trust Company Approved lending agent 414,293,843 (P) 5.45% (P)

State Street Bank & Trust Company TERHAREA



@

Notes:

1. (L) — Long Position, (P) — Lending Pool.

2. CGNPC held the entire equity interest in CGNPC-URC, and CGNPC-URC held
the entire share capital of China Uranium Development. Accordingly, each of
CGNPC and CGNPC-URC was deemed to be interested in the interest held by
China Uranium Development.

3. CGNPC was also deemed to be interested in 44,321,906 Shares held by its
other wholly-owned subsidiaries.

4. The long position included (i) 4,278,695,652 Shares held by China Uranium
Development; and (i) the interests in 10,000,000 Shares pledged by a third
party.

58 Mr. Yin Xiong and Mr. Sun Xu, NEDs, are also employees of CGNPC.

6. Mr. Yin Xiong and Mr. Sun Xu, NEDs, Mr. Wang Xianfeng (appointed on 5 July
2024) and Ms. Xu Junmei, EDs, and Mr. An Junjing (resigned on 5 July 2024), a
former ED, are also directors of CGNPC-URC. Mr. Wang Xianfeng and Ms. Xu
Junmei, EDs, and Mr. An Junjing, a former ED, are also employees of CGNPC-
URC.

7. According to information provided by China Chengtong Holdings Group

Limited’, Chengda Holding Limited is wholly-owned by The China State-owned
Enterprise Mixed Ownership Reform Fund Co., Ltd. (the “Mixed-ownership
Reform Fund”), in which 34.23% of the shares were held by China Chengtong
Holdings Group Limited. Accordingly, each of China Chengtong Holdings Group
Limited and the Mixed-ownership Reform Fund is deemed to be interested in
the interest held by Chengda Holding Limited.

Save as disclosed above, the Directors are not aware of any person
as at 31 December 2024 who had an interest or short position in the
Shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company which
would fall to be disclosed to the Company pursuant to Divisions 2
and 3 of Part XV of the SFO.

RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE THE COMPANY’S
SECURITIES

None of the Company, or any of its holding companies or
subsidiaries, or any fellow subsidiaries, are party to any arrangement
that enables the Directors or chief executives of the Company or their
respective associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) to have any
right to subscribe for securities of the Company or any of its associated
corporations as defined in the SFO or to acquire benefits by means of
acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other
body corporate.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AERS
Continuing connected transactions BEBERS

The Company entered into the following continuing connected AARHE ETRAEENEEA TR
transactions with the connected persons as defined in the Listing TONRERRERZ D - Wk
Rules, and transactions have been conducted in accordance with RRX5 - sEHABFEBEIIHNITIE
the agreed terms. Details of the continuing connected transactions AT

conducted during the Reporting Period are as follows:

Transaction Annual cap,

Name of agreement,  party of the Nature of transaction and actual transaction

date and existing term ~ Group Counterparty  description Pricing basis amount

fEe% AERER ARERRF  BERANS  RAMEREE ERER FELR BRRAE
1, The New Sales TheCompany ~ CGNPG-URC ~ Thesale of natural uraniumto - The price per pound of natural uranium shal be determingd on norml HKS4,402,000,000/

Framework Agreement (Controling OGNPC-URC Group bythe  commercial terms and with reference to infernational prce indicators HK§1,957,175,000

entered on 16 June Shareholder ofthe ~ Group. published by UXC and TradeTech rom time to time. The price per pound

2022, vith a term from Company) 0f Natural Uranium shall be (a) the sum of 40% of the arthmeic average

1 January 2023 1o 31 Of natural uranium price quoted in ) the 2023 to 2025 Ter Nominal of

December 2025 Weighted Average Price Forecasts in “Uranium Merket Study 2022: Issue 1"

published by TradeTech; and i) the 2023 to 2025 Composte Long-Tem
Base Price Projections in “Uranium Market Outiook - Q1 202" published
by UG, muttiplied by infation multiplier of 1,000 n 2023, 1,035 in 2024 and
1.0711n 2025; and (o) 80% of the arthmeic average ofltest (weekly or
manth-end) spot price indicators quoted in ) “Nuclear Market Review” by
TradeTech; and (i) “Ux Weeky" by UxC; avalable on the date of delivery.

1, (FHEEERE)R 407 MERME(RL  AEELEARGTORNE  EEARANERERETRNEZATER  15ZUxCHTradeTech 4,402,0000007/
A20E6F168TL A PRkE) %R THERMEREREE  BERRANEREAR) TradTech Bt 1,957,175, 000570
B8 200351 1R [0ESmAHE « E18 ] halR 0 ZNSEMETEREN
2055128318 BREZNOBIRABERSETOBNEN : () UCEANEMRR

5 I0FE-ER PMNRERNGFRAREEERRE R
200351000+ 20041 0357202551 OT1VEERE : R TradkTech
Tt b RS (BRAAR REBRERNENTAR
E60%; LT O U Weekly [ XEE X T -



Name of agreement,
date and existing term

fi#4#  AHRAR

The New Financia
Senvices Framewark
Agreement entered on 16
June 2022, with a term
from 1 January 2023 to
31 December 2026

Transaction
party of the
Group

FEERER

The Company

Counterparty
BERRUA

OGN Finance
and CGNPG
Huasheng
(subsiciaries
ofthe Controling
Shareholder of
the Company)

Nature of transaction and
description
RAHERH

The Group shall et up and
maintain RMB and foreign
currency depost accounts

with OGN Finance and place
depost. The Group shal also
authorise the Group's accounts
at hird party commercial banks
outside the PRC to be inked
as a parficipant account fo a
¢ash pooling master setlement
account maintaingd by CGNPG
Huasheng, which allows auto-
fransfer of cash balance in the
Group's participating accounts
fothe cash pooling master
account. The sums transferred
fothe cash poolng master
account consfitute money
depostted by the Group with
COGNPC Huasheng.

QOGN Finance and CGNPG
Huasheng may provide
Setflement and simir services,
and grant loans and other
facilties to the Group from time
fotime.

FEZEERRAR —TZNFEFR
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Annual cap,
actual transaction
amount

FELR WRRAE

Pricing basis

3L

Deposit senvices: The interest payable by OGN Finance to the Group
shallnot be lower than () the Interest rates for the same type and termn of
depostt offeredt by China's big four commercial banks to the Group and (i
the interest rates for the same type and term of depostt provided by CGN
Finance to the other PRC subsiciares of the CGN Group. The interest
payable by CGNPC Huasheng to the Group shallnot be lower than () the
interest rate for smilar type of depost offered by CGNPC Huasheng to
other members of the OGN Group; and () the interest rate for simiar type of
depost as quoted by other independent commercial banks in Hong Kong
(such as Industrial and Commercial Bank of China (Asla) Limited and Bank
of China (Hong Kong) Limited) from time to time.

Depost cap:
US$700,000,000
Highest daly deposts:
RMB1,689,971,000

Settlement services: The fees charged by OGN Finance for the provision

of settlement services shall be in accordance with the fees standards
prescribed by the People’s Bank of China or China Banking and Insurance
Regulatory Commission in respect of such semvices. Ifno such fees standard
is avalglle, the service fees shall be determingd on nomal commercial
ferms and not higher than () the fees charged by China’s big four
commercial banks in the PRC for the same type of financial senvices; and (i)
the fees charged by CGN Finance for the provision of simiar type of financial
senvices to the other PRC subsicries within the CGN Group. The fees
charged by CGNPG Huasheng shall not be higher than () th settiement
and similr services fees charged by CGNPC Huasheng to other members
of the CGN Group n setflement services amangements; and (i) the fees
charged by other commercial banks in Hong Kong (such as Industril and
Commercial Bank of China (Asia) Limited and Bank of China (Hong Kong)
Limited) from time to time.

Setflement service cap:
US3300,000

No sefflement senvice
fee charged

Loans and other faciltes senvices: The terms and conations of such loans, NA
inclucing the loan amount, term, interest payment method and time of
payment, shall be determined after am's length negofiations befween ()
the Group and i) CGN Finance or CGNPC Huasheng, as the case may be.
Such loans and other faciltes shall be: conducted on normal commercial
terms and shall not be secured by any asset of the Group. In respect of
the loans and other facities granted by CGN Finance, the interest rate
shallnot be higher than () the loan interest rates quoted by China's big four
commercial banks to the Group for the same type and term of loan; and (i)
the loan interest rates charged by CGN Finance to other members of OGN
Group in the PRC for simiar type of oan.
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Name of agreement,
date and existing term

fi#4® RERAR

2 (HEERBEREEI
N0EGHIBETT A
W 2029515102
A5E12A31H

Report

Transaction
party of the
Group

FEERER

Counterparty
BERRUA

=

Al PRIGHRR

GER(RDTR
Bl HED
7l

Nature of transaction and
description
RAHERH

PSRN RIBHRLLR
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DS Rt SRR

; 0

Pricing basis

3L
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Annual cap,
actual transaction
amount
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Transaction Annual cap,
Name of agreement,  party of the Nature of transaction and actual transaction
date and existing term ~ Group Counterparty  description Pricing basis amount
a2 AERER 4RERRER  BERANS  RAMERER ERER EELR EBRGE
Off-take Agreement The Companyand  Kazatomprom? ~ The partes shall have the Price per pound of netural uranium to be paic by the Group: Spot price x 0.98 13240
enteredon 17 June 2021~ CGNM UK obligation to acaquire the 828t
which come into force natural ranium concentrates  Price per pound of natural uranium to be paid by Kazatomprom: Spot price
from the date CGNM UK produced by Ortalyk in % 0.98 - Transportation cost
becomes a participant proporton to their respective
of Ortalyk unti the earlier participation interests, as
0f () the date CGNM UK follows ) Kazatomprom shal
exits from partcipation in acouire 51% of Ortalk's total
Ortalyk o (i he end of annual production; and (i) the
the commiment period Company or CGNM UK shall
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For details, please refer to the circular of the Company dated 25 May 2021.

The acquisition of Ortalyk is inter-conditional with the fuel project, a project
between a subsidiary of Kazatomprom and CGNPC-URC (Controlling
Shareholder of the Company), Kazatomprom has been deemed as a connected
person of the Company. For details, please refer to the circular of the Company
dated 25 May 2021.

The Company has applied for and the Stock Exchange has granted a waiver
from strict compliance with Rule 14A.53(1) of the Listing Rules such that annual
caps expressed in monetary terms for the Off-take Arrangement is not required
on the condition that, among others, an annual cap expressed in fixed quantum is
proposed. For details, please refer to the circular of the Company dated 25 May
2021.
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Annual review of continuing connected transactions

The INEDs of the Company have reviewed and confirmed the
continuing connected transactions set out above are:

1. in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;
2. on normal commercial terms or better; and
38 entered into relevant agreements on terms that are fair and

reasonable and in the interests of the Shareholders as a
whole.

The external auditor of the Company has also reviewed these
continuing connected transactions and confirmed to the Board that

these transactions:
1. have been approved by the Board;
2. have been initiated in transactions in accordance with the

relevant agreement;

3. are in accordance with the pricing policies of the Group (if
the transactions involve provision of goods or services by the
Group); and

4. have not exceeded the relevant annual caps disclosed in

previous announcements.

The Board acknowledged the receipt of the auditors’ confirmation
letter dated 20 March 2025 which confirms the matters as required
by Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules.

Subsisting connected transaction entered in previous year
Sale and purchase agreement of Husab uranium concentrates

CGN Global, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into
the sale and purchase agreement of Husab uranium concentrates
with Swakop, a fellow subsidiary of a Controlling Shareholder of the
Company, on 14 June 2019, pursuant to which CGN Global shall
buy and Swakop shall sell 1.55 million pounds of Husab Uranium
Concentrates at an aggregate procurement price of US$79,316,250
(which will increase or decrease by up to 10% in the event that CGN
Global exercises its right to increase or decrease the annual deliveries
in each delivery year), which shall be delivered in batches over a
period of seven years from 2019 in accordance with the stipulated
delivery schedule.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Group entered into certain transactions with “related parties” as
defined under the applicable accounting standards. A summary of the
related party transactions entered into by the Group during Reporting
Period is contained in note 35 to consolidated financial statements.

Save for (i) purchases of natural uranium resources from Semizbay-U
and (i) dividend income received from Semizbay-U, which do not
constitute connected transaction of the Company, all the other
related party transactions constitute connected transactions or
continuing connected transactions of the Company, all of which
are fully exempted connected transactions or continuing connected
transactions under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, as the case
may be, save for (i) sales of natural uranium resources to China
Uranium Development, (i) purchases of natural uranium resources
from Ortalyk, (iii) interest income from CGNPC Huasheng, (iv) interest
income from CGN Finance, and (v) purchases of natural uranium
resources from Swakop.

The disclosure requirements pursuant to Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules have been complied in respect of the non-fully exempted
connected transactions or continuing connected transactions under
the announcements of the Company dated 22 April 2021 and 16
June 2022 and the circulars of the Company dated 25 May 2021 and
19 August 2022.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The percentages of purchases and sales attributable to the Group’s
major suppliers and customers for the Reporting Period are as
follows:
Purchases Sales
- the largest supplier: 44% - the largest customer: 23%
—five largest suppliers: 81% —five largest customers: 93%

China Uranium Development, the controlling shareholder, is the
largest customer of the Group for the Reporting Period. Mr. Wang
Xianfeng, an ED, the chairman and the chief executive officer of
the Company, Ms. Xu Junmei, an ED and the chief financial officer
of the Company, Mr. Sun Xu, a NED, Mr. Yin Xiong, a NED and
Mr. An Junjing, a former ED were the directors and/or the senior
management of CGNPC-URC, the holding Company of China
Uranium Development, at different times during 2024. Save as
disclosed above, none of the Directors, their associates or any
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Shareholder (which to the knowledge of the Directors owns more
than 5% of the Company’s share capital) had an interest in the above
major suppliers or customers of the Group.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

During the Reporting Period, the Company (as service receiver)
and CGNPC-URC entered into “Shared Administrative Services
Agreement” for provision of shared administrative services to the
Company by CGNPC-URC, of which the validity period is from 1
January 2022 to 31 December 2024. Mr. Wang Xianfeng (appointed
on 5 July 2024), an ED, Ms. Xu Junmei, an ED, Mr. Sun Xu, a NED,
Mr. Yin Xiong, a NED, and Mr. An Junjing (resigned on 5 July 2024),
a former ED, also hold directorships and/or managerial positions in
CGNPC-URC.

CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE WITH
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS OR ITS
SUBSIDIARIES

Save as disclosed in this report, there were no contracts of
significance or material contracts on provision of services between
the Company or any of its subsidiaries and the Company’s Controlling
Shareholders or any of its subsidiaries during the Reporting Period.

OTHERS

Environmental protection

The Company, as a green energy related corporation, pays significant
attention to environmental protection. We vigorously promote
environmental protection and advocate for green, energy saving
and environmental protection practices, including advocating green
practices, encouraging the use of electronic documents in lieu of
paper documents, the use of double-sided printing and eco-friendly
appliances, etc. At the same time, the Company also organizes
occasionally tree planting activities for employees and promotional
activities to encourage the use of public transportation or walking
instead of driving, etc.

For details of environmental protection and social responsibility,
please refer to the Environmental, Social and Governance Report
published on the Company’s website (www.cgnmc.com).
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Relationship with suppliers and customers

During the Reporting Period, the Company maintained a good
relationship with its suppliers and customers.

Social Participation

The Company actively participates in social charity, encouraging and
organizing employees to participate in the “Love” activities such as
helping and visiting people in need.

Equal opportunity and diversity

The Company respects and treats every employee the same, and
promotes equal opportunity and a diversification policy regardless of
age, gender or marital status.

Compliance with laws and regulations

As at 31 December 2024 and thereafter up to the date of this report,
to the knowledge of the Directors, the Group complied in all material
aspects with applicable laws, rules and regulations that have a
significant impact on the Group.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

During the Reporting Period, none of the Directors or their respective
associates had an interest in a business which competes or is likely
to compete, either directly or indirectly with the business of the Group
and any other conflicts of interest which any such person has or may
have with the Group.

SHARES AND DEBENTURES ISSUANCE

During the Reporting Period, the Company has not issued new
shares and debenture.

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available to
its Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Shares of the
Company.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

During the Reporting Period, the Company has not entered into any
equity-linked agreement.
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DONATIONS

During the Reporting Period, the Group donated US$500,000 to
Samruk-Kazyna in Kazakhstan to support the flood-stricken areas in
Kazakhstan.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available and to the best
knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the Company’s issued
shares has been held by the public throughout the Reporting Period
and thereafter up to the Latest Practicable Date, in compliance with
the requirements under the Listing Rules.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2024 have been audited by BDO Limited who will retire
and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment at the
forthcoming annual general meeting. There have been no changes of
the auditor of the Company in the past four years since the change of
auditor at the annual general meeting convened on 18 June 2020.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Other than the change of Directors and chief executive officer as
disclosed in this report, no material event affecting the Group that
needs to be reported to the Shareholders has occurred after the end
of the Reporting Period.

By Order of the Board
Wang Xianfeng
Chairman

Hong Kong, 20 March 2025
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Tel : +852 2218 8288
Fax: +852 2815 2239
www.bdo.com.hk

B AHERE

25t™ Floor Wing On Centre
111 Connaught Road Central
Hong Kong

EEE - +852 2218 8288
{&H : +852 2815 2239
www.bdo.com.hk

TO THE MEMBERS OF CGN MINING COMPANY LIMITED
(FEZRERRAR)

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of CGN Mining
Company Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 106 to 235, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2024, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes
in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2024, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSASs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the “Auditor’'s Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements” section of
our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA'’s “Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants” (the “Code”)
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional

judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated

financial statements of the current period. These matters were

addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial

statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we

do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

IMPAIRMENT ASSESSMENT ON AND
ACCOUNTING FOR THE INTEREST IN AN

ASSOCIATE

Refer to note 20 to the consolidated financial statements and the

accounting policies in notes 4(c),

The key audit matter

The Group has 49% interest in an associate,
Mining Company “Ortalyk” Limited Liability
Partnership (“‘Ortalyk”) which is an unlisted
company in Kazakhstan. As at 31 December
2024, the interest in Ortalyk held by the
Group is amounted to approximately
HK$3,399,334,000.

Following a review of the business, the outiook
for the industry and the market conditions,
as the uranium price and Kazakhstani
Tenge were in fluctuation, there is a risk of
impairment in respect of the interest in Ortalyk;
management has carried out the impairment
assessment on the interest in Ortalyk.

4(n) and 5(b)(iv).

How the matter was addressed in our audit

Our procedures were designed to review the
management’s assessment of the indicators
of impairment and assess the accuracy of the
accounting for interests in an associate. The
procedures included the following:

- discussed and assessed the indicators of
possible impairment with the management
and the component auditor and, where such
indicators were identified, assessed the
management’s impairment testing;

- evaluated the independence and competence
of the component auditors of an associate
outside Hong Kong;

- participated in the assessment process
undertaken by the component auditors
in respect of their audits of a significant
associate outside Hong Kong;
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The key audit matter

In addition, the Group’s share of profits or
losses of an associate which operate in
Kazakhstan for the year ended 31 December
2024 and the Group’s interests in an associate
at that date are significant in the context of the
Group’s consolidated financial statements.

We considered this is a key audit matter
because the impairment assessment on
the interest in Ortalyk involves a significant
degree of management judgement in
respect of the valuation methods and
assumptions for the estimation of the
recoverable amount of the interest in Ortalyk
as well as the material impact that the
Group’s associate have on the consolidated
financial statements.

TEREXARAT —TNFFR

Independent Auditor’s Report

How the matter was addressed in our audit

obtained an understanding of the
procedures planned to be performed by
the component auditors of a significant
associate outside Hong Kong to address
the significant risks identified and considered
whether the planned procedures were
appropriate for the purpose of the audit
of the Group’s consolidated financial
statements;

obtained reporting from the component
auditors of a significant associate outside
Hong Kong and discussed with these
auditors matters of significance in their
audits which could impact the Group’s
consolidated financial statements, the work
performed thereon and their conclusions;
and

assessed whether the financial information
of an associate outside Hong Kong after
the adjustments made by management was
prepared in accordance with the Group’s
accounting policies.
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OTHER INFORMATION IN THE ANNUAL
REPORT

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises the information included in the Company’s
annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the HKICPA and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are also responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process. The Audit Committee assists the directors in
discharging their responsibility in this regard.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as
a body, in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or
accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

BB R &
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29N RREMMEEMAE - HAB B
AFEAREEMEMATBEIORER
o

EERE/RKFORE - ETERER
REBEZEAETHNEZAREEREKN
BEERBR A - SARRFRM A] LA R ERFE R EE AR 5
1 IRAIETERNE B E AR AT B
FEGAMBBREMERKBERS VTR
RETEHHEERTE » BIBAR AEAHER
PR

REFEERENETEZE - RFER
BXHE  RNEBEFZARTRHZRE
SEREIE o FAPITR

. a ! Ko S A R PR Sk B AR T B 2K
RAEMBRREFEENHERRM
MR - AT MITERR T IAR
HBZERRE - ARERTRSEE
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Eit - AREGFAIBES RERR - B
& BRER ERRL - HEE
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WEFM BB IRE A SRR R
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Fro BEEMAIFE BEREAEE
HEERMERER -
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Independent Auditor’s Report

BB R &

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continuead)

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concemn.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information
of the entities or business units within the Group as a basis for
forming an opinion on the consolidated financial statements.
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and review of
the audit work performed for purposes of the group audit. We
remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other

matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant

audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control

that we identify during our audit.

REMEBEZGSUBHRERZ
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Independent Auditor’s Report

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continuead)

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters
that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and
where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards
applied.

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

BDO Limited

Certified Public Accountants

Ng Wai Man

Practising Certificate no. PO5309

Hong Kong, 20 March 2025

BB R &

REMEBEZGSUBHRERZ
BE#®E
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

mEeEsEkAMEZEKRER

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #,£2024F 12 A31 B ILFE

2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FEx FExT
(Represented)
(&7
Continuing operations HEMEK
Revenue —E 7 8,624,272 7,359,952
Cost of sales SHEMN A (8,690,392) (7,231,197)
Gross (loss)/profit EAC- P (66,120) 128,755
Other operating income and other gain ~ E A A& I A LA K H b Uk
or loss, net OB IRF R 8 57,440 29,826
Selling and distribution expenses HE RN HAEZ (15,073) (18,707)
Administrative expenses TR (56,508) (52,079)
Share of results of a joint venture B —HA B hEEER 399,402 272,735
Share of results of an associate JE(E—fEB & R REE 616,876 319,906
Finance costs EMRA 9 (121,806) (131,464)
Profit before taxation BRBE AT 2R 814,211 548,972
Income tax expenses iz 10 (287,485) (62,369)
Profit for the year from continuing REFEMEERN
operations IREFEEF 526,726 486,603
Discontinued operations BRIELER
(Loss)/profit for the year from REBKRIEEBHARFE
discontinued operations, net of tax (E518) % F) - $0BR7
B 39(c) (184,745) 10,496
Profit for the year KEEHF 341,981 497,099
Attributable to Owners of the Company <A Bl A A&
— from continuing operations —REFEEER 526,726 486,603
— from discontinued operations —RADRIEER (184,745) 10,496
341,981 497,099
Earnings per share BRAEF 13
Basic VN
— from continuing operations —REFHEIEES HK6.93 cents  HK6.40 cents
6.9378 1L 6.407811l
— from discontinued operations —REBERIEER HK(2.43) cents  HKO0.14 cents
(2.43)784L 0.1474
— From continuing operations and —REFEEEBH R
discontinued operations B IEET HK4.50 cents  HKG6.54 cents
4.5078 1l 6.5478 41l
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

e mEeEsEkAEMEZEKER

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z2024%12 431 B L&

2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FEx Fix
(Represented)
(&%)
Diluted g
— from continuing operations —REFEEEL HK6.93 cents  HKB6.40 cents
6.937811L 6.40784L
— from discontinued operations —REBRIEER HK(2.43) cents  HKO0.14 cents
(2.43)741L 0.1474L
— From continuing operations and —REFEEEB R
discontinued operations BRIEER HK4.50 cents  HKG6.54 cents
4505811l 6.54711l
Profit for the year REFEHEF 11 341,981 497,099
Other comprehensive income Hitt2mEEE
Items that will not be subsequently B BT EETHEE
reclassified to profit or loss: PBmiEE -
Fair value loss in financial assets at fair &2 AT AE A2 E U
value through other comprehensive mIEMEEZANE
income 518 (25,468) =
Items that may be subsequently R B 5 EE R
reclassified to profit or loss: HIEE -
Exchange differences on translation of MEWE AR Bk
financial statements of subsidiaries EEZERZETE (8,952) (11,682)
Exchange differences on translation of BHHE—ME a1 ENBE
financial statements of a joint venture WREACIENZ5 (84,917) 14,219
Exchange differences on translation of REBE N B ISIRE
financial statements of associates EEZERZR (174,913) 26,994
Release of exchange reserve upon A& — R A A R
disposal of an associate BN PE 8,422 =
Total comprehensive income AEEZHKRGEE
for the year 56,153 526,630
Attributable to Owners of the RABHEE AEMN
Company
— from continuing operations —REFEMEEL 279,726 499,636
— from discontinued operations —REBRIEER (223,573) 26,994

56,153 526,630
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

memERRE e

As at 31 December 2024 72202412 A31H

2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET FET
Non-current assets FREBEE
Property, plant and equipment M - R MR 16 770 1,076
Right-of-use assets EREEE 17(a) 4,693 673
Financial assets at fair value through BEAnEARMER
other comprehensive income Wtz emEE 21 355,889 =
Investment properties WEME 18 - 39,141
Interest in a joint venture R—HEEEhEER 19 641,143 550,389
Interests in associates i /N o 20 3,399,334 3,945,017
Other receivables Hofh pE Y ERIE 23 448 50
Deferred tax assets BIETIIEEE 32 6 9
4,402,283 4,536,355
Current assets MENEE
Inventories "rE 22 2,158,335 697,245
Trade and other receivables FEMBRF M A IR 23 80,360 461,551
Amount due from an intermediate JE W — Rl R R AR A 7
holding company KIE 24 - 1,655
Amount due from a fellow subsidiary JEW—RIR ZHI B A A
A 25 17 18
Income tax recoverable AT UL B TS TR R 47,503 36,300
Bank balances and cash RITETFRIRE 26 1,153,789 1,017,239
3,440,004 2,214,008
Total assets EEHE 7,842,287 6,750,363
Current liabilities REEE
Trade and other payables RS R EMENKE 27 796,857 999,401
Loans from a fellow subsidiary RE—HRRWER R
ZER 30 1,395,914 -
Loans from an intermediate holding e —EPEERAT
company ZE®R 28 - 17,656
Bank borrowings RITEN 29 1,519,996 348,979
Lease liabilities HEBE 17(b) 1,534 537
Amount due to an intermediate holding  E{~f — &R EHEAZ A 7
company IE 24 12,058 10,938
Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries JE A<t [R) 22 B B 12 1 5KIR 25 1,385 1,598
Income tax payable FEfTPTIS TR 3K 4,444 12,119
3,732,188 1,391,228
Net current (liabilities)/assets RE(AE) EBEFE (292,184) 822,780
Total assets less current liabilities EEABERRBERS 4,110,099 5,359,135
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e REMBEARR R

As at 31 December 2024 722024412 A31H

2024 2023
2024 20234
HK$’000 HK$'000
F&T FETT
Non-current liabilities FRBERS
Loans from a fellow subsidiary RE—HRZRWB AR
ZER 30 - 1,395,914
Lease liabilities HEaE 17(b) 3,065 =
Deferred tax liabilities BIEFIEAE 32 185,328 83,030
188,393 1,478,944
Net assets BEFHE 3,921,706 3,880,191
Capital and reserves EARREE
Share capital [N 31 76,007 76,007
Reserves s 3,845,699 3,804,184
Total equity EREE 3,921,706 3,880,191
Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors RE RSP N IERE TR
Wang Xianfeng T 5% Xu Junmei R E

Director % Director %
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
Y . .

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #,£2024F 12 A31 B ILFE

Equity attributable to owners of the Company

LGN
Fair value
Properties  Exchange  through other Share
Share Share  revaluation translation comprehensive options ~ Reseve  Retained Other
capital ~ premium reserve resenve income reserve reserve fnd  eamings resene
ROAET
{H AEH2E
Br  ROEE  EHEE  ENRE  WEGR : RREE  REER  EUGR 3t
HKSO00  HKS000  HKS000  HK$000 HKS000 HKSODD  HKSO00  HKS000  HKS000
T T TR TER Thn j Tt TR TR
(Note a) (Note b)
(it (Hh)
At January 2024 ROUEIR1R 6007 2447454 4059 (705,660) - 154 7563 21008 (10234 3880191
Prot for te yer FERAH - - - - - - - o - 9
Othercomprehensive income; Ef2E0E

Farvalieloss i frencd assetsat fir-~—~ RAAEFALH2E
e troughoter comprerensie. WA ZEREE?
L

iome LheEs - - - - (B - - - - By
Eichange dfeences ntansainof ~ £EHEA A ER
fenca saemensofsubsdates B4 /EfEE - - - bW - - - - - (9
Bichange dfeences on fersefoncl ~ £E-FALLENE
ol seements ofafoi et AL 7B 2E - - - () g g g - - e
Eichenge dferences ntersefinof -~ BEBERTERHR
fngnoe staements o asociaes ELIBHEE - - - (T - - - - - (9N
Reeaeofechanereseneupon  REE-FESTE
disposal of an associate EniE - - - 842 - - - - - 842
Tote compenensie icome o teyea  FEE2ENESE - - - %) 54 - - W - B
Shareofote esenes fmassocele.  [ER-FEAT
i - - - - - - - - 8164 8164
Proft eppropatons iniy - - - - - - f T = -
Dividends paid Efifig - - - - - - - 2 - (2
Trensler o retned eamings upon dsposel A4 EGEEHAS
o assfs [REEH - - (4059) - - - - B (B

At31 December 2024 ROMENRAR 16007 2447464 - [660N) (2460) 15 114583 2404360 (129364 3921706
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

hEERBER

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z2024%12 431 B L&

Eouty atiributableto owners of the
] Bl

Properties
revaluation
T8SeIVe

Exchange
Shre Shere

captd — premium sEne |

Eikf
HKS 000
Thn

HKS 000
Tin

alr value

through other
frangiaion ~ comprehensive

I 6SeNve

HKS 000

a
HKS 000
e

Share
options
resene

(ther
fesene

Relained
eamings

Resenve
fund

e
HKS 00
Tin

At1 January 2023 HBE1R1E 16007 2447454 4059 (735,191) - 15 583 16381 (107806 3348139
Prot for te year FEERH - - - - - - S f -
Ot comprefiensve income: RN
Bichenge dffeences ontarsaonof - EMEAAERBRES
fiencil setements of subsidries EiEE - - - (6% - - - - - [
Bichange dfenceson tersafonef~ £E-FALPENE
fanial satements of a o ventue ﬁfﬁiz[&%éﬁ - - -1 - - - - -1
Eichenge dferences ntersainof -~ BERERTERHR
finencil stetements of associetes ELERER - - - 26,004 - - - - - P
Totd comprehensive ncome fr e yer~ AEE2ENALSE - - - - - - - R
Srarsoloherresenes f massocite. TR EATE Nz - - - - - - - - 540 542
At 31 December 2023 R3EAA 16007 2447 464 4059 (705,660) - 154 983 210918 (102364 3,880,191
Note a: Subsidiaries in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) have appropriated Mizka: RAEAREMB((FERE])KZZHBAR
10% of the profit to reserve fund. The reserve fund is required to be retained in BB Z10%BAREEES - FHEESA
the accounts of the subsidiaries for specific purposes. REBARMB AR ZRE AERERS -
Note b: The other reserve represents (i) the difference between the consideration fiskb « EMFEEIBOREBLRIZESIT 2 ¥4 46 ffilk

of United States dollars (“USD”) 133,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$1,030,899,000) and the aggregate paid-in capital of 1t M4 IHE RIEE
BMRAF] (for identification purpose, in English, Beijing Sino-Kazakh Uranium
Resources Investment Company Limited, referred to as “Beijing Sino-Kazakh”)
of Renminbi 823,770,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$944,534,000)
acquired under business combinations under common control, (i) the difference
between the consideration of USD8,553,800 (equivalent to approximately
HK$66,335,000) and the aggregate paid-in capital of CGN Global Uranium
Limited (the “CGN Global”) of USD3,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$23,265,000) acquired under business combinations under common control
and (jii) share of other reserve of associates. As at 31 December 2024, the share
of other reserve of Fission Uranium Corp., an associate of the Company had
been transferred to retained earnings upon the disposal of the associate.

B8 MR8 133,000,000 T ([FEL]) (WER
1,030,899,00078 7T) B4L AP b $h & RIEE
BRAR ([tRPRE) BEHEAEEAR
#823,770,0007T (K95 7°944,534,000/% 7T)
ZHEMERE - (VBRERIESI T EBE 0K
M LE8,553,800% 7t (415 7#266,335,000
FTT) B EXBRR AR E B R AR ([
BB HE A R]]) B S A4 %83,000,000
FE T (K% 123,265,000/ 7T) 2 K =58

(iii)ﬁ1£ﬂ$ﬁ%ﬂ79’]ﬁﬁﬁf‘%ﬁ R20244
12A31H » R HE AR AHE & A R]Fission
Uranium Corp.7% - J,EﬁEﬂﬁﬁé’.*Z‘TEiM%ﬁﬁ
EEREREAT -
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

II‘/_\éiﬁﬁ)\ﬁE% 777777777777777777777777777777777777777777777777777777777777777777777777777777777777777777777777777777777777777777777777777777777777777777777777777777777777777 g

For the year ended 31 December 2024 &, 202412 A31A It FE

2024 2023
20245 2023F
HK$'000 HK$'000
THRT FHT
(Represented)
(Z31)
OPERATING ACTIVITIES geTE
Profit before taxation BRELAT R
~ From continuing operations ~REBEEER 814,211 548,972
— From discontinued operations - REBKIEER (184,745) 10,496
Adjustments for: AT RBEELRRE
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment nE - BERRERE 362 226
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE 1,539 1,654
Loss on disposal of investment properties HERENEEFE 2,647 =
Loss on disposal of an associate HE ML a8 139,523 =
Changes in fair value of investment properties RENELNEED 12,113 6,026
Interest income FEBA (39,958) (17,951)
Interest expenses on loans from an intermediate RE—EREERARERZ
holding company g iﬂj 963 976
Interest expenses on loan from immediate REERERATERZFSZE
holding company 5,013 158
Interest expenses on loans from a fellow subsidiary RE—BREMNBRAREHRZ
MEX 67,952 67,769
Interest expenses on bank borrowings RITERFISZ L 47,712 62,527
Interest expense on lease liabilities HEAEMNS IS 166 34
Share of results from a joint venture EE—HAEEEE (399,402) (272,735)
Share of results from associates [ E A REE (586,414) (333,257
Operating cash flow before movements in EEE YR KERENE
working capital (118,318) 74,895
(Increase)/decrease in inventories FEOEM /B (1,461,090) 1,351,226
Decrease/(increase) in trade and other receivables FEMR S R At MR IB R D/ () 387,321 (112,878)
Decrease in amount due from an intermediate B —EREER AR FIERD
holding company 1,655 24
Decrease in amount due from a fellow subsidiary U —RRRKBARFERD 1 -
Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables FER R R A MR, (R D) 330,955 (249,276)
Increase in amount due to an intermediate holding S — R REERR A B RUB I AN
company 1,120 9,818
(Decrease)/increase in amounts due to fellow subsidiaries FET[E Z Mt B A FZ0E (5 /5m (213) 538
Cash (used in)/generated from operations BE (M) /FiERe (858,569) 1,074,347
Hong Kong profits tax paid ENEBFEH = (6,151)
People’s Republic of China Enterprise Income Tax paid 24 # AR AR 55 (11,101) (19,820)
The United Kingdom Corporation Tax paid EOEEHES - (8,817)
Kazakhstan withholding tax paid ERRERIERIRMEH (33,686) =
Net cash (used in)/generated from TEEH (FTA) /SR ETE
operating activities (903,356) 1,039,559
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
HERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z2024%12 431 B L&

2024 2023
2024 20236
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET TR
(RETESENE)
(&3
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REEE
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEVE  BERH (57) (36)
Interest income received BIEF 2 IA 33,431 12,991
Proceeds from disposal of investment property HERBMEMEIE 25,332 =
Dividend received from a joint venture, net of tax ~ WH—FAZCERE - B
& 209,136 147,790
Dividend received from an associate, net of tax WE— g E D RRE - B
& 309,411 338,047
Net cash generated from investing activites ~REZHFAERETFHE 577,253 498,792
FINANCING ACTIVITIES BMEEH 36
Dividend paid ERERE (22,802) -
Cash received in inventory lease BWGEERERS - 534,170
Cash repayment in inventory lease EBEFEHERS (534,170) (350,948)
Interest paid on loan from immediate holding RREBERERARIEHE
company FIE - (295)
Interest paid on loans from a fellow subsidiary HkE—HREMBARER
ERFIE (72,965) (67,769)
Interest paid on bank borrowings RETEREAFE (49,173) (55,783)
Interest paid to intermediate holding company SR FHREERAAMNE (1,182) (757)
Repayment of loan from immediate BEERERARANER
holding company - (47,694)
Advance of loans from an intermediate holding RE—EREERARERZ
company B - 17,656
Repayment of loans from an intermediate ERRE—RAPEERARZ
holding company B (17,656) =
Advance of bank borrowings BITERER 1,519,996 348,979
Repayment of bank borrowings BRBITER (348,979) (957,752)
Repayment of lease liabilities VG =L (1,675) (1,719)
Net cash generated from/(used in) financing ~ @& EEFE,/ (F )
activities HeRE 471,394 (581,912)
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND RERREEEER
CASH EQUIVALENTS EhEE 145,291 956,439
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT FORERRESEER
BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 1,017,239 52,390
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes NEEXREF B (8,741) 8,410
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END ERAERREEERR
OF THE YEAR 1,153,789 1,017,239
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GENERAL

CGN Mining Company Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted company
with limited liability. The shares of the Company are listed
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”). Its parent company is FEHZEZEE AR D
7] (China Uranium Development Company Limited) (“China
Uranium Development”), a company incorporated in Hong
Kong and a wholly-owned subsidiary of Ff E#x 3 E B R
A |} (CGNPC Uranium Resources Co. Ltd.) (“CGNPC-URC”),
which is in turn a subsidiary of R ElEZEE AR A A (China
General Nuclear Power Corporation) (“CGNPC”). CGNPC is
the ultimate parent company of the Company. Both CGNPC-
URC and CGNPC were state-owned enterprises established
in the PRC.

The address of the registered office and the principal place
of business of the Company are disclosed in the “Corporate
Information” section to the annual report.

The principal activities of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to the “Group”) are trading of natural
uranium and other investments.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e VI RAR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z2024%12 431 B L FE

—REHR

PEZEEAERAR(RRF]) R
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e VI ERAR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z2024%12 431 B L&

2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

(a)

Adoption of amended HKFRSs

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”)
for the first time, which are mandatorily effective for
the Group’s annual period beginning on 1 January
2024 for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements:

o Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current and Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants (Amendments to HKAS 1),

o Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback
(Amendments to HKFRS 16);

o Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (Revised)
Presentation of Financial Statements —
Classification by the Borrower of a Term Loan
that Contains a Repayment on Demand Clause
(HK Int 5 Reviseaq); and

o Supplier Finance Arrangements (Amendments to
HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7).

The application of the amendments to HKFRSs in
the current year has no material effect on the amount
reported and/or on the disclosures set out in these
consolidated financial statements.

2. ERMEEBYBHREER
(IEBMBREER])

(a)

RS B RMBRE
3|

RAFEE  AEEEEKX
ERATHBEEFAA
e ((BASMAE]) BH
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2.

ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(Continued)

(b) New and amended HKFRSs that have been issued
but are not yet effective

The following new and amended HKFRSs, potentially
relevant to the Group’s consolidated financial
statements, have been issued, but are not yet effective
and have not been early adopted by the Group. The
Group’s current intention is to apply these changes
on the date they become effective.

o Lack of Exchangeability (Amendments to HKAS
21 and HKFRS 1) 7;

e Amendments to Classification and Measurement
of Financial Instruments (Amendments to HKFRS
9 and HKFRS 7) ?;

o Annual Improvements to HKFRS Accounting

Standard-Volume Il (Amendments to HKFRS 1,
HKFRS 7, HKFRS 9, HKFRS 10 and HKAS 7) ?;

o Presentation and Disclosure in Financial
Statements (HKFRS 18) %

RNERMBREER
(IEBMBREER])

(&

(b)

BB RERZHET
KRBT EBMBRERE
Ll

ARG E Y IR AR T
EAREEZEAMBHHRERA
BEMERE c ERMIE R KR E
M RBIEFTBBY
BHREER - AEEHA
AERNZREFEBHENER
fERZEEE

. hE BN (FEE
GPERIFE21HRE
BRI EERIET
SEZAEET)

. & @ T A E
BZEE (BB
e ERIEIFERE
BB EERET
RZIEET)?

. BB B HEER
Bi BRI FREH
#—ZI (FEY %
WEEREIR - &
BRI IEERET
% BEYMBHRE
BRIFEINE - BB
BHEERF 109
REEEERET
FZBEET)?

. BB IREZE TR
E(EBYBHEE
HIEZ18%8)3



TEREXARAT —TNFFR

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e VI ERAR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z2024%12 431 B L&

RNERMBREER
(IEBMBREER])

ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL 2.
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

(Continued) €=
(b)  New and amended HKFRSs that have been issued (b) CEMGEEKRERZHT
but are not yet effective (Continueqd) RRETEBUHREE
Al(&)

. Hong Kong Interpretation 5 Presentation of . BBEZEES R
Financial Statements — Classification by the HEkZEZ —EX
Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains a ANHEESEZKE
Repayment on Demand Clause (HK Int 5) 3; BIRXZ HFAHEH

o (BEREE
5%)% i

. Sales or Contribution of Assets between an o REZERABE N A]
Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture KA EIEZ A
(Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28) % EMHERFA (BF
and HEHEERZET0

BREEDEERE
28FKZMEET) 0 R

. Contracts Referencing Nature-dependent . FRIGCHEERED
Electricity (Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HE R (BB B#R
HKFRS 7)2. LERIFE IR B

B 2ERE 75
ZIEET)? o
1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 1 ®2025%F1 A1
January 2025 Az & FRIRH
FEHERR AR
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 2 H20264F1 A1
January 2026 Az & FIRH
FEEHRRE A
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 3 K20274F1 A1
January 2027 Bz & FAIRH
FEER AR
4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a 4 RIFETE A 8k
date to be determined ZRFEBNEE

HiR AR
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2.

ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(Continued)

(b)

New and amended HKFRSs that have been issued
but are not yet effective (Continued)

Except as otherwise provided below, the directors of
the Company anticipate that the application of all other
new and amendments to HKFRSs will have no material
impact on the consolidated financial statements in the
foreseeable future.

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in

Financial Statements

HKFRS 18, which sets out requirements on
presentation and disclosures in financial statements,
will replace HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial
Statements. This new HKFRS Accounting Standard,
while carrying forward many of the requirements in
HKAS 1, introduces new requirements to present
specified categories and defined subtotals in the
statement of profit or loss; provide disclosures on
management-defined performance measures in
the notes to the financial statements and improve
aggregation and disaggregation of information to be
disclosed in the financial statements. In addition, some
HKAS 1 paragraphs have been moved to HKAS 8 and
HKFRS 7. Minor amendments to HKAS 7 Statement of
Cash Flows and HKAS 33 Earnings per Share are also
made.
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2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(Continued)

(b)

New and amended HKFRSs that have been issued
but are not yet effective (Continued)

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in
Financial Statements (Continued)

HKFRS 18, and amendments to other standards, will
be effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2027, with early application permitted.
The application of the new standard is expected to
affect the presentation of the statement of profit or
loss and disclosures in the future financial statements.
The Group is in the process of assessing the detailed
impact of HKFRS 18 on the Group’s consolidated
financial statements.

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION

(a)

Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with all HKFRSs, Hong
Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and
Interpretations (hereinafter collectively referred to as
the “HKFRSs”) and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited.
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3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

(b)

(c)

Basis of measurement

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared under the historical cost basis except for
investment properties and financial instruments that are
measured at fair values as explained in the accounting
policies set out below.

Notwithstanding that the Group had net current
liabilities of approximately HK$292,184,000 as at 31
December 2024, the directors of the Company are of
view that the Group is able to maintain itself as a going
concern, by taking into consideration of the following:

1) CGNPC-URC, an intermediate holding company
of the Company, will continue to provide adequate
funds for the Group to meet its liabilities if
needed; and

2) The existing available facilities of USD200
million and USD180 million have been granted
by CGNPC Huasheng Investment Limited
(“CPNPC Huasheng”) until 2027 and 2025
respectively, in which approximately of
USD200 million (equivalents to approximately
HK$1,551,016,000) had not been utilised as at
31 December 2024.

Accordingly, these consolidated financial statements have
been prepared on a going concern basis and do not
include any adjustments which would be required should
the Group be unable to continue as a going concern.

Functional and presentation currencies

The functional currency of the Company is USD. As
the Company is listed in Hong Kong, the directors of
the Company consider that it is appropriate to present
the consolidated financial statements in Hong Kong
dollars (“HK$").
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION

(a)

(b)

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the
financial statements of the Group. Inter-company
transactions and balances between group companies
together with unrealised profits are eliminated in full
in preparing the consolidated financial statements.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of impairment on the
asset transferred, in which case the loss is recognised
in profit or loss.

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an investee over which the Company
is able to exercise control. The Company controls
an investee if all three of the following elements are
present: (i) power over the investee, (i) exposure, or
rights, to variable returns from the investee, and (iii)
the ability to use its power to affect those variable
returns. Control is reassessed whenever facts and
circumstances indicate that there may be a change in
any of these elements of control.

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less
impairment loss, if any. The results of subsidiaries
are accounted for by the Company on the basis of
dividend received and receivable.
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4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(c)

Associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has
significant influence and that is neither a subsidiary nor
a joint arrangement. Significant influence is the power
to participate in the financial and operating policy
decisions of the investee but is not control or joint
control over those policies.

Associates are accounted for using the equity method
whereby they are initially recognised at cost and
thereafter, their carrying amount are adjusted for
the Group’s share of the post-acquisition change
in the associates’ net assets except that losses in
excess of the Group’s interest in the associate are not
recognised unless there is an obligation to make good
those losses.

Profits and losses arising on transactions between
the Group and its associates are recognised only to
the extent of unrelated investors’ interests in the
associate. The investor’s share in the associate’s
profits and losses resulting from these transactions
are eliminated against the carrying value of the
associate. Where unrealised losses provide evidence
of impairment of the asset transferred, they are
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Any premium paid for an associate above the fair value
of the Group’s share of the identifiable assets, liabilities
and contingent liabilities acquired is capitalised and
included in the carrying amount of the associate.
Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value
of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost
of investment, after reassessment, is recognised
immediately in profit or loss. Where there is objective
evidence that the investment in an associate has been
impaired, the carrying amount of the investment is
tested for impairment in the same way as other non-
financial assets.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(c)

(d)

Associates (Continued)

The Group loses significant influence over an associate
when it losses the power to participate in the financial
and operating policy decisions of an associate. Any
gains and losses on disposal of interest in an associate
are recognised in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income in the year of disposal. In
addition, the Group accounts for all amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income in relation
to that associate on the same basis as would be
required if that associate had directly disposed of the
related assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or loss
previously recognised in other comprehensive income
by that associate would be reclassified to profit or loss
on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities, the
Group reclassifies the gain or loss from equity to profit
or loss (as a reclassification adjustment) upon disposal
of the relevant associate.

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
interests in associates are carried at cost less
impairment losses, if any. The results of associates
are accounted for by the Company on the basis of
dividends received and receivable during the year.

Joint arrangements

The Group is a party to a joint arrangement where
there is a contractual arrangement that confers joint
control over the relevant activities of the arrangement
to the Group and at least one other party. Joint control
is assessed under the same principles as control over
subsidiaries.

The Group classifies its interest in joint arrangements as
joint venture where the Group has rights to only the net
assets of the joint arrangement.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(d)

(e)

Joint arrangements (Continued)

In assessing the classification of interest in joint
arrangements, the Group considers:

° the structure of the joint arrangement;

° the legal form of joint arrangements structured
through a separate vehicle;

o the contractual terms of the joint arrangement
agreement; and

° any other facts and circumstances (including
any other contractual arrangements).

The Group accounts for its interest in a joint venture
in the same manner as investments in associates (i.e.
using the equity method — see note 4(c)).

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost
less accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses.

The cost of property, plant and equipment includes its
purchase price and the costs directly attributable to
the acquisition of the items.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(e)

Property, plant and equipment (Continueq)

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated so
as to write off their cost or valuation net of expected
residual value over their estimated useful lives on a
straight-line basis. The useful lives, residual value and
depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at the end of each reporting period. The
useful lives are as follows:

Buildings Over the shorter of the term

of the lease or 40 years

Leasehold improvements Over the shorter of the term

of the lease or 5 years
Furniture, fixtures and 10% t0 27%
office equipment

An asset is written down immediately to its recoverable
amount if its carrying amount is higher than the
asset’s estimated recoverable amount.

The gain or loss on disposal of an item of property,
plant and equipment is the difference between the
net sale proceeds and its carrying amount, and is
recognised in profit or loss on disposal.
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4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

U]

(9)

Investment properties

Investment property is property held either to earn
rentals or for capital appreciation or for both, but
not held for sale in the ordinary course of business,
use in the production or supply of goods or services
or for administrative purposes. Investment property
is measured at cost on initial recognition and
subsequently at fair value with any change therein
recognised in profit or loss.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an
investment property are recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income in the year of retirement or disposal.

Leases
The Group as a lessee

All leases are required to be capitalised in the
consolidated statement of financial position as right-of-
use assets and lease liabilities, but accounting policy
choices exist for an entity to choose not to capitalise
(i) leases which are short-term leases and/or (i) leases
for which the underlying asset is of low-value. The
Group has elected not to recognise right-of-use assets
and lease liabilities for low-value assets and leases for
which at the commencement date have a lease term
of less than 12 months. The lease payments associated
with those leases have been expensed on straight-line
pbasis over the lease term.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(9)

Leases (Continued)

Right-of-use asset

The right-of-use asset is initially recognised at cost and

would comprise:

)

(i)

)

the amount of the initial measurement of the
lease liability (see below for the accounting
policy to account for lease liability);

any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives
received;

any initial direct costs incurred by the lessee;
and

an estimate of costs to be incurred by the
lessee in dismantling and removing the
underlying asset to the condition required by
the terms and conditions of the lease, unless
those costs are incurred to produce inventories.

The Group measures the right-of-use assets

applying a cost model. Under the cost model, the

Group measures the right-to-use at cost, less any

accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses,

and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liability.
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4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(9)

Leases (Continued)

Lease liability

The lease liability is recognised at the present value

of the lease payments that are not paid at the date of

commencement of the lease. The lease payments are

discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease, if

that rate can be readily determined. If that rate cannot

be readily determined, the Group uses the lessee’s

incremental borrowing rate.

The following payments for the right-to-use the

underlying asset during the lease term that are not

paid at the commencement date of the lease are

considered to be lease payments:

)

)

(V)

fixed lease payments less any lease incentives
receivable;

variable lease payments that depend on an
index or a rate, initially measured using the
index or rate as at commencement date;

amounts expected to be payable by the lessee
under residual value guarantees;

exercise price of a purchase option, if the
lessee is reasonably certain to exercise that
option; and

payments of penalties for terminating the lease,
if the lease term reflects the lessee exercising
an option to terminate the lease.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(9)

Leases (Continued)
Lease liability (Continued)

Subsequent to the commencement date, the Group
measures the lease liability by:

(i) increasing the carrying amount to reflect
interest on the lease liability;

(i reducing the carrying amount to reflect the
lease payments made; and

(iii) remeasuring the carrying amount to reflect any
reassessment or lease modification, or to reflect
revised in-substance fixed lease payments.

The Group as a lessor

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the
terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership of the leased assets to the
lessee. All other leases are classified as operating
leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised
in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term
of the relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred in
negotiating and arranging an operating lease are
added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and
recognised as an expense on the straight-line basis
over the lease term.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 4. BARETBRER®
INFORMATION (Continued)
(g)  Leases (Continued) (99 HEH@
The Group as a lessor (Continued) FEBEBHHA (&)
Inventory lease income arises when the natural uranium FEHERARETEEL
leased to counter parties have been bought back by REERBOERSHHE
the Group at a lower price. It is recognised when the EMRAMKELE - FE
natural uranium the Group has obtained the control HEWARAERBESFR
of the natural uranium returned by the counterparties. 5 77 3R [B] #Y X 7A 8k &9 12 5]
These lease arrangements typically cover three to four ERFHER - ZEHELTH
months. The Group transfers the right to control the BERAE=ZZN@EA - &
use of the natural uranium inventory in exchange for SEEERRAMTESER
consideration, which is recognised on a straight-line RIE S ABRBRE B
basis. AREBRESERER -
(h)  Financial instruments (hy =S®IA
() Financial assets () THEE
A financial asset (unless it is a trade receivable eREE BRIEEDT
without a significant financing component) SERABELOSH
is initially measured at fair value plus, for an i ORI E /N
item not at fair value through profit or loss, AEM(NIERIER
transaction costs that are directly attributable to W IR RN AR B A
its acquisition or issue. Trade receivable without Bam) AEETT
a significant financing component is initially HEAER EEEN
measured at the transaction price. MR GEARGTE ©
TEEAMET S
MEWEZRN LS

BRI HERE -

All regular way purchases and sales of financial TREENMBE
assets are recognised on the trade date, that is, REERZZA AN
the date that the Group commits to purchase AEEAEBEX
or sell the asset. HEZEEH)®
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases EEHEBEREE
or sales of financial assets that require delivery BER—RIEMSR
of assets within the period generally established Bl =18 ] 3% 7€ 2 Bf
by regulation or convention in the marketplace. AARNEEZS

MEE -
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(h) Financial instruments (Continued)

()

Financial assets (Continued)
Debt instruments

The Company classifies all of its debt
instruments at amortised cost:

Amortised cost: Assets that are held for
collection of contractual cash flows where
those cash flows represent solely payments
of principal and interest are measured at
amortised cost. Financial assets at amortised
cost are subsequently measured using the
effective interest method. Interest income,
foreign exchange gains and losses and
impairment are recognised in profit or loss. Any
gain on derecognition is recognised in profit or
loss.

Fair value through other comprehensive income
(“FVTOCI”)

The Group has investment in a listed entity
which is not accounted for as a subsidiary,

an associate or a jointly controlled entity.

For this investment, the Group has made an
irrevocable election to classify the investment at
fair value through other comprehensive income
rather than through profit or loss as the Group
considers this measurement to be the most
representative of the business model for this
asset. It is carried at fair value with changes in
fair value recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in the fair value
through other comprehensive income reserve.
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4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(h)

Financial instruments (Continued)

()

(i)

Financial assets (Continueq)

Fair value through other comprehensive income
(“FVTOCI”) (Continued)

Upon disposal any balance within fair value
through other comprehensive income reserve is
reclassified directly to retained earnings and is
not reclassified to profit or loss.

Dividends are recognised in profit or loss,
unless the dividend clearly represents a
recovery of part of the cost of the investment,
in which case the full or partial amount of the
dividend is recorded against the associated
investment carrying amount.

Impairment loss on financial assets

The Group recognises loss allowances for
expected credit loss (‘ECLs”) on financial assets
measured at amortised cost including trade
and other receivables, amount due from an
intermediate holding company, amount due
from a fellow subsidiary and bank balances.
ECLs are measured on either of the following
bases:

o 12-months ECLs: these are ECLs that
result from possible default events within
the 12 months after the reporting date;
and
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 4. EARETAHBERER®
INFORMATION (Continued)
(h)  Financial instruments (Continued) (hy S@IA®E

i) — EHEEZBIEER

(i) Impairment loss on financial assets (Continued)

° Lifetime ECLs: these are ECLs that
result from all possible default events
over the expected life of a financial
instrument. The maximum period
considered when estimating ECLs is the
maximum contractual period over which
the Group is exposed to credit risk.

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of
credit losses. Credit losses are measured as
the difference between all contractual cash
flows that are due to the Group in accordance
with the contract and all the cash flows that the
Group expects to receive. The shortfall is then
discounted at an approximation to the assets’
original effective interest rate.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECLs for
trade receivables. The expected credit losses
on these financial assets are estimated on an
individual basis for customer with significant
balances, estimated based on the Group’s
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for
factors that are specific to the debtors, general
economic conditions and an assessment of
both the current as well as the forecast direction
of conditions at the reporting date, including
time value of money where appropriate.
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4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(h)

Financial instruments (Continued)

(i)

Impairment loss on financial assets (Continued)

For all other financial instruments, the Group
measures the loss allowance equal to 12-month
ECLs, unless when there is a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
the Group recognises lifetime ECLs. The
assessment of whether lifetime ECLs should be
recognised is based on significant increase in
the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since
initial recognition.

When determining whether the credit risk of
a financial asset has increased significantly
since initial recognition and when estimating
ECLs, the Group considers reasonable and
supportable information that is relevant and
available without undue cost or effort. This
includes both quantitative and qualitative
information analysis, based on the Group’s
historical experience and informed credit
assessment and including forward-looking
information.

The Group presumes that the credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition
when contractual payments are more than
30 days past due, unless the Group has
reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(h) Financial instruments (Continued)

(i) Impairment loss on financial assets (Continued)

The Group considers that default has occurred
when a financial asset is more than 90 days
past due unless the Group has reasonable
and supportable information to demonstrate
that a more lagging default criterion is more
appropriate.

The Group considers a financial asset to be
credit-impaired when:

° significant financial difficulty of the
debtor;
o a breach of contract, such as a default

or being more than 90 days past due;

° the restructuring of a loan or advance
by the Group on terms that the Group
would not consider otherwise;

o it is probable that the debtor will
enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation; or

o the disappearance of an active market
for a security because of financial
difficulties.
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4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(h)

Financial instruments (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

Impairment loss on financial assets (Continued)

The Group recognises an impairment gain or
loss in profit or loss for all financial instruments
with a corresponding adjustment to their
carrying amount through a loss allowance
account.

The Group writes off a financial asset when
there is information indicating that the debtor
is in severe financial difficulty and there is no
realistic prospect of recovery. Financial assets
written off may still be subject to enforcement
activities under the Group’s recovery
procedures, taking into account legal advice
where appropriate. Any recoveries made are
recognised in profit or loss.

Interest income on credit-impaired financial
assets is calculated based on the amortised
cost (i.e. the gross carrying amount less loss
allowance) of the financial asset. For non credit-
impaired financial assets, interest income is
calculated based on the gross carrying amount.

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method. The related interest expense is
recognised in profit or loss.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(h) Financial instruments (Continued)

(v)

v)

(vi)

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a financial
asset or financial liability and of allocating
interest income or interest expense over the
relevant period. The effective interest rate
is the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash receipts or payments through the
expected life of the financial asset or liability, or
where appropriate, a shorter period.

Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Group are
recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct
issue costs.

Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset when
the contractual rights to the future cash flows
in relation to the financial asset expire or when
the financial asset has been transferred and the
transfer meets the criteria for derecognition in
accordance with HKFRS 9.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the
obligation specified in the relevant contract is
discharged, cancelled or expires.
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4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(i)

1)

Inventories

Inventories are initially recognised at cost, and
subsequently at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost comprises all costs of purchase, costs of
conversion and other costs incurred in bringing the
inventories to their present location and condition. Cost
is calculated using the weighted average method. Net
realisable value represents the estimated selling price
in the ordinary course of business less the estimated
costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary
to make the sale.

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised
when control of goods or services is transferred to the
customers at an amount that reflects the consideration
to which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange
for those goods or services, excluding those amounts
collected on behalf of third parties. Revenue excludes
value added taxes or other sales taxes and is after
deduction of any trade discounts.

Depending on the terms of the contract and the laws
that apply to the contract, control of the goods or
service may be transferred over time or at a point in
time. Control of the goods or service is transferred over
time if the Group’s performance:

o provides all of the benefits received and
consumed simultaneously by the customer;

o creates or enhances an asset that the customer
controls as the Group performs; or
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

1)

Revenue recognition (Continueqd)

does not create an asset with an alternative use
to the Group and the Group has an enforceable
right to payment for performance completed to
date.

If control of the goods or services transfers over time,

revenue is recognised over the period of the contract

by reference to the progress towards complete

satisfaction of that performance obligation. Otherwise,

revenue is recognised at a point in time when the

customer obtains control of the goods or service.

()

(i)

(i)

Sales of natural uranium

Customers obtain control of the natural uranium
when the goods are delivered to and have
been accepted. Revenue is thus recognised
upon when the customers accepted the
natural uranium. There is generally only one
performance obligation.

Rental income

Rental income from operating leases is
recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line
basis over the term of the relevant lease.

Inventory lease income

Inventory lease income arises when the natural
uranium leased to counterparties have been
bought back by the Group at a lower price. It is
recognised when the natural uranium the Group
has obtained the control of the natural uranium
returned by counterparties.
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4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

1)

(k)

Revenue recognition (Continueqd)
Contract liabilities

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation
to transfer services to a customer for which the
Group has received consideration (or an amount of
consideration is due) from the customer.

Income taxes

Income taxes for the year comprise current tax and
deferred tax.

Current tax is based on the profit or loss from ordinary
activities adjusted for items that are non-assessable or
disallowable for income tax purposes and is calculated
using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of reporting period. The amount of
current tax payable or receivable is the best estimate
of the tax amount expected to be paid or received that
reflects any uncertainty related to income tax.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(k)

Income taxes (Continued)

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary
differences between the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the
corresponding amounts used for tax purposes. Except
for goodwill not deductible for tax purposes and
initial recognition of assets and liabilities that are not
part of the business combination which affect neither
accounting nor taxable profits, taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures where the Group is able
to control the reversal of the temporary difference and
it is probable that the temporary difference will not
reverse in the foreseeable future, deferred tax liabilities
are recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it
is probable that taxable profits will be available against
which deductible temporary differences can be utilised,
provided that the deductible temporary differences
are not arises from initial recognition of assets and
liabilities in a transaction other than in a business
combination that affects neither taxable profit nor the
accounting profit. Deferred tax is measured at the tax
rates appropriate to the expected manner in which the
carrying amount of the asset or liability is realised or
settled and that have been enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of reporting period, and reflects any
uncertainty related to income taxes.
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4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(k)

U

Income taxes (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there
is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to
income tax levied by the same taxation authority and
the Group intends to settle its current tax assets and
liabilities on a net basis.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits
will be available to allow all or part of the assets to be
recovered.

Income taxes are recognised in profit or loss except
when they relate to items recognised in other
comprehensive income in which case the taxes are
also recognised in other comprehensive income or
when they relate to items recognised directly in equity
in which case the taxes are also recognised directly in
equity.

Foreign currencies

Transactions entered into by the group entities in
currencies other than the currency of the primary
economic environment in which it/they operate(s)
(the “functional currency”) are recorded at the
rates ruling when the transactions occur. Foreign
currency monetary assets and liabilities are translated
at the rates ruling at the end of reporting period.
Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value was
determined. Non-monetary items that are measured
in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not
retranslated.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

U

Foreign currencies (Continued)

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the translation of monetary
items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they arise. Exchange differences arising on the
retranslation of non-monetary items carried at fair value
are included in profit or loss for the period except for
differences arising on the retranslation of non-monetary
items in respect of which gains and losses are
recognised in other comprehensive income, in which
case, the exchange differences are also recognised in
other comprehensive income.

On consolidation, income and expense items of
foreign operations are translated into the presentation
currency of the Group (i.e. Hong Kong dollars) at the
average exchange rates for the year, unless exchange
rates fluctuate significantly during the period, in which
case, the rates approximating to those ruling when
the transactions took place are used. All assets and
liabilities of foreign operations are translated at the
rate ruling at the end of reporting period. Exchange
differences arising, if any, are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity
as exchange translation reserve (attributed to non-
controlling interests as appropriate). Exchange
differences recognised in profit or loss of group
entities’ separate financial statements on the
translation of long-term monetary items forming part of
the Group’s net investment in the foreign operation
concerned are reclassified to other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity as exchange
translation reserve.
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4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(m)

Employee benefits

()

(i)

(i)

Short term employee benefits

Short term employee benefits are employee
benefits (other than termination benefits) that
are expected to be settled wholly before twelve
months after the end of the annual reporting
period in which the employees render the
related service. Short term employee benefits
are recognised in the year when the employees
render the related service.

Defined contribution retirement plans

Payments to state-managed retirement benefit
scheme and the Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme (defined contribution plans) are
recognised as an expense when employees
have rendered service entitling them to the
contributions.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised on the
earlier of when the Group can no longer
withdraw the offer of those benefits and when
the Group recognises restructuring costs
involving the payment of termination benefits.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(n)

Impairment of assets (other than financial assets)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group
reviews the carrying amounts of the following assets
to determine whether there is any indication that
those assets have suffered an impairment loss or an
impairment loss previously recognised no longer exists
or may have decreased:

o Property, plant and equipment;

° Right-of-use assets;

o Interests in associates and a joint venture

If the recoverable amount (i.e. the greater of the fair
value less costs of disposal and value in use) of an
asset is estimated to be less than its carrying amount,
the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its
recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised
as an expense immediately, unless the relevant asset
is carried at a revalued amount under another HKFRS,
in which case the impairment loss is treated as a
revaluation decrease under that HKFRS.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses,
the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, to the
extent that the increased carrying amount does not
exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised
for the asset in prior years. A reversal of an impairment
loss is recognised in profit or loss immediately, unless
the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount
under another HKFRS, in which case the reversal of
the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation increase
under that HKFRS.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 4. BARETBREH®)

INFORMATION (Continued)

(n)  Impairment of assets (other than financial assets) (n) EEREGEBREERM
(Continued) €=
Value-in-use is based on the estimated future FREAEDREEEES
cash flows expected to be derived from the asset, BEEEZHFTRKES
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax MEET @ BAIRBEE
discount rate that reflects current market assessments REE 2 IRITH IS E A
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the REEENREEEAEN
asset or cash generating unit. J& 5 7E B B 2 B AT AL 3R K

MRIREHBE -

(0) Cash and cash equivalents (0) RERBELEEHEB
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances RekReFEHEBR
and short-term deposits that are subject to an ReEFRAR “@Jﬂ
insignificant risk of changes in their fair value, and are % 13K B R2 HA T 3R
used by the Group in the management of its short-term f’E AEEEEHRER Hﬂ 7%
commitments. For the purpose of the consolidated cBEEHRESMERM
statement of cash flows, bank overdrafts that are T AREKEEBAEK
repayable on demand and that form an integral part of rEERSBEES D
the Group’s cash management are included in cash —BHMRITBEZ AIFTA
and cash equivalents. RekReFMEER -
(p)  Related parties (p) BEEEAL
(a) A person or a close member of that person’s (@) @B A T AL - Bl
family is related to the Group if that person: ZATHZALTH
MRRERK B R

SEARER

0] has control or joint control over the 0] PEdl g H A
Company; S 1/ NI/N
Al
(ii) has significant influence over the (i HARAE
Company; or EREE
7K
(iii) is a member of key management (i) ¥ NN =l
personnel of the Company or the KRB 2B
Company’s parent. NANFEZE

BEIEAR -
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(p) Related parties (Continued)

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions apply:

(i) The entity and the Company are
members of the same group (which
means that each parent, subsidiary and
fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

(ii) One entity is an associate or joint
venture of the other entity (or an
associate or joint venture of a member
of a group of which the other entity is a
member).

(iii) Both entities are joint ventures of the
same third party.

(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third
entity and the other entity is an associate
of the third entity.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(p) Related parties (Continued)

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions apply: (Continued)

(v)

(vii)

(viil)

The entity is a post-employment benefit
plan for the benefit of the employees
of the Group or an entity related to the
Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly
controlled by a person identified in (a).

A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member
of key management personnel of the
entity (or of a parent of the entity).

The entity, or any member of a group
of which it is a part, provides key
management personnel services to the
Company or to the Company’s parent.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(P)

(a)

Related parties (Continued)

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions apply: (Continued)

Close members of the family of a person are
those family members who may be expected
to influence, or be influenced by, that person
in their dealings with the entity and include (i)
that person’s children and spouse or domestic
partner; (i) children of that person’s spouse or
domestic partner; and (iii) dependents of that
person or that person’s spouse or domestic
partner.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain
timing or amount when the Group has a legal or
constructive obligation arising as a result of a past
event, which it is probable will result in an outflow of
economic benefits that can be reliably estimated.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow
of economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations,
the existence of which will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future
events, are also disclosed as contingent liabilities
unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits is
remote.
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5.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, the
directors are required to make judgments, estimates and
assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
The estimates and associated assumptions are based on
historical experience and other factors that are considered to
be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period or in the period of the revision
and future periods if the revision affects both current and
future periods.

(a) Critical judgements in applying accounting
policies

(1) Significant influence over an associate

The directors of the Company considered
Ortalyk, in which the Group has 49% (2023:
49%) equity interest, is an associate of the
Group as the Group has significant influence
over Ortalyk by virtue of its non-controlling
voting power to the board of directors of
Ortalyk.

(i Agent versus principal consideration

For the purpose of defining the Group act as
principal rather than agent, the directors of
Company reviewed the Group’s operation and
concluded that the Group act as a principal in
accordance to HKFRS 15 on the basis that (i)
the group entered into a promise, which is a
performance obligation to provide the specified
goods; (i) the Group is able to assess whether
it controls each specified good before the good
is transferred to customer.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continuea)

(b) Key sources of estimation uncertainty

0

(i)

Impairment of trade and other receivables

The impairment provisions for trade and other
receivables are based on assumptions about
ECLs. The Group uses judgement in making
these assumptions and selecting the inputs
to the impairment calculation, bases on the
number of days that an individual receivable is
outstanding as well as the Group’s historical
experience and forward-looking information
at the end of the reporting period. Changes
in these assumptions and estimates could
materially affect the result of the assessment
and it may be necessary to make additional
impairment charge to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income. At 31 December 2024
and 2023, no loss allowance was recognised.

Impairment of inventories

The management of the Group reviews the
subsequent sales price at the end of each
reporting period and makes provision for
the inventories. The Group makes provision
for write-down of inventories based on the
assessment of the net realisable value. The net
realisable value for inventories was determined
with reference to the subsequent sales price
of similar items. As at 31 December 2024, the
carrying amount of inventories of the Group
was approximately HK$2,158,335,000 (2023:
HK$697,245,000).
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5.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continuea)

(b)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(i)

(i)

Impairment of inventories (Continueq)

During the years ended 31 December 2024 and
2023, no provision for write-down of inventories
was recognised.

Impairment loss on interest in a joint venture

At the end of the reporting period, the Group
reviews the business, the outlook for the
industry and the market conditions, as the
uranium price and Kazakhstani Tenge were
in fluctuation, to determine whether there is
any indication that the interest has suffered
an impairment loss. If any such indication
exists, the recoverable amount of the interest
is estimated in order to determine the extent of
the impairment loss, if any. The determination
of recoverable amount of interest in a joint
venture involves estimates as to: (1) future
revenue based on forecasted uranium prices;
(2) actual production volume of uranium mines
held by the joint venture; (3) exchange rate
between Tenge, the currency of the Republic
of Kazakhstan (“Kazakhstan”), and USD;
(4) the discount rate to be applied to such
revenue and costs for the purpose of deriving a
recoverable amount. If the recoverable amount
of the interest is estimated to be less than its
carrying amount, the carrying amount of the
interest is reduced to its recoverable amount.
An impairment loss is recognised immediately
in profit or loss. The carrying amount of
interest in a joint venture is approximately
HK$641,143,000 (2023: HK$550,389,000)
as at 31 December 2024. No impairment is
recognised for current and prior years.
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FESHE R G5
BIREZETERE @)

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS 5.
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continuea)

(b) (EFTHBERZEER

(b) Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

R E)
(iv)  Impairment loss on interest in an associate vy R—EHERFZ
a2 R EEE
At the end of the reporting period, the Group KSR AR
reviews the business, the outlook for the S0 (B 4% R 5 i e H
industry and the market conditions, as the 0B 08 L &) -
uranium price and the Kazakhstani Tenge were REBBRTER
in fluctuation, to determine whether there is any ITERT ST M
indication that the interests have suffered an ETERBE0RE

impairment loss. If any such indication exists,
the recoverable amount of the interests are
estimated in order to determine the extent of

D T
ERA - HEEE
MR - Al

the impairment loss, if any. The determination B E AR qE
of recoverable amount of interests in associates SEAETRERS
involves estimates as to: (1) the estimated BE)ZRE -
future cash flows expected to arise and a ETRBEARZ
suitable discount rate in order to calculate the Mz 2 A B £ 58
present value; (2) the resources of uranium; W R hET (1) TEER
(3) the uranium price forecasted by the two EAEREERKIR
leading uranium price research and analysis EMEREEHE

companies; (4) the exchange rates between
Tenge and USD. If the recoverable amount of
the interests are estimated to be less than its
carrying amount, the carrying amount of the
interests are reduced to its recoverable amount.
The carrying amount of investment in an
associate are approximately HK$3,399,334,000
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5.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continuea)

(b)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

V)

Income taxes

Determining income tax provision involves
judgment on the future tax treatment of certain
transactions in different tax jurisdictions.
Management evaluates tax implications of
transactions and tax provision are set up
accordingly. The tax treatments of such
transactions are reconsidered periodically to
take into account all changes in tax legislation.
Details are set out in note 10.

The accumulated tax losses relate to certain
subsidiaries that have a history of tax losses
and the Group has not accounted for the
relevant deferred tax. The realisability of
the deferred tax asset mainly depends on
whether sufficient profits or taxable temporary
differences will be available in the future.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group has not
recognised the tax losses of approximately
HK$210,000,000 (2023: HK$126,380,000) due
to the unpredictability of future profit streams.
During the year ended 31 December 2024, no
tax loss was expired.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continuea)

(b) Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

v) Income taxes (Continued)

The directors of the Company determine the
deferred taxation assets based on the enacted
or substantially enacted tax rates and the best
knowledge of profit projections of the Group
for coming years during which the deferred
taxation assets are expected to be utilised.
The directors of the Company review the
assumptions and profit projections by the end
of the reporting period.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information reported to the chief executive officer (“CEQ”),
being the chief operating decision maker, for the purposes of
resource allocation and assessment of segment performance
focuses on types of goods or services delivered or provided.

In the current year, the Group reorganised its internal reporting
structure which resulted in changes to the composition of
its reportable segments. Two operating segments regarding
the property investment in the PRC and interests in Fission in
Canada were discontinued in the current year. The segment
information reported in note 6 does not include any amounts
for these discontinued operations, which are described in
more details in note 39. Prior year segment disclosures
have been represented to conform with the current year’s
presentation.

Specifically, the Group’s reporting segment are as follows:
a) Natural uranium trading segment engages in trading of
natural uranium in the UK and Hong Kong;

b) Other investments segment engages in interests in (i) a
joint venture and (i) an associate in Kazakhstan.

FESHE R G5
BIREZETERE @)

(b) (EFTHBERZEER

R &)

)  FEH (&)
ARBEFREMR
R KB EEHE M

MR - ARAKE
=) 5 7 T8 B AR
HEERHE A
R R B B A
BRI 00 BR PRI
TELEMBEE -
ARBEEHRR
THRRBHZEFR
A& Ma A FEOR

7 RPER

REERERD KD BFRBEE
BRRABEREHTE BIXT2EER
RE)RENEREPRARMAX
PRt & m ek IR 24 -

RAFEE - AEBEHAEANDRS
R - HalmE o 8o AR EmEE
EZE - BRATEZYERE RN
& KFissionA &), 2 &) M EAL
EOMERAFERILE - HisE
BFTRE 2 DBV E R T BIEZE
BRIEEBHTASE FEHE
NI F39 - KEDHEECE
5 ARFEARFEZZT -

AEfEms  AEB2®mEH A
TS 8
a) RAHME S D EEBER R

BEBORANMES

b) HiikE DB RIERBE
S HETIA()— A &1 2 M i)
— B N T 2 MRS o
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) PEHER @

Segment revenue and results DEPEEER EE
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and REBERAREDER2I 2 & H5E
results by reportable segments: REESITIAT

For the year ended 31 December 2024

HZE20245F12831B L EE

Natural
uranium Other
trading investments
AAHES Hiti &
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET THET
Continuing operations BEMER
Revenue e L 8,624,272 - 8,624,272
Segment (loss)/profi PESE) /HH (94,598) 1,016,278 921,680
Other operating income EHF S LUN 57,440
Finance costs BERA (121,806)
Central administration costs PRITBARA (43,103)
Profit before taxation from continuing REBEIEEBH
operations BRTATR R 814,211

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (Represented)

HZE2023F12 A31 B ILFE (F71))

Natural
uranium Other
tradmg investments
NAEY EthitE
HK$ 000 HK$'000
T BT
Continuing operations BELER
Revenue e L 7,359,952 - 7,359,952
Segment profit HEb R 91,839 502,641 684,480
Other operating income Hiple A 29,826
Finance costs BENA (131,464)
Central administration costs RRITBRA (33,870)
Profit before taxation from continuing REFEEERN
operations BRTAIR R 548,972

The accounting policies of the operating segments are
adopted in accordance with HKFRS 8 “Operating
Segments”. Segment profit/(loss) represents the profit
earned by/(loss from) each segment without allocation of
other operating income, certain finance costs and central
administrative costs. This is the measure reported to the CEO
for the purposes of resource allocation and performance

assessment.

REDBZ BT BRERBET Y
B EERIFE5 [ £ & AT IR
ey - S ERE R (1R 1 0 #
PREREUE M, (PREEER) - WK
DEEMGERA - ETRERA
KA RITEARAN o 1t Jh L E R D BL
RRBHEAERFATE REZAT

=
= °



FEZEERRAR —TZNFFR

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

"""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""""" e T HRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z2024%12 431 B L&

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6. IER®
Segment assets and liabilities PHEERERE
The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and AT E2FREERED I 2 EE
liabilities by reportable segments: FaEs
Segment assets DEEE
2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET T
(Represented)
(&=270)
Natural uranium trading KAHE 5 2,217,024 1,149,724
Other investments HAig & 4,040,477 3,913,402
6,257,501 5,063,126
Assets relating to discontinued BRI EEBEENEE
operations - 621,241
Unallocated corporate assets AOBRBIEE 1,584,786 1,065,996
Total assets BERE 7,842,287 6,750,363
Segment liabilities DEEE
2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$’°000 HK$’'000
F#E T T
(Represented)
(&270)
Natural uranium trading KARME 5 3,717,209 2,741,248
Liabilities relating to discontinued HERIFEBEHENAE
operations - 18,112
Unallocated corporate liabilities N /NCIN=E = 203,372 110,812
Total liabilities aEaE 3,920,581 2,870,172
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z2024%12 431 B L FE

6.

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continuec)

Segment assets and liabilities (Continued)
Segment liabilities (Continued)

For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and
allocating resources between segments:

. all assets are allocated to operating segments other
than bank balances and cash, income tax recoverable,
deferred tax assets and other assets for corporate use
(including certain property, plant and equipment, right-
of-use assets and other receivables).

° all liabilities are allocated to operating segments other
than amounts due to an intermediate holding company
and fellow subsidiaries, income tax payable, deferred
tax liabilities and other liabilities for corporate use
(including certain other payables and lease liabilities).

THEEREEGE)

7 EBE & (&)

N P
TLER

DEERARDBEZDEE

RME

BRIRTTEFERRE - ATl
BIFFEBR R - RIERBAE
ENARERRBGRZEM
BE(BRETYE KR
k& EREEELAR
HEUWFKIR) N - FRAE

ERDRELLEDHE

BR FE A~ — [l R AR 2 7]
KR ZMBRABIRE - B
MAEHR  EEHER
BURIERAIAG 2 E
BE(BRETHEMENK
HEEBEEREBE) I AR

EEDEERLENE -
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z2024%12 431 B L&

Other segment information

2024

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continuec)

6.

Natural
uranium

trading

RRUES
HK$'000
TR

FEZEERRAR —TZNFFR

DEER @)
HitpHER
20245

Other
investments  Unallocated
HitiRE RO
HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER

Total
@t
HK$'000
TER

Amounts included in the measure of FTEAPERRIVEER

segment profit or loss or segment assets ~ ©IB /(P A) 2R :

after charging/(crediting):
Continuing operations BEMER
Addition to non-current assets (Note) REERDEE (WD) 57 - - 57
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 1% - BE RAEGTE 322 - 40 362
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREAERE 461 - 1,078 1,539
Interest expenses on loans from a fellow RE-RRZNBEARERLZ

subsidiary Mz 67,952 - = 67,952
Interest expenses on lease liabilities HERE RSN 49 - 17 166
Share of results of a joint venture ElE-RAstEEE - (399,402) - (399,402)
Share of results of an associate [l YN - (616,876) - (616,876)
Amounts regularly provided to the CEO but i & BT EREE

not included in the measure of segment ¥ FBERIHEHR

profit or loss or segment assets: AREEHEZRE:
Income tax expenses FEM T - - 287,485 287,485
Interest income MEBA - - (39,958) (39,958)
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #,£2024F 12 A31 B ILFE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continueq) 6. oHER®
Other segment information (Continued) Hih o BER(E)
2023 (Represented) 20234 (E7)

Natural
uranium Other
trading  investments  Unallocated Total

LU AR Mt
HK$000 ~ HK§000  HK$O00  HK$'000
BT ThR ThR TiEn

Amounts included in the measure of HENBERAINEER

segment profit or loss or segment BN/ (GTA) 258

assets after charging/(crediting):
Continuing operations BEMER
Addition to non-current assets (Note) REERDEE (WD) 36 = = 36
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 1% - BE RAEGTE 178 - 48 226
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREAENE 418 = 1,236 1,654
Interest expenses on loans from a fellow RE-RRZNBEARERLZ

subsidiary Mz 67,769 = = 67,769
Interest expenses on lease liabilities HERE RSN 18 = 16 34
Share of results of a joint venture Ei-HBAECEEE = (272,735) = (272,735)
Share of results of an associate [l YN - (319,906) - (319,906)
Amounts regularly provided to the CEO but i & BT EREE

not included in the measure of segment ¥ FBERIHEHR

profit or loss or segment assets: AREEHEZRE:
Income tax expenses iy st - - 62,369 62,369
Interest income MEBA - - (17,951) (17,951)

Note:  Non-current assets excluded financial instruments and deferred tax Wik : FERDEEFTBELHMTIARELEHREBEE

assets. E-e
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z2024%12 431 B L&

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continuec) 6.

Geographical information

The Group’s operations are located in the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region of the People’s Republic of China
("HKSAR?”), the PRC, Kazakhstan, Canada and the United
Kingdom (“UK”).

Information about the Group’s revenue from continuing
operations from external customers is presented based on
the geographical location of the operations. Information about
the Group’s non-current assets is presented based on the
geographical location of the assets.

DEEE &)
35 )

AREBHEBANFEARKLM
BRFAIITTHE (BRI
1)~ PE - BERAIE - MEXR
KB o

BRAEERBINIEPRETE
HEXRBHERBNEHRRELE
FREE 2 - BRAKEZERS)
BEMNBHERIBEEMEMNHE

E2 IR

Revenue from

external customers Non-current assets

RENDEFNERE FRBEE

2024
20244

HK$'000
TER

PRC (other than HKSAR) FE(BFAERITHER

B 1,987,964
HKSAR BRRHITRE 2,386,244
Europe (other than UK) BN (BB SN 3,031,788
Us e 722,951
UK HE 387,056
Czech Republic R e -
Singapore g -
Canada nex 108,269
UAE P (A& B RE -
Kazakhstan RiE AT -

2023 2024 2023
2023%F 2024%F 20235
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TATL TR TAT

(Represented)

(E51)

1,687,603 20 39,160
385,815 2,413 518
2,695,758 = =
984,386 - =
784,794 3,030 1,211
330,971 - =
207,836 - =
205,859 - 582,006
76,930 = =

= 4,040,477 3,913,401

8,624,272

7,359,952 4,045,940 4,536,296

Note:  Non-current assets excluded financial instruments and deferred tax
assets.

M : SEABEAETERSBTARELE
BIRAE -
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #,£2024F 12 A31 B ILFE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continueq) 6. oHER®
Information about major customers ERXEEFZEHR
Revenue from customers of the corresponding years LATE55R 8 A F R NG AL
contributing over 10% of the total sales of the Group is as BEHERTBRBI0RNEFP 2 EE
follows: B

2024 2023
2024 20234
HK$’°000 HK$’'000
FExT FAETT
Customer A' ysLil 1,963,847 1,687,604
Customer B! B N/A2 927,104
TE A2
Customer C' ZEFEA 1,794,663 873,820
Customer D! BRET! 1,973,132 N/A2
T3 2
Customer E! BRI 935,476 N/A?
i F?
1 Revenue from natural uranium trading segment 1 RERAME S E 2 EHEHE
g The corresponding revenue did not contribute over 10% of the total 2 HREEFELTRBBAEERZEE
revenue of the Group FH.210%
7. REVENUE 7. EER
Revenue from continuing operations represents amount REFHE SR E EBEFA
received and receivable from sale of natural uranium, net of BIRE - AT RAAEEERE
returns, discounts allowed and sales related taxes during the RIR RS E 2 Bk R UG -
year. Revenue recognised during the years are as follows: FABRCEERENT :
2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx T
(Represented)
(&7
Sale of goods HEEm 8,624,272 7,359,952
The revenue from sale of goods were recognised at a point in REMHEE MO EXERIBEE SN
time and under HKFRS 15. TSR AE RIS SR e — R 2h i

7
o
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8. OTHER OPERATING INCOME AND
OTHER GAIN OR LOSS, NET

e T HRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z2024%12 431 B L&

8.

H & WA LR Bt i

2024 2023

2024F 20234

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET T

Interest income R BHA 39,958 17,951

Inventory lease income FEREWA 3,038 4,574
Management fee income from the REEEERATR

immediate holding company EEBERA 6,666 =

Foreign exchange gain, net M W a TR 7,920 6,972

Others EAth (142) 329

57,440 29,826

9. FINANCE COSTS 9. ®WMERAK

Interest expenses on loan from
immediate holding company
Interest expenses on loans from
a fellow subsidiary
Interest expenses on loans from
an intermediate holding company

KEBEERIERARER
ZAMB X

KB —FHRZEMEATER
ZMEX

kBB EERARER
ZMBXH

Interest expenses on bank borrowings $E171& FF 857 H

Interest expenses on lease liabilities

HERBENE

2024
20244

2023
20234
HK$'000
T

HK$’000
TR

5,013 158
67,952 67,769
963 976
47,712 62,527
166 34

121,806 131,464
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 &, 202412 A31A It FE

10. A& H

10. INCOME TAX EXPENSES

Hong Kong Profits Tax HENEH

2024 2023
20244 20234

HK$’000 HK$’000
TR TAET

— over provision in prior years — B FERERE = (39)
UK Corporation tax TR R
— current year — tax credit —AFE-HEEL (4,851) =
— over provision in prior years — B FEBERE (1,940) (64)
(6,791) (64)
Other jurisdictions current tax: Hofth m) k[ BN AR IR -
— PRC Enterprise Income tax
expense — B EMABHS 7,777 2,045
— Kazakhstan withholding tax
expense — B ER TR ATS R S 170,443 34,118
178,220 36,163
Deferred tax (Note 32) EIERIA (F3E32) 116,056 26,309
287,485 62,369
Hong Kong Profits Tax BEREHR

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the first HK$2
million of profits of qualifying corporation will be taxed at
8.25%, and profits above HK$2 million will be taxed at 16.5%.
For the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Hong
Kong holding company was in tax loss position, the profits of
the Group’s entity registered in Hong Kong are not selected
by the management for the two-tiered profits tax rates regime
and continue to be taxed at the flat rate of 16.5%.

PRC Enterprise Income Tax

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the
“EIT Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law,
the tax rate of the PRC subsidiary is 25% for both years. For
the two years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, the PRC
subsidiary was subject to Enterprise Income Tax.

RR_ANEHBREGNE - 58
BEENE A BB TE A
BSHEAE8.25% BMAZEEST
B MBI MG ER516.5% © Bl
F2024%F K%2023F 12 A31 B IEF
B BEAERAARENRIERIE
REE - AEBEERBELHEER
S R S TR B R BRI AR
SHBRGIERR - WEEIER
16.5%8) & — T REH -

PEIEEREH
RIBEPBIZERETE ([EME
BED REEHREG - FREMBA
AIRMEFE 2B E H25% - #E
2024 }2023F 12 A31 B IE &
FE - FEMBARESMEEN
BE o
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 £ ZE2024F 12 A31 B IFFE

INCOME TAX EXPENSES (Continued)

UK Corporation Tax

The subsidiaries operating in the UK are subject to Corporation
Tax Act of UK and the tax rate of the UK subsidiary is 25%
for the year ended 31 December 2024 (31 December 2023:
25%). For the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, the
subsidiaries in UK were liable to UK Corporation Tax.

Kazakhstan Withholding Tax

Pursuant to the Tax Code (Revision Edition) enacted since
January 2023 in Kazakhstan (the “New Tax Code of
Kazakhstan”), dividends paid by subsurface users to foreign
shareholders without permanent establishments in Kazakhstan
will be subject to the Kazakhstan withholding tax at the rate of
10% if (i) the dividends are not paid to the entities registered
in the list of Countries with Preferential Tax Regime; (ii) the
holding period of shares or participation interest is more than
three years; (i) subsurface users undertake further processing
(after primary processing) of a prescribed percentage of the
mineral raw materials extracted by its own production facilities
in Kazakhstan or owned by its affiliated resident entity in
Kazakhstan and (iv) the distributed income was earlier levied
with Corporate Income Tax.

Semizbay-U

The Group has held shareholding in the joint venture,
“Semizbay-U” for more than three years and all extracted
minerals of the joint venture are further processed in its own
production facilities, the dividends received by the Group from
the joint venture are subject to the Kazakhstan withholding
tax in accordance with the provisions of the New Tax Code
of Kazakhstan. For the years ended 31 December 2024 and
20283, Semizbay-U is subject to Kazakhstan withholding tax at
10%.

10.

EHxH =
HEDEH

BHZE2024F12A31HILEFE -
REEE B ARERBRBEMY
EEBUAST - ZEWB AR
2T EF25%(20235F12 A31H :
25%) ° B E20244F N 2023F12 A
1ELIEFE - ZENB R RESMR
HEMES -

RERAERREREH

BIE B 2023F 1 A BRI TER
HR B TR BUE ((WRBIFBED) -
RN E T R AE AR IMR R B
H AR M BE 52 2B i T &R A
SEABRRE - AL FHRE R A10% B
IMERATBTERAEE - & - (K
B A SER N FEERBIER
HBERELHNERS  ()RH2R
BENFEHBB=F 5 (itp T &
BEREABEFTFARAT D RR
TE LE B B9 B E R R 1T A0 T (0 AN
Ti#%)  RHEREINTRBEMHE
ERMURRERIMNERR - B
BEELEEEMSBEENEZI TE
BEREABHEBAMENERDZE
K (iv) 2 R B YA 2 BT B B
EF1SHL -

B2

REBRBEEEREIHARTIME
HBBE=F HAECEMAEDE
REEEHTEEBEEBR#ET
BMIEE Bt AEBEKE
BEDENDTAIRRBERIRE
RUARTE - BRANMATE S TR TEIRFTS
i o MELE 20244 202312 A
S1BIEFE » HARER10%EM
MAiE T AT B IBIRFT ISR ©
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10.

INCOME TAX EXPENSES (Continued)

Semizbay-U (Continued)

Pursuant to the EIT Law, the earnings distributed from
Semizbay-U to the Mainland China subsidiary of the Company
is subject to tax if the tax rate under EIT Law is higher than
the tax rate under the New Tax Code of Kazakhstan. The
applicable tax rate is the difference between the tax rates
under EIT Law and the New Tax Code of Kazakhstan. For
the year of assessment of 2024, as Mainland China’s
income tax rate of 25% is lower than the Kazakhstan’s total
tax rate, which is the sum of income tax rate of 20% and
withholding dividend tax rate of 10% under the New Tax Code
of Kazakhstan, the Mainland China subsidiary is not subject to
tax in this regard.

Ortalyk

Ortalyk is an associate of the Group and the dividends
received by the Group from Ortalyk are subject to 15%
Kazakhstan withholding tax in accordance with the provisions
of the Tax Code of Kazakhstan. In prior years, the estimated
rate of the withholding tax was 5%. However, during the
current year, the practice of Kazakhstan tax authority has
been changed as well as more criteria need to be considered
when assessing the appropriateness of withholding tax rate
of the cross-border dividend distribution in Kazakhstan.
The management of the Company considered that the 15%
withholding tax rate is applicable for all dividends received in
prior years as well as current year.

Cayman Islands Income Tax

Pursuant to the laws and regulations of the Cayman Islands,
the Group is not subject to any income tax in the Cayman
Islands for both years.

10.

EHxH =
HAT (B

BER B EMETE - MM
BEEBETZHESRBBIET
FEBETZBE - ARBIRFREA
HE B AR ZEH A RRNEFNA
B o AT R B EERAR
MR EE T HEER - ¥
2024FFIREE - AR EI RS
BT EE PR STE Ro5% IR A M EE 7o 8
B EAIRBEHTET 2%
FriS iR 20% BRI BEFL R 10%
ZF) AL AR B R kb R B B A
RISt BRI -

LN

BARIRARENBE AR - AE
BB RAFR DAL A RRIGE R
HUBBUERRTE @ BM16%H0ME
RATBBTRIRMEH - WEEFE
ERTTRREMBHRE /5% © A -
RAFE @ RERIMEARENER
BEAEEML - URRFHERERS
BER DAL RIS B R
ERBEERTEEEEZNIRE -
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HPTE DAL °

MERBMEHR

REFASEHE OERIER - K&
BN ME S E B AMREARR SR
EEH -



10.

TEREXARAT —TNFFR

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e VI ERAR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z2024%12 431 B L&

INCOME TAX EXPENSES (Continued) 10.

Pillar Two Rules

The Group is operating in certain jurisdictions where the
Pillar Two Rules are effective or enacted but not effective.
However, as the Group’s estimated effective tax rates of all
the jurisdictions in which the Group operates are higher than
15%, after taking into account the adjustments under the
Pillar Two Rules based on management’s best estimate, the
management of the Group considered the Group is not liable
to top-up tax under the Pillar Two Rules.

The income tax expenses for the year can be reconciled
to the profit before taxation from continuing operations
per the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income as follows:

Profit before taxation from continuing 28 8 #3548 14 ¥ 58I T AR

FEHRxH e
TR A

REERE ZHRRNERKD B
BREAREMHE T RAVAEREE -
R ARAERERE2ERER
FrERERRMEF BERTESRN
16% @ &ET RENEEEH&KER
FHRIESE —RANEL RO EEIR -
AEEERERR  AEBEHEAR
BXIE—RABRERER -

AFEEMRBH M ERaRE N
Hit 2 E SRR EFEEES
EERFE AR FE AR

2024
20244
HK$’000

2023

20234
HK$’000
FAET
(Represented)

(&%)

FET

operations 814,211 548,972
Tax calculated at rates applicable REMUE AR ERAR

to profits in the respective tax w2 REFTE 2 A

jurisdiction concerned 201,372 142,384
Tax effect of share of results of a joint  JE{G— A S DEEE Y

venture MR E (99,851) (68,184)
Tax effect of share of results of an Y i) /NI = o

associate Hge (117,206) (75,177)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible  ANATHIFR Sk H 2 T 75 o2 22

for tax purpose 3,844 2,024
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax A FIFIULA 7 Fi i85 L&

purpose (2,180) (15,441)
Effect of withholding tax on earnings of —fE& & ¥ AT M TEIZERH

a joint venture 2 5,847 23,242
Effect of withholding tax on earmnings of B & X 8] & FH TERRFTS R

associates T 280,102 38,692
Tax effect of temporary differences not KR E I =58 2 G £

recognised (1) 37
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised FHERFISE B 2 TS5 2 16,412 28,003
Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses B SR AR IEEIE 2

previously not recognised Mg (9,230) (12,155)
Over provision in prior years BEFERERE - (103)
Others Hh 8,376 (953)
Income tax expenses for the year REEFREFHZT 287,485 62,369

Details of deferred taxation are set out in note 32.

R IRRF IR EPIRES2
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11. PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 11.

Profit for the year has been arrived

at after charging/(crediting): TF|BIBEER

AEZEFNEHR, GTA)

REEm A

2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$'000

FAT

HK$’000
FH

Auditors’ remuneration ZEREN N & 3,698 3,812
Carrying amount of inventories sold B2 HEFSEEE 8,690,392 7,231,197
Depreciation of property, plantand 1% - BiE KR EITE

equipment 362 226
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEETE 1,539 1,654
Short-term lease expenses CHIREER 2,210 1,671
Staff costs (including directors’ BINA(BREESHE)

emoluments) (Note 14) (FitaE14) 26,342 24,319
Net exchange gain SHEE HUES (7,920) (6,972)

12. DIVIDENDS

Interim dividends for the year 2024 for ordinary shareholders
of the Company of HKO0.3 cents per ordinary shares has
been approved by the directors and an aggregate amount of
approximately HK$22,802,000 was recognised as distribution
during the year ended 31 December 2024. No dividend was
paid or proposed for ordinary shareholders of the Company
during the year ended 31 December 2023.

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, a final
dividend in respect of the year ended 31 December 2024 of
HKO.7 cents per ordinary share has been proposed by the
directors of the Company and is subject to approval by the
shareholders in the forthcoming general meeting (2023: Nil).

12.

8=\

ERCHERE2024F AN EE
AARAR R EARR BBk L AAR0.3
Bl A 422,802,000 LB
REBEE2024F12A318IEFE
MoK » H22023F12831H 1t
FE - AREWER L RBRREIR
N EBERNRE o

RFEHRE - ARAESEEH
MEZE2024F12A31B It FEE R
BARHR B R AARO. 7L -
BERRAREIERITHRERE £
O TR EE (20235 : &) ©
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z2024%12 431 B L&

EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share
attributable to the owners of the Company is based on the
following data:

Earnings Z%
Earnings for the year attributable AR ETEESREARRT|Z

13.

BRER

RAREA ANBEERERN R EE
BRI T YR E -

2024
20245
HK$’000

2023

20234
HK$’000
FHETT
(Represented)
(&%)

FERT

to the owners of the Company AR aIHEA AEML

for the purpose of calculating IR B

basic earnings per share

— from continuing operations —REFHEIE X 526,726 486,603

— from discontinued operations ~ — & E 2 4% 1255 (184,745) 10,496

341,981 497,099

Number of shares BRBEE
Weighted average number of ARETEERERERT 2

ordinary shares for the el it RS

purpose of calculating basic

earnings per share 7,600,682,645 7,600,682,645

The diluted earnings per share is equal to the basic earnings
per share as there were no dilutive potential ordinary shares
during both years.

The Group’s former associate, Fission Uranium Corp.
(“Fission”), issued share options to employees, directors,
officers, and consultants, as well as warrants to underwriters
through the bought deal financing, granting the right for
the share options and warrants holders to subscribe the
ordinary shares of Fission. The diluted earnings per share is
the same as basic earnings per share as the effect of these
potential ordinary shares is anti-dilutive during years ended 31
December 2024 and 2023.

RMEFEADELGEENE
BELRE  RERETRNER
FRRERERF -

R EEE BB & A R]Fission Uranium
Corp. ([FissionAR]) AEE * &
c mRERAE REREITER
o LARGBERBIERE R R
TR REE - X T HERE LR
BE A AR BEFissionA A A HY
REF o MELZE20244F 2023412
A31BILFE - SREERNEY
RERBFER - RERZEEE
TmiR B REERE -
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #,£2024F 12 A31 B ILFE

14. STAFF COSTS (INCLUDING DIRECTORS’ 14. EIRA(BIEEEMS)

EMOLUMENTS)

Salaries, allowances, other benefits 4% ~ 2B « AR R IEAT

2024 2023
20244 20234

HK$’000 HK$'000
Fi#5t FHT

and bonus 24,369 22,742

Retirement benefit schemes RIREFIFT B R
contribution 1,973 1,577
26,342 24,319

The subsidiaries in Hong Kong operate defined contribution
schemes (the “MPF Scheme”) under the Hong Kong
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance which
are available to qualified employees. The assets of the
schemes are held separately from those of the subsidiaries
in independently administered funds. Monthly contributions
made by the subsidiaries are calculated based on certain
percentages of the applicable payroll costs or fixed sums as
stipulated under the relevant requirements, as appropriate.
The employees are required to contribute 5% of their monthly
salaries or up to a maximum of HK$1,500 and they can
choose to make additional contributions. The employees are
entitled to 100% of the employer’'s Mandatory Contributions
upon their retirement at the age of 65, death or total
incapacity.

BENBRARIRAERERRER
SREIE AR BRI TER M
HatEl ([aEestall) - ZFatEl
ZEERNBARNZEERBYE
BESANFHITE - MBRRZE
AR R B B E PrR] AR LAE
RFMRAZETBD LLREER
BREREAME)E - BEA
BE A% 25%%&=1,500/8 TTIE
B - MRS rR B ERRIMYE
o BEMESERRIN « HH TR
BATIFRENRZEH100% 2 BE
SR IR o
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z2024%12 431 B L&

STAFF COSTS (INCLUDING DIRECTORS’
EMOLUMENTS) (Continuea)

Pursuant to the regulations of the relevant authorities in
the PRC and UK, the subsidiaries of the Company in those
countries participate in respective government retirement
benefit schemes (the “Schemes”) whereby the subsidiaries are
required to contribute to the Schemes to fund the retirement
benefits of the eligible employees. Contributions made to the
Schemes are calculated based on certain percentages of the
applicable payroll costs as stipulated under the requirements
in the PRC and UK. The relevant authorities of the PRC and
UK are responsible for the entire pension obligations payable
to the retired employees. The only obligation of the Group
with respect to the Schemes is to pay the ongoing required
contributions under the Schemes.

The retirement benefit schemes contribution represent gross
contributions by the Group to the Schemes operated by
the relevant authorities of the PRC and UK and the defined
contribution schemes operated in Hong Kong.

There are no forfeited contributions that may be used by
the Group as the employer to reduce the existing level of
contributions.

The total cost charged to profit or loss of HK$1,973,000 (2023:
HK$1,577,000) represents contributions payable to these
schemes by the Group in respect of the current accounting
period.

14.

ETRA (BREEHS)
(&)

RETBEREBEHEERZHAM
ARARARZEARZHMBLRAZ
B IR AT R AR B ([ Fat
) Bt - ZEHBRRARZ
LA EIELER - AN A ERE
L RIRER - R FEERZ
ISR R B K S B AR I T R
ERFMRA R EBDLAE -
TREMEEEREERRBERRKE
BN Z 2BRKER - A&
Bz F Az EEE/RESRS
FHEIFHEIE L ATR K -

[l

SEOm 4

RIRENE B KB R B A B
BN EEERE BER%FTE
AR ERE N2 ERM AT EIE
2 BLRABER -

I 8 2 R WA R ] AR SR B R R [
ERADRAHEFKF -

B8 Bk 2 48R ZN1,973,000/%5
70 (20234 : 1,577,000/ 7T) + A
REERA ST R Z S EIE
R K o
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #,£2024F 12 A31 B ILFE

15. DIRECTORS’ AND INDIVIDUALS WITH 15. EERESHMALZH

HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS =

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (a) BEERTETHRAEME
The emoluments paid or payable to each of the nine BT LB (20234 -
(2023: nine) directors and the chief executive were as NB)ESEEFETHAE
follows: ZBenT
For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZE2024F12A31HLLF

E

Other emoluments
Hitie
Salaries, Retirement
allowances benefit
and other schemes

benefits  contribution
Fees g2 RIEBER Total
re REMER TR -
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
ThR T#x THR FER

Emoluments paid or receivable  EZHEBALARE
in respect of director’s other WERREH 55
senvices in comnectionwith the Bz EffREEE
management of the affairs of g e
the Company and its subsidiary

undertakings

Executive directors: HiTEE
An Junjing’ FEE' - 485 = 485
Xu Junmei HRER - 864 - 864
Wang Xianfeng' ThiE - 465 - 465

Emoluments paid or receivable  —RATHETES (EH
in respect of a person’s Y NGt NG
servioes as adirector, whether  ¥%7E%) ZRSCE
of the Company orits subsidiary kBl 2 B4

undertakings
Non-executive directors: FHIEE:
Sun X %’ - - - -
Yin Xiong? BRi* - - - -
Liu Guanhug? Yz’ - - - -
Independent non-executive BUHHTEE -
directors:
Qiu Xianhong s 120 - - 120
Gao Pei Ji A 120 - - 120
Zhang Yuntao® FEE’ 120 - - 120

360 1,814 = 2,174




15. DIRECTORS’ AND INDIVIDUALS WITH

FEZEERRAR —TZNFFR

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e T HRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 # £2024F12 4318 It FE

HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

(a)

Emoluments paid or receivable

Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments
(Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

ESNABALTRENE

15. EERZSHEMA L 2N

cAC )

(a) EEBERFETHAEME
(&)
HZE2023F12A31BILF
E

Other emoluments
Hinfe
Salaries, RE e
allowances benefit
and other schemes
contribution

benefits
e 2 NN
REMER] :
HK$'000

=
oy

in respect of director’s other NAEBEBERLE
services in connection with the RS MR
management of the affairs of e
the Company and its subsidiary
undertakings
Executive directors: HiTEZ
An Junjing’ ZEIE = 950 = 950
Xu Junmei REH - 864 - 864
Emoluments paid or receivable —BATHERES (BR
in respect of a person’s BARERENBARE
senvices as a director, whether BER) ZRBEES
of the Company or its subsidiary kB2 B £
undertakings
Non-executive directors: HHTEE
Sun X B - = > =
Yin Xiong? B - S = =
Liu Guanhug? Zmz = = = =
Independent non-executive BUFHTEE
dlrectors:
Qiu Xianhong il 120 - - 120
Gao Pei Ji mEE 120 - - 120
Lee Kwok Tung Louis® HEfFe 75 - - 75
Zhang Yuntao® KR 45 = = 45
360 1,814 - 2,174
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15. DIRECTORS’ AND INDIVIDUALS WITH
HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

(a)

Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments
(Continued)

1 Mr. An Junjing was the CEO of the Company and his
emoluments disclosed above included those for services
rendered by him as the CEO. Mr. An resigned as director and
CEO on 5 July 2024 and Mr. Wang Xianfeng acted as the
director and CEO on the same date.

2 During the years end 31 December 2024 and 2023, those
directors have waived their remuneration of Directors.

3 Mr. Lee Kwok Tung Louis resigned as director and Mr. Zhang
Yuntao was appointed as director on 17 August 2023.

During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023,
no other directors or chief executive have waived or
agreed to waive any arrangements for remuneration
other than those disclosed in these consolidated
financial statements.

The directors of the Company did not receive any
emoluments from the Group as an inducement to join
or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss
of office during the years ended 31 December 2024
and 2023.

During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023,
retirement benefit schemes contribution for directors is
borne by CGNPC, the ultimate parent of the Company,
and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the
“CGNPC Group”). No apportionment has been
made as the directors of the Company consider that it
is impracticable to apportion this amount between their
services to the Group and their services to CGNPC
Group.

15. EERZSHEMA L 2N

AL ),
(a)

EERFIETHRAEMS

€=

1 REBEECRRRBEFTHR
18 RERBENBHE BIE
HBITERERIITE NBK
WS o LR EM2024F7 A5
HEIZEEREREHTE T
g ERFRABTEERE
FEHATE ©

2 BHZE2024% 2023512 431
BIEFE  ZEEECHER
B -

3 R2023F8A17H - FEIRL
SBRAESRRASEERE
ThES-

RELE20244F K 2023F 12
AB1BIEFER - BRAER
EMBEMERBEBREN - I
MHEMESHNFEZITHA
BEWEXRBRETM
Nk o

REZE2024%F £ 2023F 12
A31HLIEFER  KAAF]
EEZARRE FE R BREM
BB Sl 1E N BE AR &= B B ol
(ER AR AREN -

REZE2024%F £ 20234F 12
AS1HLLEFE  EFRIHK
BT EHERTI AR R
CEREEATFRBEEZSE
BENEMNBAR (GBI E
ZEE D FEWE - HRAAFR
EERATERNEERR
P EZEBRERSE S
HMZEB XA - Bl
MARVEL D8 -
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e T HRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z2024%12 431 B L&

15. DIRECTORS’ AND INDIVIDUALS WITH
HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

(b)

Individuals with highest emoluments

For the years ended 31 December 20

24 and 2023,

all directors’ emoluments were not within the five

highest rank. The emoluments of the fi
individuals were as follows:

Salaries, allowances and

ve (2023: five)

15.

¥re o RE R EAMET

FEZEERRAR —TZNFFR

EERBSHMA L 2

AL ),

(b) BEHFMAL

H E=20249F 2 2023F 124
S1ELFE  FIBESEN
st EBRAERESHM
#EPA o AH(2023F « R

#) ALEF BT -

2024
20244

HK$’000
TR

2023
20234
HK$'000
FBTT

other benefits 7,359 8,054
Discretionary bonus BIETEAL 337 366
Retirement benefit schemes IR FT BIEE TR

contribution 2,013 1,567

9,709 9,987
The emoluments were within the following bands: HM oA TEHER

Nil to HK$1,000,000
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000

HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000

HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000

£%1,000,000% 7T

1,000,001 87L&
1,500,000/ 7T
1,500,001 87L&
2,000,000/ 7T
2,000,001&7LE
2,500,000/ 7T
2,500,001/
3,000,000/ 7T
3,000,001 TE
3,500,000/ 7T

2024
20245

Number of
Individuals

AE

2023
20234
Number of
Individuals
AH
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #,£2024F 12 A31 B ILFE

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

16. YM¥ - BMEKRE

Furniture,
fixtures
and office
Leasehold equipment
Buildings  improvements B %E Total
BF HENREE  REARE At
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAL THT THL TAL
COST KA
At 1 January 2023 R2023F1 A1H 238 577 6,528 7,343
Additions HE - - 36 36
Exchange realignment B 5 SR - - 1 1
At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 72023128318 R
2024F1F1H 238 577 6,565 7,380
Additions AE - - 57 57
At 31 December 2024 20246124318 238 577 6,622 7,437
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION AND ZHMERRAME
IMPAIRMENT
At 1 January 2023 M2023F1A10 238 577 5,266 6,081
Provided for the year TEERE - - 226 226
Exchange realignment L - = () ()
At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024~ #2023F 12 A31A %
2024F1R1R 238 577 5,489 6,304
Provided for the year TEERE - - 362 362
Exchange realignment [E 7 % - - 1 1
At 31 December 2024 12024512316 238 577 5,852 6,667
CARRYING VALUES R
At 31 December 2024 20245124318 - - 770 770
At 31 December 2023 120235124318 - - 1,076 1,076
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z2024%12 431 B L&

17. RIGHT OF USE ASSETS AND LEASE
LIABILITIES

(a)

(b)

Right-of-use assets

Properties L/ES

17. ERAEEEREERR

(a)

EREEE

2024 2023
20245 20234

HK$’000 HK$000
TR TAET

4,693 673

The Group has lease arrangements for offices. The
lease terms are generally ranged from three to five
years.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group
had renewed two lease agreements of two offices,
which are located in Hong Kong for the period from
2024 to 2027 and UK for the period from 2024 to
2029 respectively.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group
did not enter into any new lease agreements.

Lease liabilities

Current Nk
Non-current JEmED

(b)

TEERBRAEREHE
T HEHRBENT
=—Z=hF-

HZE2024F12A31H 1L
B AEEEHEMENA
EMMOBEERZE - 25
R EE (A R202445F
£2027%) RER (AH R
2024F £2029%F) °

HZE2023F12A31 01L&
B KREBWET S IM
FAE W -

HEAE
2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET T
1,534 537
3,065 =

4,599 537
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #,£2024F 12 A31 B ILFE

17. RIGHT OF USE ASSETS AND LEASE 17. ERAREEREEASRE
LIABILITIES (continued) (&)
(b)  Lease liabilities (Continued) b) HEAEHE
2024 2023
2024 20234
Amounts payable under lease HK$’000 HK$'000
liabilities REHEABERGNESE TERT FHET
Within one year —FR 1,534 537
After one year but within two years ~ —F&{BERRWER 1,534 =
After two years but within five years ~WERERAER 1,531 =
4,599 537
Less: Amount due for settlement B @A R EE
within 12 months mEN TR (1,534) (537)
Amount due for settlement after R+ EAEEEEER
12 months Gk 3,065 -
During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group BHE2024F12A31BILFE - K
had renewed lease agreements of two offices, which EEEPMENAEHHEEZ -
are located in Hong Kong for the period from 2024 DAL RER (HER2024F &
to 2027 and UK for the period from 2024 to 2029 20274 ) kBl (FHER /2024 F =
respectively. 2029%F) °
During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group BHE2023F12H31HILFE - K
did not enter into any new lease agreements. EEWE A AE RS -
()  Amounts recognised in profit or loss (c) REZTERINEHE

2024 2023
20245 20234

HK$’000 HK$’000
TR TAET

Depreciation expense on right-of-use {# BEEENITE L L

assets 1,539 1,654
Interest expense on lease liabilities ~ A& & EMNFE S H 166 34
Expense relating to short-term leases 52 HifH &8 1 2,210 1,671




17. RIGHT OF USE ASSETS AND LEASE

18.

PEREXARAR

ZEUFFR

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e VI ERAR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z2024%12 431 B L&

LIABILITIES (continued)

(d) Others

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the total
cash outflow for leases amount to approximately
HK$3,762,000 (2023: HK$3,390,000).

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

17. ERAEEEREERR

(&)
d EHift

HZE2024F 12310 1L E
B HEMNBESRE A

#4/53,762,000/% 7T (2023
£F : 3,390,0007T) ©

18. ®REWHE

HK$°000
TET

FAIR VALUE NAE
At 1 January 2023 72023F1 A1H 45,785
Net decrease in fair value recognised in ERERER AR BEFRD

profit or loss (6,026)
Exchange realignment e 3, 58 B 618)
At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 M2023F12 A31 H k202451 A1H 39,141
Net decrease in fair value recognised in ERERERZ AR BT R

profit or loss (12,113)
Exchange realignment HE 34, 8 B 951
Disposal HE (27,979)

At 31 December 2024

MR2024F12 831 H

As at 31 December 2023, the carrying value of investment
properties shown above are situated in the PRC and held

under medium-term lease.

The investment properties were disposed to an independent
third party at the consideration of HK$25,332,000 in 2024 and
loss on disposal of HK$2,647,000 was recognised in profit or

loss (Note 39(b)).

All of the Group’s property interests to earn rentals or
for capital appreciation purposes are measured using the
fair value model and are classified and accounted for as

investment properties.

HERE -

/E e

MR2023%F12A31H @ HilBrmEE
ZIEMETIAFRE - R

REMEN2024FEHEFT — 2B
SNE=7 - RER25,332,0007%
7T+ HEEI82,647,000/8 LA B
=R (T 5E39(0)) ©

REEMAFAARDESHEE
AEEREZMERERBUARARE
BREE - YD BRARIERE
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18.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

The fair value of the Group’s investment properties held by
Beijing Sino-Kazakh as at 31 December 2023 have been
arrived at on the basis of a valuation carried out on that date
by an independent qualified professional valuer not connected
with the Group, Avista Valuation Advisory Limited, who
has among its staff members of the Hong Kong Institute of
Surveyors with recent experience in the location and category
of property being valued. The valuation was arrived at on an
open market value basis by using the income approach of
capitalising the net rental income receivable from the existing
tenancies and the reversionary income potentials.

In estimating the fair value of the properties, the highest and
best use of the properties is their current use.

As at 31 December 2023, The Group’s investment properties
that are measured subsequent to initial recognition at fair value
are HK$39,141,000. They are grouped into fair value hierarchy
Level 3 based on the degree to which the inputs fair value
measurements is observable. All of the investment property
was disposed of during the year.

18.

REWHE»

bR 2023F 12 31 BHER
REREEREMENARBHE
REAEERBEZBIGERSE
EfAEMN E B RAER AR
FEf T E MER o N EmT{EE
HERATED BT AR RER
Bees  BAIBAEEYER
T B R HLAE R 2 (B8R - %l
BENEBENMEEYCEFROMAS
FURARBEERIA - LARASE
RARMEREMED -

AR ZARENS - WEZ
REMERERERK 2FERE -

MR2023F12A31H » XEREZ
REMENNPHEREZARE
39,141,000 Tt & - Tk AE
AREFEAHEENEESEAR
REE=F - IBREMEEINTE
WHE °
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z2024%12 431 B L&

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued) 18.

Information about Level 3 fair value measurements of
investment properties:

REWE =

ERRAEE=RAAEHEY
Hh

Valuation Significant
technique Key input unobservable inputs
HERT FEBAE BRTAEERAE
All Investment Income approach Income approach takes into account Term yield and reversion
properties net rental income of the properties yield are at 6%

derived from the existing leases and/
or achievable in the existing market
with due allowance for the reversionary

income potential of the leases,
which have been then capitalised
to determine the market value at an

appropriate capitalisation rate.

FrBEREMS WASE WAETE REBMEARERERN HRKEXRRER KSR
BR/RERKTS LATKRZESE /6%
ANEFE - BAEEREEZEEERER
ANMEEEGE  BRHAERBEETIAER
AR —EEE ML RBEME

The fair value measurement of the investment properties
determined by using income approach is negatively correlated
to the term yield and reversion yield. A slight increase in term
yield and reversion yield used would result in a significant
decrease in fair value measurement of the properties, and vice
versa.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the decrease in fair
value of approximately HK$6,026,000 was recognised in profit
or loss.

RRABNEBEEZREMEAAE
FAAEEPFEKRERLERKRX
2R - BRIk R RER RS
KRB RGEBMEAAEFE
BERD - RZIR -

HE2023F12A31BIEFE » &
RABF A #76,026,000/8 TN 1B
FER o
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #,£2024F 12 A31 B ILFE

19. INTEREST IN A JOINT VENTURE 19. R—REEELHE R
2023
20234
HK$’000 HK$’000
THExT FAT
Carrying amount as at 1 January M1 A1BREREE 550,389 433,995
Share of post-acquisition results and AN [Z E(RUREE L 2 E &
other comprehensive income HE 2 mEREs
for the year 399,402 272,735
Dividends received BUARE (223,731) (164,052)
Exchange realignment M 5, R (84,917) 7,711
Carrying amount as at 31 December #1231 BREREE 641,143 550,389
Details of the joint venture as at 31 December 2024 and 2023 B EN2024F &2023F 124
are as follows: 31TEHFFEAT
Place of
incorporations Percentage of
establishment ownership held
and operation Class of by the Group
Name of entity Formof entity  =FMBL,/ B shares held KEEfTE Principal activities
BREH ERFR REKM Fris R85 FEREEAL FEERED
Semizbay-U Limited liability ~ Kazakhstan Ordinary shares 49% Extraction, preliminary
partnership processing and sale
of uranium oxide on

Semizbay and Irkol
fields

EIVNG BREASY  WEmiE Lk 49% RE - IS MIRHE
Semizbay KIrkoll% 1
k=Rl
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z2024%12 431 B L&

INTEREST IN A JOINT VENTURE (Continued) 19. R—EEaEtXE o En

(#&)
Summarised financial information of material joint EAEGELENKERNBE
venture
The summarised financial information in respect of the joint HAEEBERTEBZEEDE
venture that is material to the Group and is accounted for using (UAEREAR) NV EERZES
equity method set out below: BT
Semizbay-U Al
2024 2023
2024 20234
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTET FHET
Current assets MENVEE 1,128,789 894,209
Non-current assets JEMENEEE 531,609 558,938
Current liabilities mEBE 242,923 197,922
Non-current liabilities JEMBBE 109,020 131,982
The above amounts of assets and LB ERAELBEEIE
liabilities include the following: T
Cash and cash equivalents ReMREEEEER 62,956 598,936
Current financial liabilities nBERAE(TRERNER
(excluding trade and other Ko E b B A5 3008 K B )
payables and provisions) - =
Non-current financial liabilities FnBErmas
(excluding trade and other (T BEEMERR R EMER

payables and provisions) FIE R E) - =
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #,£2024F 12 A31 B ILFE

19.

INTEREST IN A JOINT VENTURE (Continued) 19.

Summarised financial information of material joint
venture (Continued)

Semizbay-U (Continued)

R—BEghE s #E
()

BERAELRUMBERRERE (B)

H2E] ()

2024 2023

20244 20234

HK$’000 HK$’000

FEx AT

Revenue EEE 1,605,051 1,213,191

Profit for the year KEE A 815,737 556,603
Other comprehensive income AEEHMEE RS

for the year (640) 15,734
Total comprehensive income REEEEINEREE

for the year 815,097 572,337

Note: Dividend of approximately HK$209,136,000, which is net of tax of
approximately HK$14,595,000, from joint venture has been received
during the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: HK$147,790,000)

The above profit for the year include the following:

MsE: REZE2024F128318ILF
E - BHEBREAEREIRE
#9209,136,0008 5T * &R
TE#914,595,0005 7T (20234 :
147,790,000/ 7T) °

ERARFEE RN EE T

2024 2023

20244 20234

HK$’000 HK$’'000

FTET FHTT

Depreciation and amortisation e R EEE 134,349 137,032
Interest income FBHA 39,627 28,251
Interest expense AEXE 1,154 1177
Income tax expense TS 142,943 145,840
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z2024%12 431 B L&

INTEREST IN A JOINT VENTURE (Continued) 19. R—EEaEtXE o En

(&)
Summarised financial information of material joint EAAECENBERBE (£)
venture (Continued)
Semizbay-U (Continued) o aE] ()
Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information LR —fEEErE I ERITHBE
to the carrying amount of the interest in a joint venture is set K E SR EER SRR T -
out as below:
2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FiBT
Net assets of Semizbay-U HAREEFRE 1,308,455 1,123,243
Proportion of the Group’s ownership 2N B A & BIAE RS LL 71
interest in Semizbay-U 49% 49%
Carrying amount of the Group’s REERH A RS REE
interest in Semizbay-U 641,143 550,389
No capital commitment and contingent liabilities incurred AEER—HEEELENERITE
related to the Group’s interest in a joint venture. BRFEERHARAE -
INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES 20. REE QT 2R
Listed associate (Notes a, b, c) rhgE AT (Mfiga b~ c)
2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET FBT
Carrying amount as at 1 January M A1EREREE 582,006 546,731
Gain/(loss) on deemed disposal BRIEHEMzS/ (E18) 1,771 (4,453)

Share of post-acquisition profitand R4 JE E(H UL BB 18 % F K
other comprehensive income for the  Hib 2 Uz

year (Note b) (P 5FD) (79,485) 34,306
Disposal during the year (Note 39(a)) AN [E H & (Ff5E39(a)) (512,456) Z
Share of other reserve for the year RFEE R EMREE 8,164 5,422

Carrying amount as at 31 December 5312 31 B HERHEE - 582,006
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20. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

Listed associate (Notes a, b, c) (Continueqd)

Market value of the interest R EmEE AT
in the listed associate 2 E

,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,, ‘
REEEDNT 2R =
EigE AR (fsta b c) (&)

2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET T
N/A 615,904
TEA

As at 31 December 2023, the market value is estimated based
on the quoted market price available on the Toronto Stock
Exchange under the symbol “FCU”, which is level 1 input in
terms of HKFRS 13, without taking into account for off-take
right.

Unlisted associate

R2023%F12A31H - MEIRES
MZHBHZZEPRIEIFCUIATIR
2B (BB BT RS ERE
1355 & B8 — R A BUK) mih
BT WA R EIHHE o

FLEMBE QT

2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx FiBT
Carrying amount as at 1 January M A1EREREE 3,363,011 3,388,517
Share of post-acquisition profit and NG [Z B (L U B& 1% S5 T &z
other comprehensive income Hi 2 mERES
for the year 604,322 319,906
Dividends received mRE 4 (440,336) (355,903)
Exchange realignment M 5, SRR (127,663) 10,491
Carrying amount as at 31 December 712 A 31 HHEREIE 3,399,334 3,363,011

FREARE

Total of carrying amount

2024 2023
20245 20234

HK$’000 HK$’000
FHT b7

3,399,334 3,945,017

Details of the recoverable amount of the interest in the listed
associate as at 31 December 2023 is as follows:

Recoverable amount AT Uk Bl & 58

MR2023F 12 A31 B F &
NEERA AT E S FEEEBT

2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$’000

HK$’000
TR TAET

N/A 615,904
TERA
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INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

20.

Details of the associates as at 31 December 2024 and 2023

are as follows:

Name of entity

BERER

Fission

Fission’2 A

Ortalyk

BR

Form of entity
{57

Corporation

Limited liability
partnership

EREEAY

Place of
incorporations
establishment
and operation
AL
REBHE

Canada

Kazakhstan

RS AT

Class of
shares held

Fir i B 40 28 R

Common shares

Ordinary shares

e

Note a: As at 31 December 2023, the management of the Group considered

that there is an indication that an impairment loss previously
recognised no longer exists.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, as a result of recovery of
uranium price, a reversal of impairment loss of HK$24,632,000 was
recognised and included in the share of results of associates for the
current year. The reversal of impairment has been increased to the
revised estimate of the recoverable amount, to the extent that the
increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that
would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised
in prior years, i.e. HK$582,006,000, during the year ended 31
December 2023.

REtE N T 2R )

R2024% K 2023512 A31H - B
ENRFBIT

Percentage of
ownership held
by the Group
(Note b)
AEEfE
EREEIL
(MfzEb)

Principal activities

IRRBED

N/A (Note ¢) (31  Acquisition and

December 2023;  development of

12.62%)(Note b)  exploration and
evaluation assets

TEm (e KERFAEHMRK

(2023512R31  HMEEE

B : 12.62%)

D)

49% Extraction, preliminary
processing and sale
of uranium products
and resources on
Central Mynkuduk
field and Zhalpak field

49% R FMIRHE
Central Mynkuduk[&
15 Jz Zhalpak(& 154
EmRER

Mizta: #2023F12A31H @ REEER

BRA - A ERR B RN
K@ -

HZE2023F12A31BLLFE -
HREERA - AR RERME
E518 8 0124,632,0008 7T + &t
ARRFEEMREEE N AL -
WERBBENE A E S
EAEFT AT - BiE2023F12 A
STHIEFELEMHEREREL
KBEAEBTFEARAERNRE
BRERTHEENREE A
582,006,0005% 7T

187



188

CGN Mining Company Limited Annual Report 2024

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e VI RAR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z2024%12 431 B L FE

20.

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

Note b:

Note c:

As at 31 December 2023, the Group is able to exercise significant
influence over Fission by virtue of its contractual right to have one out
of seven directors to the board of directors of Fission under the terms
stated in the subscription agreement entered into by the Company and
Fission on 11 January 2016.

Fission entered into an equity distribution agreement providing for an
at-the-market (“ATM”) equity offering program in April 2022. The ATM
program will allow Fission, through its agents, to, from time to time,
offer and sell, in Canada through the facilities of the Toronto Stock
Exchange. During the year, Fission has not issued any ordinary shares
(2023: 50,141,400 ordinary shares) in aggregate through the ATM
program.

Fission entered into an agreement with several financial institutions
(“Underwriters”), pursuant to which the Underwriters have agreed
to purchase, on a “bought deal” basis, 63,560,000 ordinary shares
(2023: 7,731,092 flow through ordinary shares) of Fission at a price of
CAD1.18 per ordinary share for gross proceeds of CAD75,001,000
(2023: at a price of CAD1.19 per flow through share for gross
proceeds of CAD9,200,000).

During the year, Fission has not issued any ordinary shares under
directors remuneration plan (2023: 205,601 ordinary shares) and has
not issue any ordinary shares upon exercise of share options granted
to directors, employees, officers and consultants under the share
option scheme (2023: 4,564,625 ordinary shares). In addition, during
the year Fission issued 25,186,964 ordinary shares (2023: 330,000
ordinary shares) upon exercise of warrants.

With the combined effects of the above transactions, the Group’s
interest in Fission was diluted in aggregate by 1.36% from 12.62%
as at 31 December 2023 to 11.26% up to the date of disposal on 23
December 2024.

20. REEENTZ2ER®

MiEED :

MisEc -

2023124318 « REE Y
Fission A Bl EINEAZE - FR
BN A A EEFission A AR 20164
1A BRI Z RIE R
AEBMNFissionARIEZEELE
EEPHEE REENANE
F o

Fission’A AlA202244 B 5T A%
AR - REEWE(EN
B BERENS - ZMERE
B AT Bl A FrFission ARG H A
BRNENEREBRZHEHFF
RGBT HE RIEER
¥ o £ 17 » Fission A B & FE B
B EEERE B BITEAY
AR (20234 : & $£50,141,400
& mAR) -

FissionARIEH#H T & oK #
(B 8Em)FT e - Bt 2
HEERBR2H e R
FRELBRIISINTHEREE
Fission’A A163,560,000H% & i i%
(2023% : 7,731,0020 R E & A
f%) + Fr{SEIE42%E 475,001,000
T (20234 - HEBRTERHD
1.19MIT BB - FrisRIBHERE
/849,200,000007T) °

R - Fission AR W ERIEEE
N AT B AT (A BAR (2023
F 205,601 R L AR) K &R
BEREASRTES - &8 -
SBREEAB REMAERE
TEAT(E R B AT (] 3B AR (2023
F 4,564,625 @A) o Ut
4N - AR - Fission BB AL
B EITE R 841725,186,964%
LA (20234 : 330,0000% &3
&) -

FAELRRZHTE  AEER
FissionA A M) 5 F12023F 12 A
318M12.62%4 H#5%1.36%
ZE2024F 12 A23B K E BN
11.26% °



20.

FEZEERRAR —TZNFFR

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e T HRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z2024%12 431 B L&

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued) 20.

Summarised financial information of material associates

The summarised financial information in respect of the
associates that are material to the Group and are accounted
for using equity method set out below:

@) Fission

REtE N T 2R
BEABE AT S EREE

HAEEEEAREZBENT
(AEDAEAR) P TEE R EE
FIEATE -

(@)  FissionZyA]

2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHxT FBT
Current assets MENEE N/A
i A 441,558
Non-current assets ERBEE N/A
FiEH 4,698,074
Current liabilities mEEE N/A
TEH 15,606
Non-current liabilities EREaE N/A
il A 680,096
2024 2023
2024 20234
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHxT FHET
Revenue e - -
Loss/(profit) and other NER AEEEE,CEF)
comprehensive income for the FEMEERE
period/year (270,553) 105,792
Other reserve for the period/year — AHAM,/ANEE H b - -
(270,533) 105,792
Share of equity interest of 11.26% FE{GANHAR, /A EE Hib 2@
(2023: 12.62%) of the other W AR HE11.26%
comprehensive income (20234 : 12.62%)
for the period/year (Note 39(a)) (FF5E39(a)) (30,462) 13,351
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20.

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

20.

Summarised financial information of material associates

(Continued)

(a) Fission (Continued)

The above loss for the period/year includes the

i N
EABERD

B Z R (4
2 B ERE ()

(a)  Fissionx ] (#)

L ARRE S AEEER

following: BETY
2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FET
Depreciation and amortisation EREE 501 571
Interest income FLEWA 40,673 15,695
Interest expense FEZH 122 105
Income tax expense FriSHisz i - =
Reconciliation of the above summarised financial it A FissionA 7] 2 g5 Bt
information to the carrying amount of the interest in BEMM B EREERN S
Fission is set out as below: BRI

2024 2023
2024 20234
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FBT
Net assets of Fission Fission A RIME EFE N/A FiE A 4,443,930
Proportion of the Group’s RE B FissionA A A #E
ownership in Fission e/l N/A RiEH 12.62%
Carrying amount of the Group’s AN E R Fission’A AlES
interest in Fission, on the ZIREE - REAEE
assumption that the Group will 1750 E B S
exercise its off-take right
— Under off-take right - IRIE B 3HE N/A RERA 33,777
— Under equity interest - IRIR AR N/A RERA 548,229
Carrying amount of the Group’s A& B Fission A Bl
interest in Fission ZBRMEE N/A T8 A 582,006
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z2024%12 431 B L&

20. REE DT 2Em
EABENAZHBENME (@)

Fission (Continued) (@  FissionZx&] (&)

2024
20244

HK$°000
Tz

Investment cost in Fission (equity ~ FFissionA B AR &R 2K
interest and off-take right), after (&4 K& B2 854E) @ #58%

2023
20234
HK$'000
FET

dilution N/A RiEH 501,185
Share of post-acquisition reserve  FE{LUKEE 14 1 N/A REH 80,821
Carrying amount of the Group’s A& B Fission A Bl #Ez 2

interest in Fission IREE N/A FiEH 582,006

Ortalyk (b) ENT|
2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET T
Current assets MENEE 1,433,357 1,072,028
Non-current assets IEMBNVEE 5,820,164 6,029,373
Current liabilities mEBAE 199,506 137,747
Non-current liabilities MBI AE 116,599 100,364
2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET T
Revenue =L 2,945,263 2,135,567
Profit and other comprehensive NG5 F & E Ath 2 Uk S
income for the year 1,258,932 652,869
Note:  Dividend of approximately HK$309,411,000, which is net MizE: B ZE2024F12A31BLFE -

of tax of approximately HK$130,925,000, from Ortalyk has
been received during the year ended 31 December 2024

BB EREARNRKRELD
309,411,000/ T + B MR IE

(2023: HK$338,047,000). #9130,925,0008 7T (20234 :
338,047,000/87T) °
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 &, Z2024F12 A31H ILFE

20. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued) 20. REtENTI 2R #
Summarised financial information of material associates BEABEQRARZUBERNYE (&)
(Continued)
(b)  Ortalyk (Continued) ) B (E)

ERARFRENEIE T

The above profit for the year includes the following:

2024 2023

20244 20234

HK$’000 HK$’000

T FHET

Depreciation and amortisation e R EEE 183,952 153,343
Interest income FEHA 11,523 6,778
Interest expense AEXH 11,781 7,366
Income tax expense TS 413,573 295,144

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial
information to the carrying amount of the interest in

Ortalyk is set out as below:

b B R R A B
AR 2 EREEN SR

e

2024 2023

20245 20234

HK$’000 HK$’000

T FHET

Net assets of Ortalyk BREIMEEFE 6,937,416 6,863,290
Proportion of the Group’s REERRNTINEAE

ownership interest in Ortalyk ML) 49% 49%

Carrying amount of the Group’s ~ ANEBR B A AEZE
interest in Ortalyk 2 BREE 3,399,334 3,363,011

REERBE AR HERY EEAR
EERRAALE -

No capital commitment and contingent liabilities
incurred related to the Group’s interests in associates.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z2024%12 431 B L&

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 21. RAAREFAHEMEZENY
THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE BZETMEE
INCOME
2024 2023
2024 20234
HK$’°000 HK$'000
FTHET FAT
Listed equity securities designed BERARBEGFAHMEE
at fair value through other Wk E TR E H
comprehensive income 355,889 -
The above listed equity investments represent ordinary it ERARERERZ S LT
shares of an entity listed in Toronto which is held by the EEMNTER - TYRAARRRAE
Company by way of a share swap transaction during the EFEBBBRRZTAFE < 5HEH
year. Details are set out in note 39(a). These investments RHIFES9(Q) - ZFREWIEFHIEE
are not held for trading, instead, they are held for long-term E AR ZFRERBERIIREE
strategic purposes. The directors of the Company have BHE - HRAREIZEEMEE - R8
elected to designate these investments in equity instruments HHERZERERNAENEHLE
as FVTOCI as they believe that recognising short-term BIAFEAREEBZERERFIER
fluctuations in these investments’ fair value in profit or loss HEMITERAERBAEEB MR
would not be consistent with the Group’s strategy of holding B SR REBNZEET T
these investments for long-term purposes and realising their B 7 IGBIETE AL AR BT AR
performance potential in the long run. EHEWE ©
INVENTORIES 22, FE
2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTHET FATT
Uranium i 2,158,335 697,245
During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, there RBZE20244F 22023512 A31H
was no provision/reversal of impairment of inventories. The net IFE  WMEFTERERE &
realisable value of the inventories have been determined with O - FEMAERFEIDELEL

reference to the subsequent sales price of similar items. HEBEGEEMERE -
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #,£2024F 12 A31 B ILFE

23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

FE W R K % EL At FE YRR IR

2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTHET FBT
Trade receivables (Note a) FEUER K (B 5Ea) 53,246 450,750

Prepayments, deposits and TENRIE - He Kk
other receivables (Note b) Eo e dezkaa (M REb) 27,562 10,851
80,808 461,601

Analysed into DB

Current portion mENEL D 80,360 461,551
Non-current portion FEMENEL 448 50
80,808 461,601

The Group did not hold any collateral over these balances. At

31 December 2024 and 2023, there was no loss allowance

provided.

Note a:  Trade receivables of HK$53,246,000 (2023: HK$400,148,000)
represents amount due from immediate holding company, China

Uranium Development.

Note b: Included in prepayments, deposits and other receivables, were interest
receivables of approximately HK$62,000 (2023: HK$5,083,000) and
HK$5,243,000 (2023: HK$74,000) due from CGNPC Huasheng and
CGN Finance Company limited (“CGN Finance”), fellow subsidiaries of

the Company respectively.

REBWERZE LIS EEMIR
i o 720244 [ 20234F 12 H31
B AEEWAREHIZEIBEME -

fista : FEUBR 53,246,000/ T (2023
F 1 400,148,000/ 7T) AIEWE 5
PRIR A AR B R A RUE ©

fisEb © FEMFIE - R REMEKKIES
EREARARRAENBEARFE
RERRPEZMBFERETAR]
(TR B %)) KBTI 2D B A
#962,00058 7T (20234 : 5,083,000
#7T) 15,243,000/ 7T (20234 -

74,000/87T) °
2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET T
Current Ve 27,114 10,801
Non-current IERED 448 50
27,562 10,851

The Group normally grants to its trade customer credit periods

for natural uranium segment within 15 days to 120 days after
delivery dates for both years 2024 and 2023.

20245 K 2023 F MEFE + &
SEBERRABOTIRTHES
BEF AR ABBE158E120H
NEEEH -
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TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(Continued)

The following is an ageing analysis of the trade receivables
presented based on the invoice date, which approximates
the respective revenue recognition dates, at the end of the
reporting period.

Within 30 days 30HA

P LT R 0 I Lt P L SR IR
(%)

REImEHR - AR B L XRRMER
HEEENEREMAESE - B
FRFGRE DT T -

2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$’000

HK$°000
TR TAET

53,246 450,750

The Group measures the loss allowance for trade receivables
at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit losses (“ECLs”).
The ECLs on trade receivables are estimated using an
individual basis by reference to past default experience and
creditworthiness of the debtor and an analysis of the debtor’s
current financial position, adjusted for factors that are specific
to the debtors, general economic conditions of the industry
in which the debtors operate and an assessment of both the
current as well as the forecast direction of conditions at the
reporting date.

For other receivables, the Group measures the loss allowance
equal to 12-month ECLs, unless when there is a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the Group
recognises lifetime ECLs. The assessment of whether lifetime
ECLs should be recognised is based on significant increase
in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial
recognition.

There has been no change in the estimation techniques or
significant assumptions made during the current reporting
period.

AEEENRURNERRES
ReEMEREERR((BREMEER
8]) - RUERRTREREET
R2ZEBNEBERORERE
BLARBEB AR KIS BRI
&R E R 22 LR - SEHER
ARBERSE - BEHALEMET
FHEREERAR S HE B
B FNTRRIAR R 77 (R B9 e A T DA

B o
s

PEMEKFIEMNS - AREFE
E12f8 A FEHEEEBERSFENER
Bl BOHERRR B BIRHERA
REEEMN - AARESEREH
BMEEEE - MEREEERE
HEHEEER - DENA BKRE
RELIEQN A SRR ES
BREEmM -

KA ERARE-HERMSEX
ERER W AL Ep o
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23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 23. FEWERFEHMERFIE
(Continued) (&)
The Group’s trade and other receivables that are denominated REEAREEE BB EE A
in currencies other than the functional currencies of the SN2 BEEGTHE 2 AR 1 & E A e
relevant group entities are set out below: WERIELR T -
2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$’°000 HK$’000
FHT T
Trade and other receivables JiE WS BR 3 N E A R U ER IR 10,473 4,028
24. AMOUNT DUE FROM/(TO) AN 24, FEWL(fS) — R REER

INTERMEDIATE HOLDING COMPANY

As at 31 December 2023, the amount due from an
intermediate holding company represents the rental receivable

from CGNPC-URC of which the maximum outstanding

amount during the year e
approximately HK$1,655,000.

nded 31 December 2023 is

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the amount due to an
intermediate holding company represents unsettled amount of

management service provided by and the expenses paid by

CGNPC-URC on behalf of the

The amounts are unsecured,
demand.

Group.

interest-free, and repayable on

RNEIRIE

M2023%F12A31H & EU—H
P45 AR A B SR8 BN UL R B
HEMES - A - BE2023F12
AB1BLFERaSREESTELY
1,655,000/ 7T °

2024 % K% 2023F12 318 - &
~t— R R A B SR IB RN A A%
HMERNAEERENEERBERR
X BRRAREEIE -

FIRTYEER - TEt B RARER

&g -

il
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. FE M EHRRMEE
For the year ended 31 December 2024 #,£2024F12 A31 B ILFE
24, AMOUNT DUE FROM/(TO) AN 24. FEW(4) —EHEER
INTERMEDIATE HOLDING COMPANY NRIFRIE @)
(Continued)
The Group’s amount due from/(to) an intermediate holding AEEREY () —MFEERA
company that are denominated in currencies other than the AIFRIENAREE TS 2L ES
functional currencies of the relevant group entities are set out A EEEEHESSI AT -
below:
Presented in: 2024 2023
SRR 20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARBTIT
Amount due from an intermediate JE U — A R PR AR A B 5K IR
holding company - 1,500
Amount due to an intermediate JE S — A R PR AR A B 5RIE
holding company 169 701
25. AMOUNTS DUE FROM/(TO) FELLOW 25. EBW () BRKEAT

SUBSIDIARIES

The amounts due from/(to) fellow subsidiaries are unsecured,
interest-free and repayable on demand.

The Group’s amounts due from/(to) fellow subsidiaries that are
denominated in currencies other than the functional currencies

of the relevant group entities are set out below:

IE

e, (<) [ ZFT B8 A R R IR T
HR - TEERAREREE

ALE R () RERKBRRR
TRUAERSE BB 2 e B LASN
ZEBEHEHIIWNT

Presented in: 2024 2023
BIRA - 20244 00234
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET T ARETIT

Amount due from a fellow subsidiary — FEUR— R XM E A RZIA 16 16
Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries EANIEES NN ERE] 566 330
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #,£2024F 12 A31 B ILFE

26. BANK BALANCES AND CASH 26. WITHEEFRES
2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET T
Bank deposits: HRITIFK
Cash at bank and on hand RITHEERRE 1,153,789 1,017,239
Analysis of bank balances and RERBITHEERRE DT
cash at the end of the year:
Cash at bank and on hand (Note a)  $R1T4& 7 &IR L (fizta) 6,156 1,651
Cash placed at CGNPC Huasheng ~ 1FHUA R B EE R &
and CGN Finance (Note b) FREZI SRR S (IEb) 1,147,633 1,015,588
1,153,789 1,017,239
Note a: Cash at bank carries interest at prevailing market rates for both years. Mizka : RREFEMNRITEFTHRRITT
SR ERS -
Note b:  The balance is unsecured, interest bearing at a rate of 5.1% (2023: Miskb : T AEEE  HFEFE51%

ranging from 6.30% to 6.39%) per annum and recoverable on
demand.

On 16 June 2022, the Company renewed the financial services
framework agreements with CGNPC Huasheng and CGN Finance for
a terms of three years commencing from 1 January 2023 and ending
on 31 December 2025 (“Agreements”).

Under the Agreements, the directors of the Company consider that
these deposits made to CGNPC Huasheng and CGN Finance is
qualified as cash and cash equivalent as the Group can withdraw the
deposits by giving notice to meet its short term cash commitments
and without suffering any penalty.

The Group’s bank balances and cash that are denominated in
currencies other than the functional currencies of the relevant
group entities are set out below:

(2023%F : 11F6.30%%£6.39%) 7
BIWREZRUKE -

202266 5168 » ANARIEFE
IREE R K R B AR B 7 4B R ] B s AR
HEZE % - B202351A1HRHA
F2025%F12A31H1 » AH=%F
(IZZEw=D -

REZEGE  ARREERR
EAEE L5 BT T IBARAGZ
EEFUR e EEHREALZAT
SEXEMED  FERPERE
BEFERIMBHEREERER
ReMREHERR -

REEBAER SR E BRI T A
Sh B¥THEZ RITHREFRRSM

T~

Presented in: 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
IRA 2024 2023F 20245 2023F 20245 2023F

HK$'000  HK$'000 RMB000  RMB'000  USD’000  USD'000
TR TATL ARMTR AREMTR TR TET

Bank balances and cash ~ R{T&FRE R 4,214 1,009 13,422 4,853 145,377 129,718
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z2024%12 431 B L&

27. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

27. BRI R EMENSFE

2024 2023

20244 20234

HK$’000 HK$’000

FTHET FBT

Trade payables (Note a) FEATBR SR (Bt 5Ea) 766,634 433,740
Accrued expenses and FEET RS R E A

other payables (Note b) & 2B (T 3Eb) 30,223 565,661

796,857 999,401

Note a: Trade payables of HK$18,545,000 (2023: HK$17,110,000) and
HK$748,088,000 (2023: HK$416,525,000) represented amount due to
a joint venture of the Company, namely, Semizbay-U and an associate
of the Company, namely Ortalyk.

Note b:  As at 31 December 2024, included in other payables, approximately
HK$183,000 and HK$7,067,000 are interest payable due to CGNPC-
URC and CGNPC Huasheng respectively.

As at 31 December 2023, included in other payables, approximately
HK$219,000 and HK$7,067,000 are interest payable due to CGNPC-
URC and CGNPC Huasheng respectively, and approximately
HK$534,170,000 is the cash received in inventory lease which details
as set out in note 4(j)(iii).

The following is an ageing analysis of trade payables presented
based on the invoice date at the end of the reporting period:

Within 30 days 30HA

MitTa: B BEK18,545,0008 T
(20234 : 17,110,000/ 7T) &
748,088,000/ 7T (20234 :
416,525,000/ 7T) REM A AT —
& EERR R RARA R —HEH

ERREATFIE

fisEb : M2024%12A318 » EMEMK
BREEMNPERMERTEZE
B ) FE 1 F 2.9 Bl 49183,0007%8 7T
K.7,067,000/ 7T ©

M2023F12A31H » EMERK
BREEMPEXBERTEZE
BXHY R FI2 5 BI1£)219,000% 7T
K&7,067,000% 7T« REKFEMR
B E4534,170,000/6 7T © #1E
B HIEEA() (i) ©

RBER - REBRRAHZ 2
PR BRR 2 AR DTN T -

2024 2023
20244 20234

HK$’000 HK$’000
TET TET

766,634 433,740

The average credit period on purchases of goods was within
12 days to 120 days after the delivery date for both years
2024 and 2023. The Group has financial risk management
policies in place to ensure that all payables are settled within
the credit time frame.

20245 K2023FEMIBFEE @ %
BEMZFHEERHAZMNBEE
BNF12BE1208 - KEEDE
ISR EIREBUR - LBRATE
ERFIEREEBRAER -
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #,£2024F 12 A31 B ILFE

28. RE—METFEZERATZ
B

28. LOANS FROM AN INTERMEDIATE
HOLDING COMPANY

2024 2023
20244

20234
HK$’000
T

HK$’000
TET

Loan repayable on 12 January 2024, #2024 1 A 12 H{EE -

unsecured and interest bearing at

BEMRIRENE—F

One Year Loan Prime rate per ERRERNE

annum (Note a) FFEZER (MisEa) - 3,311
Loan repayable on 19 October 2024, #2024 F 10 A 19 HEE -

unsecured and interest bearing at ERRMIZTRE—FER

One Year Loan Prime rate per BEBEFEFTEZER

annum (Note b) (B3ED) - 14,345
Analysed into DB

Current portion mENES D - 17,656
Note a:  For the year ended 31 December 2023, the effective interest rate of Mista: #EZE2023F12A31BIEFE @ K

the loan from an intermediate holding company is 3.65% per annum. H—EHPHEERARZERNE
The balance was fully repaid during the year ended 31 December BREFIR E3.65% - HFADNE
2024, F2024F12A31 AL FEERS(E

= o
Note b: For the year ended 31 December 2023, the effective interest rate of M3t : B E2023F12A31HIEFE 3k
the loan from an intermediate holding company is 3.45% per annum. H—EHTHERARZERNE
The balance was fully repaid during the year ended 31 December BREFIR 53.45% - BFADNE
2024. F2024F12A31 AL FEES(E

RE—MEPEZERARREOHBE

The repayment schedule of the above loan based on the

agreed terms of repayment granted by an intermediate holding BRER - LB AENRET 80
company is as follows: T

2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$'000

FAT

HK$’000
TR

BERIN—FA -

7

On demand or within one year 17,656
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29. BANK BORROWINGS

Bank loans — unsecured and RITER — EEA
guaranteed RAEER
Analysed into DT
Current portion mENEL 7

29. $RITER

2024 2023
20245 20234

HK$’000 HK$’000
TR TAET

1,519,996 348,979

As at 31 December 2024, the Group has drawn down from
banks with a total amount of USD196,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$1,519,996,000) (2023: USD150,000,000).
These drawn-down loans carry interest at rates ranging from
4.73% to 5.59% (2023: 5.07% to 6.16%) and are guaranteed
by the Company.

The repayment schedule of the above borrowings based
on the agreed terms of repayment granted by bank are as
follows:

On demand or within one year BEKRKIN—FNR

R2024F 128318 » AEBEE B
$R1TIRENA $£196,000,0003 7T
(#9%71,519,996,00058 7T) (2023
4 150,000,000 7T) ° ZEER
BEFILN T4.73% £5.59%(2023
F 1 5.07%%26.16%) WF| R 5 -
WAARRBHRHEIER

REBRITELOBEERGER - L

MAEFKEEFE I

2024 2023
20245 20234

HK$’000 HK$’000
TET TAET

1,519,996 348,979
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #,£2024F 12 A31 B ILFE

30. LOANS FROM A FELLOW SUBSIDIARY

Loans repayable on 7 November
2025, unsecured and interest

AT A T S

M2025FE11 A7HERE -

30. RE—HEERMBATZ

B

2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$’000

HK$’000
FET TAET

bearing ranging from 4.59% to NF4.59%ZE5.27%
5.27% per annum TRZER 1,395,914 1,395,914
Analysed into DT
Non-current portion EmENE S - 1,395,914
Current portion mENEE Y 1,395,914 =
1,395,914 1,395,914

The effective interest rate of the loans from a fellow subsidiary is
4.79% (20283: 4.79%) per annum.

The repayment schedule of the above loans based on the
agreed terms of repayment granted by a fellow subsidiary is as
follows:

BRERSIN—FA
—FRERMFA

On demand or within one year
After one year but within two years

*xE—EREMBARZERD
BERFEFNEEL.79% (20234
4.79%) °

R 1R — R KB A 7 815 E
BRIEE  BE SRR ERET SIS
T

2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$’000

HK$’000
FHET THETT

1,395,914 S
= 1,395,914

1,395,914 1,395,914
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 £ ZE2024F 12 A31 B IFFE
31. SHARE CAPITAL 31. B=X

Ordinary share of HK$0.01 each
Authorised:
At 1 January 2023, 31 December
2028, 1 January 2024 and 31

FIEEC.01E T2 EiEA
JETE
20231 18  2023%F
12A31H « 2024F1H81H

Number of
shares

BRHEE

Amount

=8

HK$’000
THETT

December 2024 202412 A31H 50,000,000,000 500,000
Issued and fully paid: BEITRER
At 1 January 2023, 31 December R2023%F1 81H » 20234
2023, 1 January 2024 and 12H318 ~ 20241 A1H
31 December 2024 2024412 A31H 7,600,682,645 76,007

All the ordinary shares issued during the years ended 31
December 2024 and 2023 rank pari passu with the then

existing shares in all respects.

32. DEFERRED TAXATION

32.

The analysis of deferred tax assets/(liabilities) is as follows:

REE2024F % 2023%F 12 A31H
IEFEFBBEBEITH L AR E R
BEERGREFAZEREER °

IESERIE

BERIEEE (BB 25 A
T

2024 2023

20244 20234

HK$’000 HK$'000

THET T

Deferred tax assets BIEHIAEE 6 9
Deferred tax liabilities BIEFRITBEE (185,328) (83,030)
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #,£2024F 12 A31 B ILFE

32.

DEFERRED TAXATION (Continuea)

The followings are the major deferred tax assets/(liabilities)
recognised and movements thereon during the current and
prior years:

Change in fair

32.

°
ESERL A (2
AT ARAFERBEFERRY

TEREHBEE, (RE)IARA
CEDE

value of land ~ Undistributable  Undistributable
and buildings profits profits
Accumulated ~ and investment (] ofan
tax depreciation properties joint venture associate Total
THREFUR
REngEe  -MRERE -BBELNT
ZitHERE MEZE  ZAPRER  ZRSEER h
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 ' HK§'000
Fin Tin Fin Fin Fin
At 1 January 2023 RsE1A1R 9 (7,316) 23,366) (26599) - (57272
(Charged) credited to proftorloss B (F18) /31 A g 1507 23242) (4.574) g 26,309
Exchange realignment Ex@E - 70 490 - - 560
At 31 December 2023 and 1 Ro028E12A318 R
January 2024 2451 A1A 9 (6,739) (46,118) (31,173 - (83,021)
(Charged) credited to proftorloss - R EZS (F1) /31 A @ 5616 (11,73) (109,659) 275) (116,06)
Adjustment EoE - - - 12,548 - 12,548
Exchange realignment [ - 123 1078 6 = 1,207
At 31 December 2024 2024512318 6 - (56,775) (128,278) (215) (185,322)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused
tax losses of approximately HK$210,000,000 (2023:
HK$126,380,000) available for offset against future profits.
No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of
the tax losses of approximately HK$210,000,000 (2023:
HK$126,380,000) due to the unpredictability of future profit
streams. No tax loss was expired during the years ended 31
December 2024 and 2023.

RERERBR - A& E ] H K
KR BHZABAHREEBEL
/210,000,000 7T (20234 :
126,380,000/ 70) ° AR KEE
TEOBI R 2 & A - R A BE A
210,000,000% T (20234 :
126,380,000/ /1) 2 T IBES 1B HER
EIERIEEE - 82024 22023
F12A31BIEFE - BIEBIAEE
Sy EN
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z2024%12 431 B L&

33. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF

33. ADFFBARREK

THE COMPANY

2024 2023
20244 20234
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
BizE THET THL
Non-current assets FREEE
Property, plant and equipment I ERN ST 82 106
Right-of-use-assets FREEE 2,331 412
Interests in subsidiaries R B AR 2R 2,172,699 2,172,699
Financial assets at fair value through other XA % Ext A% EUR S
comprehensive income JEMEE 355,889 =
Interests in an associate il il AN - 453,924
Other receivables Hip el oA 448 50
Deferred tax assets ERFIREE 6 9
2,531,455 2,627,200
Current assets RBEE
Trade and other receivables JE WO BR I EL A UK IR 63,333 410,331
Loan to a subsidiary BEXTF—HEREAR 287,523 480,488
Income tax recoverable AR EIFTE R 5,648 5,649
Bank balances and cash ROEFEAR 228,574 422,038
585,078 1,318,506
Current liabilities i =R
Trade and other payables JERT RN R LA RS IR 361,078 436,819
Lease liabilities HEaR 1,068 414
Loan from a subsidiary XE—MWBARZER 42 192,552
Amount due to a fellow subsidiary [ER—RRZMBARRE (@) 990 1,234
Income tax payable e TSR 3,560 3,560
366,738 634,579
Net current assets MENEEFE 218,340 683,927
Total assets less current liabilities BELERERDAR 2,749,795 3,311,127
Non-current liabilities el =R
Lease liabilities HEAR 1,308 -
Net assets BEFE 2,748,487 3,311,127
Capital and reserves EXRfHE
Share capital BRAR 76,007 76,007
Reserves [#E (b) 2,672,480 3,235,120
Total equity EmBE 2,748,487 3,311,127

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors

Wang Xianfeng E %%
Director Z%F

REZSHEMIRET®

Xu Junmei #EH
Director 2%
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #;%£2024F12 A31H L FE

33. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 33. ZAARBIEMRRAE &
THE COMPANY (Continueq)

Note (a): The amount due to a fellow subsidiary and details are set out in note Misk@) : FES— R RMTEARIKIE - 7F
25. TEE TS5
Note (b): Movements in the reserves during the years are as follows: MisE(p) - FARRBEEHHNT :
Fair value
through
other
comprehensive
income
Share reserve
Share options Other RARE  Retained
premium reserve reserve ftAHM  earnings Total
RERE BRERE  HtRE 2ERERE  RERA @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Tidn BT BT THL T BT
At 1 January 2023 120231 A1H 2,500,486 154 7 - 733,430 3,234,077
Profit for the year TEERER = = = = 1,043 1,043
At 31 December 2023and 1 74202312318 &
January 2024 20241 A1R 2,500,486 154 7 - 734473 3,235,120
Fair value loss in financial BAAERHAEMZE
assets at fair value through Witz eREEL
other comprehensive income LR - - - (25,468) - (25,468)
Dividend paid ERRS = = = - (22,802) (22,802)
Loss for the year TEEFR = = = - (5143700 (514,370)

At 31 December 2024 20244512 A31H 2,500,486 164 7 (25,468) 197,301 2,672,480
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34. LIST OF SUBSIDIARIES

34.

Details of the subsidiaries held by the Company as at 31

December 2024 and 2023 are as follows:

B B 2 B 51 R

AR 20244F £ 2023% 12 H31
BEE 2B ARFBOT

Place of
Class of incorporation/

establishment

SAAL/

Name of subsidiary shares held

WELAZE BRRHEH R 4%

Place of
operations

E3 bk

Particulars of issued
share capital/paid up Attributable equity
registered capital
BgfiRE/
HREMBARE KEBEGEE  TEER
2024 2023

NUE  ABE

RMBB23,770,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
2023:RMB823,770,000) R

AE 823 7700007 (2023 -

AR 8237700007)

100,000 orcinary shares of GBP ~ 100%
1 each and 130,521,354 PN
ordinary shares of USD 1
each (2023: 100,000 orclinary
shares of GBP1 each and
130,521,354 ordinary shares
0f USD1 each)

10000RBRABIZELE
BRR190521 B ERA
1R ERR (20035 :

1000005 RABI£5 0 &
BRE190 521 B4R

interest of the Group  Principal activities

100%  Trading of netural uranium

Direct subsidiaries:

ERNELT

Bejing Sino-Kazakh* Contriouted Capital ~~ PRC PRC

p Lol EfER i G

CGNM UK Ltd. Ordinary shares UK UK
2Bk A A

CGN Global Uranium Limited ~ Ordinary shares UK UK

hEVERMERHERRAT AR 7 7

i Wholly-owned foreign enterprise with limited liability

E1ET EER)
11,000,000 (2023: 11,000,000 100% 100%  Trading of natural uranium
ordinary shares of USD 1 each AIHES
11,000,008 (2023 :
11,000,000%) SHE(E
EIwA
5 SNEBERREMELE

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities outstanding
as at the end of the reporting period or at any time during the

reporting period.

I 28 1A R s
H A 1 A TR BB M (B R
B -
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35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 35. EBALRS
(@) Save as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated (@ BRAGEHBHRRAE
financial statements, the Group had the following fhith 5 # B & AN - A E
material transactions with related parties during the FREERE AL ZEA
year: THEARS :

2024 2023
20245 20235

HK$'000 HK$'000
A7 7

Sales of natural uranium resources to MPEMEREHE
China Uranium Development AAHER 0} 1,957,175 1,687,603

Purchases of natural uranium resources AN RIEE
from Semizbay-U, including taxes RAHER(BH) (i) 760,201 616,012

Purchases of natural uranium resources ~ FIEAFEE
from Ortalyk, including taxes RAHER (BH) (if) 1,347,082 1,084,013

Management fee charged by CGNPC-  HEZHEINEMNEES

URC (i) 5,24 5,302
Interest income from CGNPC Huasheng  WiBRF EAZZE XM F) S4A v) 23,954 15,133
Interest income from CGN Finance W BRI BRI SRA (vi) 12,257 1,009
Rental income from CGNPC-URC W B 2 e A (vil - 3171
Dividend income received from WEGH A RIREMA

Semizbay-U 223,731 164,052
Dividend income received from Ortalyk ~ WEREE A AR S M A 440,336 355,903
Interest expenses to CGNPC Huasheng PR ERZEE ZFIESH (vii) 67,952 67,769

Interest expense to China Uranium A FHEmFEER HEX
Development (ix) 5,013 158
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z2024%12 431 B L&

35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(Continued)

(a) (Continued)

Financial service income received from  UERAR BISHEEE 2

China Uranium Development ABRBEBA
Interest expense to CGNPC-URC RFHEGZHE 2 FEZ
Information system services fee paidto (19 FERZBA #5218

CGN Finance B ZGRBER

Purchases of natural uranium resources
from Swakop Uranium (Pty) Ltd,

including taxes (“Swakop’) (&%)

Management fee income from REFEZHENERBMA
CGNPC-URC

Notes:

@M

(i)

(i)

B Swakop Uranium (Pty) Ltd

On 16 June 2022, the Group has entered into a new sales
framework agreement with CGNPC-URC for the sales of
natural uranium resources for another term of three years
from 1 January 2023. Details are set out in the circular of the
Company dated 19 August 2022.

On 9 March 2023, the Group entered into a purchase
agreement with Semizbay-U for the purchases of natural
uranium resources for the year 2023 with other certain taxes
in relation thereon borne by the Group.

On 19 March 2024, the Group entered into a purchase
agreement with Semizbay-U for the purchases of natural
uranium resources for the year 2024 with other certain taxes
in relation thereon borne by the Group

On 9 March 2023, the Group entered into a purchase
agreement with Ortalyk for the purchases of natural uranium
resources for the year 2023 with other certain taxes in
relation thereon borne by the Group.

On 27 March 2024, the Group entered into a purchase
agreement with Ortalyk for the purchases of natural uranium
resources for the year 2024 with other certain taxes in
relation thereon borne by the Group.

([Swakop)) BEAAHE R

35. BBALRZ @)

(@ @&
2024 2023
20245 20234
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Bt THT THT
200 200
) 963 976
(i - 123
(xii) 134,741 132,245
(xif) 6,466 =

Wi

(i)

R2022%66H16H » AKR&E
B P EXEHEREER
R EIRM ] M EIE
5% 0 B2023F1A18
HEt EHISF o B
MRARR A A2022F8
A19BHBH -

M2023F3H9H » A%
= HH N A B 2023 F BE
BERAMERTLEER
& HthERETHIER
AREBFNE -

R2024%3 7190 » K&
E EHH A R B 2024 F E
BERAMERTLEER
& HthHERE THIEH
AREEFIE -

M202343H9H » A%
E BN A B 2023 F iE
BRAMERTLEER
& HthBERETHIER
ARE B AN o

R2024%3H27H » K&
E BN A B 2024 F B
BRAMERTIEER
& HthBERETHIER
AREEEFNE o
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z2024%12 431 B L FE

35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(Continued)

(a)

(Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

()

(xi)

(xii)

(xiii)

The Group entered into a service agreement with CGNPC-
URC for the administrative services provided by CGNPC-
URC.

The Group entered into a framework agreement with CGNPC
Huasheng to deposit amounts with CGNPC Huasheng and
generate interests from such deposits.

The Group entered into a framework agreement with
CGN Finance to deposit amounts with CGN Finance and
generated interests from such deposits.

The Group entered into a rental agreement with CGNPC-
URC to lease out the investment properties to generate rental
income. There was no rental income for the current year and
the investment properties were disposed during the year.

The Group entered into a loan agreement with CGNPC
Huasheng to withdraw amounts from CGNPC Huasheng and
incurred interest expense for those loans.

The Group entered into a loan agreement with China Uranium
Development to withdraw amounts with China Uranium
Development and incurred interest expense for those loans.

The Group entered into a loan agreement with CGNPC-URC
to withdraw amounts with CGNPC-URC and incurred interest
expenses for those loans.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, CGN Finance,
a fellow subsidiary of the Group provided the information
system service to the Group and charged for the service fee.
There is no such service for the year.

During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, the
Group entered into a purchase agreement with a fellow
subsidiary of the Group, Swakop, for the purchases of
natural uranium resources with other taxes in relation thereon
borne by the Group.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group
provided management service to CGNPC-URC and charged
for the management fee income.
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35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

(a)

(Continued)

All transactions were conducted with terms mutually
agreed with the counter parties.

Details of connected transactions of the Company
are disclosed in the “Directors’ Report” section to the
annual report.

The Group entered into a facility letter with CGNPC
Huasheng (as lender), pursuant to which the Company
can borrow from CGNPC Huasheng for operation
capital within of total borrowing amounting to
USD380,000,000 (2023: USD480,000,000) from time
to time within 3 years from the first withdrawal. As
at 31 December 2024, there was unused borrowing
facilities amounting to USD200,000,000 (2023:
USD300,000,000).

The Group entered into a facility letter with China
Uranium Development (as lender), pursuant to which
the Company can borrow from China Uranium
Development for operation capital within of total
borrowing amounting to USD1,350,000,000 (2023:
USD650,000,000) from time to time within 3 years
from the first withdrawal. As at 31 December 2024,
there was unused borrowing facilities amounting to
USD1,350,000,000 (2023: USD650,000,000).

The Group entered into a facility letter with CGNPC-
URC (as lender), pursuant to which the Company can
borrow from CGNPC-URC for operation capital within
of total borrowing amounting to RMB50,000,000
(2023: RMB50,000,000) from time to time within 3
years from the first withdrawal. As at 31 December
2024, there was unused borrowing facilities amounting
to RMB50,000,000 (2023: RMB34,000,000).

35. BBALRZ @)
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35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 35. BBALRZ @
(Continued)
(b) Compensation of key management personnel (b) EEEBASZHM
The remuneration of directors of the Company during RBIZE2024%F Kk 2023412
the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 is as ABIALEFEARAES
follows: ZBET
2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTHET FAT
Short-term benefits EEER 2,174 2,174
Post-employment benefits BERR 2R A - =
2,174 2,174
The remuneration of directors of the Company and RABEZREZTHA
key executives was determined by the remuneration BrzMedBIMEe gL
committee having regard to the performance of EERMEMALZERB RN

individuals and market trends. SBAET -
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36. NOTES SUPPORTING STATEMENT OF 36. HeRERME
CASH FLOWS
Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities: BMEEBEEAGEEER

Loans from an
Loans  intermediate Inventory
Interest ~ from a fellow holding Bank Lease lease
payable subsidliary company  horrowings liabilities payables
B KB

ERHE 4 FOfR HEAR
HK$'000 HKB000  HKS000  HKS000
7L AT TAT ThT TAT

At January 2024 R0AUE1A1A 20,185 1,395,914 17,656 348,979 531 534,170
Changes from financing cash flows: KA BEREHED:!
Interest paid on loans from a fellow ARE-HRZ

subsidiary HEAFEHEMFIE (72,965) - - - - -
Interest paid to inermediate holdng X[ FPEARAT

company HE (1,182) - - - - -
Cash repayment in inventory lease BERRFERERS - - - - - (534,170
Interest paid on bank borrowings ARTERERTIE (49,173) - - - - -
Repayment of bank borrowings BERAER - - - (348979 - -
Repayment of loans from an intermediate (£ R 8 —RRFI2HR

holding company ARER - - (17,656) - - -
Advance of bank borrowings iR - - - 1519,99 - =
Repayment of lease liabilties [EEREEE - - - = (1,675) =
Total changes from financing cash flows ~ REBER S REREE) (123,320) - (17,656) 1,171,017 (1,675  (534,170)
Other changes: HiEe:
New leases entered EHE - - - - 5571 =
Finance costs RERK 121,640 - - - 166 -

As at 31 December 2024 2024512318 18505 1,395,914 - 1519,99 4,599 -
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36. NOTES SUPPORTING STATEMENT OF 36. BEREXRMT
CASH FLOWS (continued)

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities: BMEEBEEAGEEER

Loans from Loans from an
immediate  Loansfrom  intermediate Inventory
Interest holding afellow holding Bank Lease lease
payable company subsidliary company  horrowings liabilities payables
RE
o

AR G TR
HK8 000 HK$ 000
; ThT

At 1 January 2023 R2023F1 18 13,359 47604 1,396,014 S 957,752 2,222 350,948

Changes from financing cash ~~ RERERS7ED):

flows:
Interest paid onloans foma SRS —ERAZHE

fellow subsidiary AREHENNE (67,769) - - - - - -
Interest paid on loan from AREBERARAR

immediate holdng company ~~~ EFERFIE 29) = = = = - -
Interest paid to inermediate UM FRRARAT

holding company Mg (757) = - - - - -
Cash repayment in inventory lease EEEFEHERS - - - - - - (350948
Cash recelved in inventory lease.  BAEERERS - - - - - - 534,170
Interest paid on bank borrowings S/ TEFE A2 (55,783) 5 = 5 - - -
Repayment of loan to immediate  (EEERERA A

holding company B3 = (47,694 = = = = =
Repayment of bank borowings ~ (EE SRf71E 3" - - - - IR - -
Advance of loans from an RE—FRREER

intermediate holding company A RIEFER - - - 17,656 5 = 5
Advance of bank borowings  SF{TMEFEH - - - - 348979 - -
Repayment of lease liablites &SRR - - = S = (1,719) -
Total changes flom financing ~~ RABERLTE

cash flows g (124,604) (47,694) - 17,656 (608,773) (1,719 183,222
Other changes: 29
Finance costs MARE 131,430 - - - - 3 -

As at 31 December 2023 20235124318 20,185 - 13%914 17,656 348,979 537 534,170
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MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTION

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group
has entered into the share swap transaction in which all
96,736,540 ordinary shares of a listed associate held by the
Group of approximately HK$512,456,000 were swapped
with 10,408,851 equity interests of Paladin Energy Limited
of approximately HK$381,355,000, which is listed in Canada
and is initially recognised for as financial assets at fair value
through other comprehensive income. Further details of the
disposal are set out in notes 21 and 39(a) to the consolidated
financial statements.

During the year, dividends declared by the joint venture
and the associate, of approximately HK$223,731,000
and HK$440,336,000 (2023: HK$164,052,000 and
HK$355,903,000) are received by the Group net of tax of
approximately HK$14,595,000 and HK$130,925,000 (2023:
HK$16,262,000 and HK$17,856,000), respectively.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, there is no other
major non-cash transaction.

37.

FEFRERS

REBE2024F128318 IEF
B AEBETTHRRRZS ' &
o RKEERFSE —E
BB 96,736,540 %
BA%#)512,456,0008 T 1% X #
£10,408,851 % Paladin Energy
Limitedf& 7 + 49381,355,000%
JC » Paladin Energy LimitedA &
RET - VIEHERBEREARBRA
Hth2Eism s @fEE - HEH
BE—PHBENGRE VB HRERME
21%39(a) °

FR - AEERRBAGELER
HERNABERMNKRED RN B
223,731,000/ 7T 2. 440,336,0007
70 (20234 : 164,052,000/ 7T &
355,903,000 7T) + HBRHIIESD B
#914,595,000/%& 7T % 130,925,000
77T (20234 16,262,000/ 7T &
17,856,000/ 7T) °

REE2023F12A31HILFE -
WEHMEFEIIFBERS -
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38.

OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS

The Group as lessor

For the year ended 31 December 2023, property rental
income earned during the year was HK$3,171,000. The
Group’s investment properties held for rental purposes and
are expected to generate rental yields on approximately 6%
on an ongoing basis. The investment property was disposed
during the current year. Details are set out in note 39(b).

As at 31 December 2023, the Group leases out investment
property under operating leases. The leases typically run
for an initial period of one to three years. None of the leases
includes variable lease payments.

Undiscounted lease payments under non-cancellable
operating leases in place at the reporting date will be
receivable by the Group in future periods as follows:

—FR

Within one year

38.

RaHERE
AEBERHEA

REBE2023F1283181EF
E - FARRzWERSBAR
3,171,000/ 7T - NEB 2 IREY)
ERBEHERBRRENFEEL
6% MM e WK - RAFE -
REWMEBLE - FERHNWE
39(b) °

202312 A31H » NREERE
KERERLREME - HENY)
BHRPREEA—E=F - HEHRT
BIERTEAEMNK -

RiRE B R T A HG SR ER
AR EN G B AEERAK
AR LA T YRR

2024
20244

2023
20235
HK$’000
TAET

HK$’000
TR

- 3,153

The property was disposed during the year.

ZMECRNFARE -
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39. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

(a)

Disposal of investment in an associate:

In June 2024, Fission Uranium Corp., an associate of
the Company which had been listed in the Toronto
Stock Exchange (the “Disposed Associate”) and had
represented the operations of the Group in Canada
as included in other investments segment, entered
into a definitive arrangement agreement with Paladin
Energy Limited (“Paladin”), a company incorporated
in Australia and listed on the Australian Securities
Exchange, pursuant to which Paladin would acquire
100% of the issued and outstanding shares of the
Disposed Associate.

The transaction was completed on 23 December 2024
and 96,736,540 shares of the Disposed Associate
(corresponding to 11.26% equity interest) originally
held by the Company have been fully swapped with
10,408,851 shares of Paladin (corresponding to 2.61%
equity interest). The shares of the Disposed Associate
were delisted from the Toronto Stock Exchange on
23 December 2024. The shares of Paladin have been
listed for trading on the Toronto Stock Exchange
on 27 December 2024 following the completion of
transaction.

39 CORIER

(a)

R — B A B
g :

202446 H - Fission
Uranium Corp. (A7 5B &
nAEl BREMEZEFR
SHEm(ELEBER
all) - AAREERMEXRE
15 SEAHMIRE S E)
fiPaladin Energy Limited
([Paladina @] » —RIRAR
NGRS i A2 PN
MERBHFXHH ETHR
AN AT EM T B
B - Paladin &) 5 U B8
EHEBMEATNEZED
AT BTSN o

ZRPEN2024F 124
23T - RAAXR A
RENEHERE QAN
96,736,540 A% 1 (FE 15
11.26%%4E) B BE R A
10,408,851 %Paladin’A &
RE1D (FEFE1H2.61%A%4E) o
BEREBEQRMRMNR
202412238 B % Mm%
BERDRE - RER
5 5E 1% - Paladina B
MER2024F12 427 HR
LMEBSFRGMLETE
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39. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (Continued)

(a)

Disposal of investment in an associate: (Continueq)

Pursuant to the completion of the transaction,
the Company lost its significant influence over the
Disposed Associate and in turn a loss on disposal
of the Disposed Associate is recognised upon the
derecognition of investment in Disposed Associate
as an associate and recognition of investment in
Paladin as financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income with further details as set out in
note 21.

This transaction as at 23 December 2024 has resulted

39

(a)

Il‘\ Jt%ﬁ (£

HER—EBE A RNIR
&: (&)
ZRXHTHE - RNRATFKR
FHEHEBERRNE
TEH EmMLTHED
HERE N RINEEREK
JJ:EEEUE’\‘EEIEH‘J*M’“T
E’J&é{éﬁﬁm, A i
NI ﬁﬁﬁ’\\Palade\T
HIRERRRIZARER
AHMEEYEZ 2HHE
E o E—SEBENME
21 °

M2024%F12HA23H © #%

in the recognition of a loss in profit or loss, calculated THEEHNERERE
as follows. The comparative figures in the consolidated B FENT  HRE5EE
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive FEME2mMKZERAOLER
income have been restated to represent the Disposed HTEEY - ERER
Associate as a discontinued operation. IHEBESRDHBEH 2D
= o
2024
20244
HK$’000
FHT
Consideration of disposal, representing the HEMEE » APaladin/a 7]
fair value of the listed shares of Paladin EROARE 381,355
Less: carrying amount of the 11.26% W RMKREERTENER
equity interests in the Disposed Associate B SRS AR]11.26%
on the date of loss of significant influence e AR E B (512,456)
Less: cumulative exchange reserve B REEEEEEARE
recognised upon disposal of the TR RETIE H
Disposed Associate (8,422)
Loss on disposal of the Disposed Associate  H&E D H &R 2 A FIHEE (139,523)
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39. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (continued) 39 BRIEEKE
(a) Disposal of investment in an associate: (Continued) (a) HER—EEBEATNIER
&: (&)
2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FAT
Loss on disposal of the HEEHEBE AR
Disposed Associate KEE (139,523) =
Share of (loss)/profit of the FEMRERR “FRNE LR IE
discontinued operation for 75 (B18), /5 F
the period/year (30,462) 13,351
(Loss)/profit from discontinued REBHEBE AR
operations of the Disposed B IEEBR
Associate (&18) %= (169,985) 13,351
(b)  Disposal of investment properties: b) HEREWE:
The investment properties, which represented all WEME  EVERES
the operation in the property investment segment, BRI E 75 - 20245
were disposed to an independent third party at the 225,332,000/ JTTHIE(E
consideration of HK$25,332,000 in 2024 and loss on LEF—HBBIE=TF -
disposal of HK$2,647,000 was recognised in profit or &= E 182,647,000/ TR
loss. BEmER °
The transaction has resulted in the recognition of a loss IR HEEBHNIERER
in profit or loss, presented as follows. The comparative B8 230 o 5258
figures in the consolidated statement of profit or loss mREMEEREEROL
and other comprehensive income have been restated BETEEY - BWEE
to represent the property investment segment as a B2 REBRIEE

discontinued operation. % o
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39. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (continuea) 39 CRARIEEKE
(b)  Disposal of investment properties: (Continued) b) HEREWE:@ (&

2024
20244

2023
20234
HK$'000
FAT

HK$°000
TR

Loss on disposal of investment HEREYEEE

properties (2,647) -
Rental income HeWA - 3,171
Change in fair value of WEWEINREEE)

investment properties (12,113) (6,026)
Loss from discontinued operations REREMEDKIE

of investment properties EIEHEE (14,760) (2,855)

(c) R

(c) Analysis:

2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET
(Loss)/profit from discontinued REELEHE AT
operations of the Disposed RIS
Associate (&518) /& F (169,985) 13,351
Loss from discontinued operations K EIZFEWMED R ILER
of investment properties K Es8 (14,760) (2,855)
(Loss)/profit from discontinued REDKRIEEBEH
operations (E518), & F (184,745) 10,496
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40. SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND 40. REHETHNEMEER

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES BY CATEGORY TRIBEME
Categories of financial instruments SR T AEMER
2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FExT FAETT
Financial assets SHMEE
Financial assets at fair value through ~ Z AR EFFAEMEEWZEZ
other comprehensive income TREE 355,889 =

Financial assets at amortised cost R AGTE SRUEE
(including bank balances and cash)  (BIERITEFEERE)

- Trade and other receivables — UG BR TR Ko B A R R IR 79,855 460,502
- Amount due from an intermediate ~ — U —fE AR REIZERR A RIFRIE
holding Company - 1,655
— Amount due from a fellow — FEN— R & B A "l 5RIE
subsidiary 17 18
— Bank balances and cash —iRTEFRRE 1,153,789 1,017,239
1,589,550 1,479,414
Financial liabilities TRAE
Financial liabilities at amortised cost ~ IZ#HEKX A2 2 2RBE
- Trade and other payables — AR R S Eo b B~ 5/ IE 796,857 999,401
— Loans from a fellow subsidiary —RE—HRREMNBARZER 1,395,914 1,395,914
— Loans from an intermediate holding — 38— BHIZR AR ZER
company - 17,656
— Bank borrowings —RITER 1,519,996 348,979
— Amount due to an intermediate — R —fE R EIER A B RIR
holding company 12,058 10,938
— Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries — — FEf B R E A TIRIE 1,385 1,598

3,726,210 2,774,486
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41.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments

in the normal course of the Group’s business are credit risk,

liquidity risk, interest rate risk and currency risk.

(@

Credit risk

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk which
will cause a financial loss to the Group due to failure to
discharge an obligation by the counterparties is arising
from the carrying amount of the respective recognised
financial assets as stated in the consolidated statement
of financial position.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of
the Group has delegated a team responsible to ensure
that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts.
In addition, the Group reviews the recoverability of
each individual trade debt at the end of each reporting
period to ensure that adequate impairment losses are
made for irrecoverable amounts.

For trade receivables, the Group has applied the
simplified approach in HKFRS 9 to measure the loss
allowance at lifetime ECLs. The Group determines
the ECLs for customer with significant balances
by using an individual basis, estimated based on
historical credit loss experience, as well as the general
economic conditions of the industry in which the
debtors operate. In this regard, the directors of the
Company consider that the Group has a low historical
credit loss experience and there was no significant and
adverse changes in the general economic conditions
of the industry in what the debtors operate, thus the
management considered the credit risk is not material.

41.

B EbEE

EREEBERERBBET - AKE
XEEMTANTIZARAEER
B RBERRER - MERERNIE
R o

(@ FEERER

AR HTREBITEMEM
CAREERZMBERLZ
EREERRTIKELRR
FAESIRRR PR E I HRA E
REMEEZREE -

R EERREERE
AEEEREDER X
B a B EERBELKDS
HIERZBR - 1o - &
SEERSHMEHRRS
& 18 5! FE Yo R 3R 2 AT Y (Bl
1 AR E SR
L R SURIERE -

REWESRME @ A&E
ERAEEMHREZER
FOHRNBE T ENER
HEREEBRFEBE
BB AREHAEENG
FEFRERNERMEE
NEBABEEEEEE
BEEBARETENE
BREAABEERMEER
BiR-FmE - ARA
NEZSRARAKEBERE
EEBRAE  AREBA
RETEMEBEERR
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EEERREERARAE
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41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(a)

Credit risk (Continued)

For other receivables, amounts due from fellow
subsidiaries included in bank balances and amount
due from an intermediate holding company, the internal
credit rating was ranked as “performing” as set out on
page 225. Based on the strong financial position and
good history of repayment of the fellow subsidiaries
and intermediate holding company, the Group has
assessed that the ECLs for these receivables and
amounts due from fellow subsidiaries and intermediate
holding company are not material under 12-month
ECLs. Thus, no loss allowance provision was
recognised during the respective period.

The credit risk on liquid funds other than those
placed with fellow subsidiaries is limited because
the counterparties are banks with high credit ratings
assigned by international credit-rating agencies.

The Group considers the probability of default upon
initial recognition of asset and whether there has been
a significant increase in credit risk on an ongoing
basis throughout the reporting period. To assess
whether there is a significant increase in credit risk
the Group compares the risk of a default occurring
on the asset as at the reporting date with the risk of
default as at the date of initial recognition. It considers
available reasonable and supportive forwarding-looking
information. Especially the following indicators are
incorporated:

° internal credit rating;

o external credit rating;

41. BIERKREREE

(a)

FERR(E)

PEMERFRENS - &
Yo IR 24 B B X A RO IR B
EIRTTHE T LB — R+
BER R R FRIE - AERE
EREFSIRE](INE
225 FEL) o R ARM
B~ A R EER LA
BRI R RFER
RO AREEFEERR
73 7% 5 B YR 3R K B UL (R
EfB AR RPEERA
AIRENEREEBEA
12BAABEREEERTIL
TEBEXN At REH
B BB R R 1R A

T BUA [R) 2 Bt /8 22 R A S
ZRBEZZEERRAE
R REA/RRZHHEE
BREENARBITAESE
REFZIRIT ©

AEBENREREER
ZEEANAIREM - RaF
HEEREEABRSHEA
LREERBROFERZEE
me ¥EEERRELTRE
ZIRME - ARE K RE
AR EEZRLENNE
REYIRHER A B LR
WO REBRETLR - B
ZRAIE B A SR RIE It
BR - LTHEEFEEH
Z8

. WEBEERIAR :

. SNERIEERTAR -
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41.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(a)

Credit risk (Continued)

° actual or expected significant adverse changes
in business, financial or economic conditions
that are expected to cause a significant change
to the borrower’s ability to meet its obligations;
and

o significant changes in the expected
performance and behaviour of the borrower,
including changes in the payment status of
borrowers in the Group and changes in the
operating results of the borrower.

The Group’s exposure to credit risk

In order to minimise credit risk, the Group has tasked
its management to develop and maintain the Group’s
credit risk grading to categories exposures according
to their degree of risk of default. The credit rating
information is drawn from publicly available financial
information and the Group’s own trading records
to rate its major customers and other debtors.
The Group’s exposure and the credit ratings of its
counterparties are continuously monitored and the
aggregate value of transactions concluded is spread
amongst approved counterparties.

41.

R EE

(a)

FERR(E)

. EBRR - IR
LKA B L B
ERFFAHEKRDT
MECTEREHE
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MEBENELEEARE
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41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 41. BIERKREREE
(@)  Credit risk (Continued) (@) FEERRGE)

The Group'’s exposure to credit risk (Continued)

The Group’s current credit risk grading framework
comprises the following categories:

Category

oYl

Performing

R#f

Doubtful

Default

Write-off

s

Description

fam

For financial assets where there has low risk of default or

has not been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition and that are not credit impaired (refer to as Stage
1)

KBRS B TIRERAREERB AR EAE MR IEEER
ENTREE (2HE—HER)

For financial assets where there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition but that are not
credit impaired (refer to as Stage 2)
BIRERAREERRERERENIHMEERENSRIEE
(ZHIE =R

Financial assets are assessed as credit impaired when one or
more events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of that asset have occurred (refer to as
Stage 3)
ERSASERHHEENAAARREREEE TP ER -
CREEFNHAGEEREZHE=RR)

There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in severe
financial difficulty and the Group has no realistic prospect of
recovery
BURKRABEBABARENTHRE - i ANEEREFIER
HERIE

A E G EERR (F)

AR AT (5 AR T
FHER IO TE -

Basis for

recognising ECLs
REMEE

BENERE

12-month ECLs

12 AFEEiZ &
]

Lifetime ECLs — not
credit impaired

EHEREEER -
BEERE

Lifetime ECLs -
credit impaired

EHEMEEERE -
HIREERE

Amount is written off

FRIA T
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41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 41. BIERAREREz

(@)  Credit risk (Continued) (@ EERRGE
The Group’s exposure to credit risk (Continued) REFEELAEERE (B
The tables below detail the credit quality of the Group’s TRFMILETAEER S
financial assets, as well as the Group’s maximum MEEMEELEZ UK
exposure to credit risk by credit risk rating grades. FEBEERBIRER

MERAEERBRAA

Gross Net
Internal 12-month or carrying carrying
31 December 2024 credit rating lifetime ECLs amount amount
2024F12H31A REBEERTR 12BAREMAREEESE fREAE REFE
HK$’000 HK$’000
THERT THET
Trade receivables (Note) Lifetime ECLs (simplified
approach) 53,246 53,246
FENBR TR GE) FHERBEEEE GHZE
Deposits and other Performing 12-month ECLs
receivables 26,609 26,609
2e MEAMENGIE RiF 128 ATEEREEEE
Amount due from Performing 12-month ECLs
a fellow subsidiary 17 17
W —HERZMELR  RiF 128 ATEERE EE B
A
Bank balances and cash  Performing 12-month ECLs 1,153,789 1,153,789

RTEFEAE RIF 120 A REEEE
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Credit risk (Continued)

The Group'’s exposure to credit risk (Continued)

31 December 2023
2023F12A31H

Internal
credit rating

AEMEERIR

12-month or
lifetime ECLs

BRERER &
@ EERR@)

12AARENEREEER

A E B E g r 15 B IR ()

carrying

amount
REAE
HK$'000
FHT

Gross Net
carrying
amount

REFE

HK$'000

FAET

Trade receivables (Note) Lifetime ECLs (simplified 450,750 450,750
approach)

MR TR (BfH&E) 2 EREEEER (LX)

Deposits and other Performing 12-month ECLs 9,752 9,752
receivables

e RHMEWHIE  RIF 12{A ATEEREERIE

Amount due from an Performing 12-month ECLs 1,655 1,655
intermediate holding
company

JENE — R 4% A Ruf 12 ATEEEEEE
RNRIFIE

Amount due from a fellow  Performing 12-month ECLs 18 18
subsidiary

JE e — el [B) 22 P 8 RiF 12 ATEEREEEE
NEIFIE

Bank balances and cash  Performing 12-month ECLs 1,017,239 1,017,239

RITAEE LIRS Ruf 12 AR EEEE

Note:  For trade receivables, the Group has applied the simplified Misk: BEWERME @ A&EH

approach in HKFRS 9 to measure the loss allowance at
lifetime ECLs. Except for debtors with significant outstanding
balances or credit-impaired, the Group determines the
expected credit losses on these items individually. No loss
allowance has been made on trade receivables as the
amount involved is insignificant.

ERBEEBRELE]
FORMBL T AAER
MEREEBENERR
o REBERRERFR
RIFERENEBEIN » &
SEEBEETIRREAN
BHERER - ARAS
SRITERX - RIAHE5t
MR R IR A -
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41.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Credit risk (Continued)
The Group’s exposure to credit risk (Continued)

The Group’s concentration of credit risk by
geographical locations is mainly in the PRC (2023: the
PRC), which accounted for 100% (2023: 89%) of the
total trade receivable as at 31 December 2024.

Besides, the Group has concentration of credit risk as
100% (2023: 23%) and 100% (2023: 62%) of the total
trade receivables was due from the Group’s largest
customer and the five largest customers respectively
within natural uranium trading segment.

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group
monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash
equivalents deemed adequate by the management
to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate the
effects of fluctuations in cash flows. The management
monitors the utilisation of loans from bank borrowings,
loans from a fellow subsidiary and loans from an
intermediate holding company and ensures compliance
with loan covenants.

The following table details the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial
liabilities and lease liabilities based on the agreed
repayment terms. The table has been drawn up based
on undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities and
lease liabilities based on the earliest date on which
the Group can be required to pay. The maturity
dates for non-derivative financial liabilities are based
on the agreed repayment dates. The table includes
both interest and principal cash flows. To the extent
that interest flows are floating rate, the undiscounted
amount is derived from interest rate curve at the end of
the reporting period.

41.

BRERER &
@ EERERE)

(b)

AL B E i 115 B R (AR

AEEZMWEGTHEER
g i = E A El (2023
F PR - 1520245128
318 2 FEMERFR4BEE100%
(20234 : 89%) °

SEoh - AN 52 B e YRR R AR
£6100% (20234 : 23%) &
100% (20234 : 62%) 7 5
ERAEBRAHE 5D

MAZKAEPRAKREP
BVRIR - T E B S S R

BREFHER -

RBETERE

REEBRDESRRE -
AEBEEELRKRE A
CTEERBAERNEERE
RBTRZIKFE - A
AEBEz2ERRERS
MERBZEE BEE
ERRBRITERZE
R KE—EREMER
AzERRKE —HFH
BERABZERNERE
A FELRIE T B R o

TREFATIFRIE W EE
RIER - AREFITES
REANEERESR A
BREHME - ZREBEE
BZAN e &F B
THABERHEEAGETH
AUBRRERE/ELER
HeFTESRABEDH
BT A EERBHAE
o ZREBENEEAE
Beng -RBEHK -
REBFNERBEBNE
AIFRER S BEREBH X
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(b)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

Repayable on
demand or
within 1 year

less than 2 years  less than 5 years

41. BIERKREREE

(b) RBEZEREGE)

More than
1 year but

More than Total
2yearshut  undiscounted Carrying
cash flows amount

BB-F BERE EZ e

H-FhiEE BIRAE {BINEE RéfE i
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HKS$'000 HK$1000
Tin Tn T&n Tn Tn

At 31 December 2024 H202412831R

Non-derivativ financial liabilties HiteREE

Trade and ofher payables EEARAMERE 796,857 - - 796,857 796,857
Loans from a felow subsidary RE-HRZNELA ER 1395914 - - 1,305,914 1,305,914
Bark borrowings il 1519996 - - 1,519,996 1519.99%
Amount due o an intermediate holding company [Eff—~BRBARAT3E 12,058 - - 12,058 12,058
Amounts due o felow subsidiares ERRZNELANE 1,385 - - 1,385 1,385
3,126,210 - - 3,726,210 3,726,210
Lease liabities i 1,534 1,534 1,531 4599 4599

At 31 December 2023 H02BE12A318
Non-derivative financial liabiliies FiteRas

Repayable on
(emand or
within 1 year
R-EREE
HK§'000

T

1 year butless

Morg than Morg than Totdl
A unciscounted Camying

than 2 years than & years cash flows amount

Reig EFEME
HK§ 000 HK$000 HK$'000 HKS 000
AT Thr T T

Trade and other payebles EAEHREMERTE 999,401 - - 999,401 999,401
Loans fiom a fllw subsidary RE-BRANRLAER 74837 1305914 = 1470751 1305914
Loans fiom an ntermediate holding company KB R EARAFZER 18,261 = . 18261 17656
Bark borrowings il 365,344 - - 365,344 348979
Amount due to an intermeciate holding company  JER— B R EERAREE 10938 - - 10,938 10938
Amounts due to Slow subsicaries ERRZNBAE 159 = = 159 159

1470379 139,914 - 2,866,293 2,174,486
Lease liabiies i 679 = = 679 57
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41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (contives)  41. BIERRER 2

(b)  Liquidity risk (Continueq) (b) FEBESEKE)
Fair value AAE
The directors of the Company consider that the KRBIEERE @ HEBH
carrying amounts of financial assets and financial RANTEER G B R 5 IR
liabilities recorded at amortised cost in the consolidated JeREERSRAGY

financial statements approximate their fair values due
to their immediate or short-term maturities.

The following table presents the fair value of the
Group’s consolidated financial instruments measured
at the end of the reporting period, categorised into the

FREEREAAERE
Itk 75 B P B BB 30 A2 R
MEE -

TRENNBEHARAE
ERaa®mIANAR
TE ?AZ%E/%EM’WE%@EE“J

three-level fair value hierarchy as defined in HKFRS 13. FI3FHAENEA=R
The different levels have been defined as follows: DNABEER - TRZELDN
AEWMT :

Level 1 — Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2 — Inputs other than quoted prices included
within level 1 that are observable for the asset or
liability, either directly (that is, as pries) or indirectly (that
is, derived from prices).

Level 3 — Inputs for the asset or liability that are
not based on observable market data (that is,
unobservable inputs).

F-HK-HRAEEXEE
KBRS RE (REH

) -

F_R-BEEHBENE
&% (BB skfE (AIRL(E
RER) IBRBAE
A —BEVRERRID

FEM-AFERABRE
MEBENEELBER
ANE IR BRBAE)

Fair value measurements as at 31 December

2024 categorised into
MN2024F12A31 B EA U T ERN A REFTE

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
F—H E_ E=MR T
HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000
FET FHT FHET
Financial assets at BAREFTAEME
FVTOCI s CREE 355,889 - - 355,889
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41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 41. BIERAREREz

(b)

Liquidity risk (Continueq) (b) FEBESEKE)
Fair value (Continued) DEE

Fair value measurements as at 31 December

2023 categorised into
M2023F12A31 B EAUTERNARENE

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

E— E-R F=H HRET

HK$’'000 HK$’'000 HK$’000 HK$’'000

FET FHIT FAT FET

Financial assets at BAREFARBEE N/A N/A N/A N/A

FVTOCI W SREE 3 R N3 B N3 R 3 B
During the year ended 31 December 2024, there were HE2024F12A3181LF
no transfer between Level 1 and Level 2. The Group’s B F—HREEF-_HFH
policy is to recognise those transfers into and out of WEEE - REBAREEK
fair value hierarchy levels as of the date of the event of RERABZEREB 215
change in circumstances that caused the transfer. REELEHEBARES

RHZEEAREDL -
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41.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

()

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk
mainly in relation to its variable-rate bank borrowings,
bank balances including in the deposit made to
CGNPC Huasheng and CGN Finance, and loans
from a intermediate holding company. The Group
currently does not have an interest rate hedging policy.
However, the management monitors interest rate
exposure and will consider other necessary actions
when significant interest rate exposure is anticipated.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below have been determined
based on the exposure to interest rates for non-
derivative instruments including variable-rate bank
borrowings, bank balances, at the end of the reporting
period. The analysis is prepared assuming the financial
instruments outstanding at the end of the reporting
period were outstanding for the whole year. A 50 basis
points (2023: 50 basis points) increase or decrease is
used when reporting interest rate risk internally to key
management personnel and represents management’s
assessment of the reasonably possible change in
interest rates.

If interest rates had been 50 basis points (2023: 50
basis points) higher/lower and all other variables were
held constant, the Group’s post-tax profit for the year
ended 31 December 2024 would increase/decrease by
approximately HK$1,088,000 (2023: HK$2,967,000).

41.

BRERER &
© FEEBR

AEBEREFBRTHE
R ROTEF(BEEFER
PERERLTERSS
MEFR - UERE—FEF
BHER AR 2 EF) BHH
EREMERR - AEHE
B A3 4 R R PR e
R EEBEEENEX
Rk WAREHREHRE
A RRREEERRE
fFHITE

R

AT 2 8RR E DT TR B
RmERIIETETA (R
BEBRITER - RITE
F)ZHERBMETE © iR
BZBEH MR RERRE
HEAZAREESHMITAR
2FERNPNRERE - SOREE
25 (20234 : 50MEERL) 2
ENKRLBRAETEER
A B 5t FI = BB 1 R B 3R
ERER RREBERM
FIRAGEEEZAREH
FrEsTe -

faF = EH T B50EE
25 (20234 : 5OMEEE) -
mATE EMaZEZER
T BIREEREE
2024F12A31BILFE
Z BB R &, R
A#91,088,000/8 7t (2023
4 :2,967,000/87T) °
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41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(d)

Currency risk

The Group has transactional currency exposures.
Such exposures arise from operating activities by the
Group in currencies other than the entities’ functional
currencies. During the years ended 31 December
2024 and 2023, the Group’s operating incomes are
denominated in currencies other than the functional
currency of the group’s entity. In addition, certain
portion of trade and other receivables, amount due
from an intermediate holding company, bank balances
and cash, trade and other payables, amounts due
to an intermediate holding company and fellow
subsidiaries are denominated in currencies other than
the functional currency of the entity to which they
relate.

The following table shows the Group’s exposure at the
end of the reporting period to currency risk arising from
recognised monetary assets or liabilities denominated

in a currency other than the functional currency of the
entity to which they relate.

Presented in: 2024 2023
FIRB 20245 20234
USD'000  USD'000

TR TEL

Assets BE 1,180,043 1,462,541
Liabilities BE (3,391,631) (2,309,361)

41. BIERKREREE

(d)

B ER

AEEAHRXHEER
e - AERRREAEE
NZEERHEEEI
SN B EITIREES o
HZE2024F 2 2023F 124
B1ALEFE ARE/L
EWANEEER 28
BN EWEE - 1t
G BTHDERERK
H b sIE - Bl —
HPREE AR R RIFRIA - RTT
EERBS  BEAEREZRK
E A FE S FRE LA R B —
fEl R R AR A 7] & [A Bt
BARIRIE NAEBZ
B EE UINZ B
FHE -

TRERAEEREEH
AACHRAEKEERA
EAEERARMNGEER

Dbz BB EEEZE

B[R o
2024 2023 2024 2023
20245 20234 20245 20234
RMB000 RVB'000  HK$000  HK$000
ARETR AREFL THT THT
19,858 10,665 4,214 1,473
(1,941) (22,226) (5,445) (2,640)

The Group currently does not have a foreign currency
hedging policy. However, the management monitors
foreign exchange exposure and will consider hedging
significant foreign currency exposure should the need
arise.

7N 4 B 35 R A SN
KR - A - EEEER
SMNERE - YREBFER
ZREPEAINE AR -
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41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 41, B TEREBREE (47

(d)  Currency risk (Continued) (d E¥ERGE)
Sensitivity analysis HREE AT
The Group is mainly exposed to the currency risk of AEBTEMHARKE -

RMB, USD and HK$.

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to
a 5% and 0.5% increase or decrease in HK$ against
the RMB and USD respectively for the years ended
31 December 2024 and 2023. 5% and 0.5% are
the sensitivity rates used when reporting foreign
currency risk internally to key management personnel
and represent management’s assessment of the
reasonably possible change in foreign exchange rates.

The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign
currency denominated monetary items and adjusts
their translation at the end of the reporting period for
a 5% or 0.5% (2023: 5% or 0.5%) change in foreign
currency rates. The positive number below indicates
an increase in post-tax profit where the respective
functional currency strengthens 5% or 0.5% (2023: 5%
or 0.5%) against the relevant currency. For a 5% or
0.5% (2023: 5% or 0.5%) weakening of the respective
functional currency against the relevant currency, there
would be an equal and opposite impact on the profit.

ERETEERR o

TRFVNAEE#HZE2024
FN2023F12A31HIEF
EHELTOREARBRK
ELAHERIZE5%&0.5%
CHURE c R RE L E
(5%%0.5%) BAEXEERE
A B NS R B E A 3D R
ERRACHRE KX
& 12 [E Tt YN BE == 7] B

£ BEEBATETE -

BERE TR BT 5 R4
BZINBHEEEEE &
RIREI R INEER 2
5%780.5% (20234 : 5%
500.5%) #BEH 2 A E R

JEMEEM L BRE
FH{E5%5%0.5% (20234 :
5%3%0.5%) FT B B BR 7 1%
A2 TR o MABFER D)
BEEH B EBEZESY
800.5% (20234 : 5%k
0.5%) - FEHa e
Rz EEFE -

Presented in: 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
FIRA 20245 2023F 2024 2023F 2024 20234F
USD'000  USD'000 RMB'000 RMB'000  HK$000  HK$000

SEH TET AR®TR AR®TRT FHT THT

5% 5% 5% 5% 0.5% 0.5%

Profit or loss SBFERE (83,175) (29,624) (916) 410) - ()

In management’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis is
unrepresentative of the inherent foreign exchange risk
as the year end exposure does not reflect the exposure
during the year.

EEERS  ARFHER
Z BB 3 B A
2 - MERES ALK
REBIMNERR o
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CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the
Group will be able to continue as a going concern while
maximising the return to shareholders through the optimisation
of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy
remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt, which
includes loans from a fellow subsidiary and loans from an
intermediate holding company, bank borrowings, net of cash
and cash equivalents and equity attributable to owners of
the Company, comprising issued share capital and reserves.
The directors of the Company review the capital structure on
a regular basis. As a part of this review, the directors of the
Company consider the cost of capital and the risks associated
with each class of capital, and take appropriate actions to
adjust the Group’s capital structure.

Consistent with others in the industry, the Group monitors
capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. This ratio is calculated
as net debt divided by total capital. Net debt is calculated as
total borrowings less cash and cash equivalents. Total capital is
calculated as equity as shown in the consolidated statement
of financial position plus net debt.

The gearing ratios at 31 December 2024 and 2023 were as
follows:

42, EXREBRER

AEEEREER - UHERAKE
ETERBEMSELEE - WE
BETTEFEERREREER - A
REREREZALR - AEEER
RS EFERT R -

AEEZEAGEBERFRER
TR — R R B AR &R K
B — A EER AR 2 ER R RTT
&5 - IR MREFERE
ARARBHEE AEIE#EE (B
BREBITRARER) - NAA]
BT ENEE - (ER%ZR
AEPIR ARAEFERER
AN BEBENRENER - I
UL RBUEE TR R EAREEEAR
e o

HERNEMARME—B - AEE
NEARB B RERER - X
LR B ERIABABETE - F8
BEREERERRE MRS FER
BatE - EABBEIRG A MHARN
RFFFIRES N EF B ERE -

R2024%F [ 2023F12 A31 BHE
ARELLRMT -

2024 2023

20245 20234

HK$’000 HK$'000

FExT FAETT

Net debt FAME 1,762,121 745,310
Total equity G G 3,921,706 3,880,191
Gearing ratio BERBFHE 44.93% 19.21%

43. APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised for
issue by the directors on 20 March 2025.

43. HEBMBEEK

A TEEN2025%F3 A20 A #t 4
RIS SRR o
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In this annual report (excluding the “Independent Auditor’'s Report”), unless the context otherwise requires, the
following expressions shall have the following meanings:

RAFEREHRERN (NBEBLZEBERE]) -

“associates”
RiEIN

“Articles of Association”
[EF240A]

“Audit Committee”

[EZEEE]

“Beijing Sino-Kazakh”

[HE R A ia ]
“Board”
=

“CAD” or “CA$”
[hn7c)ek[CAS)

“Canada”

v

“Central Mynkuduk Deposit”

[P

“CGN” or “CGNPC”

Rk P R EZEE]

“CGN Finance”

[P B 75

“CGN Global”

[ EZBEREE AT

“CGN Group”
[ EZEE

“CGNM UK”

[CGNM UK/

means

e

means

B

means

B

means

means
B

means
B

means
B

means

means

means

means

means
B

means

BXESBEN  UTHERRGNTSE ¢

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules.

BB EmRAIET 2 8E -

the articles of association of the Company.
RNARAEEEZMAA -

the audit committee of the Board.

EFxgERZBg -

Beijing Sino-Kazakh Uranium Resources Investment Company
Limited” @t AR5 iHE R EBR AR, a limited liability company
incorporated in the PRC and a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company.

IERFRHERREARAGT - RPBEFEMKZHNEREEAA
RARTZENMB AT

the board of Directors of the Company.

AABEFE -

Canadian dollars, the lawful currency of Canada.

MEATT  MEXEEER

Canada, a country in the northern part of North America.

MERX - H—ELRIEEMIEEHER -

the central plot of Mynkuduk deposit in South-Kazakhstan region
Kazakhstan, which is owned and operated by Ortalyk.
ub‘éﬂéﬁéﬁﬁﬁiﬂﬁﬂAK’FﬁEHﬁtﬁi@@mFﬂEﬁ%%ﬁEmﬁPQ%imﬁ% 2
RRREBERER -

China General Nuclear Power Corporation” ({f B [E#% £ B AR A 7)),
a company incorporated in the PRC with limited liability and the sole
shareholder of CGNPC-URC.

;%’fzﬂsﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂ CRAPBIRY 2 BRETEAT - B EZE
s R .

CGN Finance Co., Ltd" (FEZFEERE(T A7), a company
incorporated in the PRC with limited liability and a subsidiary of
CGNPC.

FEZIBAEREERR  RPREKZ2EREERF - BHEE
ZEEHEAR]

CGN Global Uranium Ltd, a company incorporated and registered

in England and Wales with limited liability and a subsidiary of the

Company.

H A% B PR S E R 8H & A PR A 7)* (CGN Global Uranium Ltd) + —FH

%%{?%Tﬁ%&@Eﬁiiﬁ&%ﬂﬂ&ﬁﬂ@*ﬁﬁ&ﬁ&@ET V=¥ /NS i
Al e

CGNPC and its subsidiaries.
FREEZEEREMNEB AR

CGNM UK Ltd., a company incorporated in the United Kingdom, with
limited liability and a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company.
CGNM UK Ltd. * REBFMKZHEREEAT - WARRARNE
BME AR



“CGNPC Huasheng”

[P BT AR

“CGNPC-URC”

[P E s 3 ]

“CGNPC-URC Group”

[P B R

“China Uranium Development”

[ Bl dh 3 3R

“Company”, “CGN Mining” or “we”
[RATE -~ [ EmESE] sk[H M)
“controlling shareholder”
(YRR AR 3R

“Corporate Governance Code”

[EREATA

“Director(s)”

[E%]

“ED(s)"
[BITESR]

“Environmental, Social and
Governance Committee” or “ESG
Committee”

[RIE HEREREES]HK
[ESGZE &

“Fission”

[FissionA &l

“Fifteenth Five-year Plan”

[+EH]

4

“Fourteenth Five-year Plan’

[+mA]

means

means

means
|

means

means

means
|

means
B

means
B

means
B

means

means
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CGNPC Huasheng Investment Limited (FEZIEXKIEEBR AT, a
company incorporated in Hong Kong and a wholly-owned subsidiary
of CGNPC.

PEZERREARAR  REBIMK IR RPEEZSE
Es2EWBAT -

CGNPC Uranium Resources Co., Ltd.” (T E iR AR DR,
a company incorporated in the PRC with limited liability and the sole
shareholder of the China Uranium Development.
PEZMEZRRBBAR  RABIKIZBERETAT - AP
KRR IME—RE -

CGNPC-URC and its subsidiaries (other than member of the Group).
hEZMERERAEERSINNEM BRG]

China Uranium Development Company Limited, a company
incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability and the controlling
shareholder of the Company.

Eﬁ%%%@ﬁﬁﬁ@ﬂ CREBEBRILZABRBEERR - ARAZE
& 5

CGN Mining Company Limited, a company incorporated in the
Cayman lIslands with limited liability, the shares of which are listed on
the main board of the Stock Exchange.

P EZIEEAR AR (CGN Mining Company Limited) * RHEZES
MR BREEAT - EROPERAER LT -

has the meaning aspribed to it under the Listing Rules.
BERFmHARET &% -

Corporate Governance Code as set out in Appendix C1 to the Listing
Rules.

R RIMEC1 PE DR R EVR<PR -

the director(s) of the Company.

RRAERE -

the executive Director(s) of the Company.

RRBHITES °

the environmental, social and governance committee of the Board.

EFZQRE HERERZES -

i3

Fission Uranium Corp., a Canadian-based resource company, the
entire shares of which were, as announced by Paladin, acquired by
Paladin and the shares of which were delisted from the Toronto Stock
Exchange on 24 December 2024.

Fission Uranium Corp. * —RUNMERBEM 2 ERATF) - 2K
P Paladin’A R4S (R0Paladin A R FTE M) + EAR(D B 72024512
R24BHZmEFESFZHITERT °

the fifteenth five-year plan for the national economic and social
development of the PRC, which covers 2026 to 2030.
PEBREEMTEEENE T AERSF © WE2026220304F -

the fourteenth five-year plan for the national economic and social
development of the PRC, which covers 2021 to 2025.
FEBREEMTSRRMNETINERSF - RE2021£2025%5F -
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e .

“Group’

FﬁK%@Jif%@J

“GWe”
[GWel

“HK$” or “HKD”
%7l

“Hong Kong” or “HKSAR”
(BB H[EBRRITHE]

“INED(s)"
B IEITESE]

“Irkol Mine”
[ 7]
“Kazakhstan”

[ B 5o 738 |

“Kazatomprom”

[MEERT

4N
[kwh]

b
Mb]

“Latest Practicable Date”
[ EMRATTH]

“Listing Rules”
[Em#RAl

“Model Code”
[1Z%E=FAl]

“natural uranium”

[ R R

“NED(s)”
[FEMITE R

“Nomination Committee”

fEBEREg]

means
B

means

¥

means
B

means

B

means
B

means

means
B

means

means
B

means
B

means

means
B

means
B

means

B

means

i}

means

i}

“New Financial Services Framework means

Agreement”

[T S RS AR 2R

the Company and its subsidiaries.
RATREWBAT -

Gigawatts of Electricity.
HEE o

Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency of Hong Kong.

BT BEEEEY

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC.
HEREBRFRTEHRR -

the independent non-executive Director(s) of the Company.
RRRVENIERITESE -

the Irkol mine located in the Kyzylorzhinsk area, 20 kilometres from
the town of Chiili, Kazakhstan, which is owned and operated by
Semizbay-U.

PR AL - A7 B ATE ChilisE20 2
B B#AREANRERE

B R 2 Kyzylorzhinskith

The Republic of Kazakhstan.
Ie i e TR AR o

Joint Stock Company National Atomic Company “Kazatomprom”, a
joint stock company established according to the laws of Kazakhstan
with limited liability, which holds 51% equity interest of Semizbay-U
and Ortalyk.

EMeTE T BRI R R T8 T2 A (Joint Stock Company National
Atomic Company “Kazatomprom”) C —RIBBRIABE e AT A AR L
BRI AT - FEEH A RIME A F)51 %R

kilowatt hour.

FI/B o

pound.

B o

16 April 2025, being the latest practicable date for the purpose of
ascertaining certain information of this report.
2025574 H16H - AIERAREE TARHNRELERATITHE -

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange.
B3PS ETARAN o

the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers set out in Appendix C3 to the L|st|ng Rules.
TR AN ERCIFTE E T AE BHEITE SR ZHRESTE o

uranium ore concentrates in the form of triuranium octaoxide.

NB(L =z AR 2 shiRisT)

the non-executive Director(s) of the Company.

RABPERITES ©

the nomination committee of the Board.

ExgR%%Bg -

the financial services framework agreement dated 16 June 2022
entered into among the Company, CGN Finance and CGNPC
Huasheng.

ARE] - REZI R BRI B BR2022F6 H16H 2 817
BRAGHE 2R 177 5%



“New Sales Framework Agreement” means

[FRIHERER %

“Ortalyk”

EINGIN

el

“Paladin”

[Paladin’ A &1J

“PLS Project”
[PLSIEH |
“PRC” or “China”
[FRER

“Remuneration Committee”
[FEE ]

“Reporting Period”
[R5 5

“RMB”
[AR®]

“Semizbay Mine”

[ |

“Semizbay-U”

NG

“SFO”
(&5 R A D]
“Share(s)”

(st )

means

means

means
B

means
B

means
B

means
B

means

means

TEREXARAT —TNFFR

Definitions

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~ B

the framework agreement dated 16 June 2022 entered into between
the Company and CGNPC-URC in relation to the sale of natural
uranium by the Group to CGNPC-URC Group.

AN E R EZ AT B A A2022F6 A 16 H 2 1E2E R - WAH
BAREERPEZMEREFEERAH -

Mining Company “ORTALYK” LLP, a limited liability partnership
established in Kazakhstan, with the Company holding 49% of its
equity interest through its wholly-owned subsidiary and recognised as
an associate of the Company.
BEANABRBEEREREMEEKEZE (Mining Company
“ORTALYK” LLP) » RRMERAHER  AREEAREE - AR
NEBERT - ARFRBLEWNE R RIEAH49% R

Paladin Energy Limited, a company incorporated in Australia focusing
on the development of natural uranium, listed on the Australian Stock
Exchange with the stock code “PDN”, on the US OTCQX with the
stock code “PALAF” and on the Toronto Stock Exchange with the
stock code “PDN”.

Paladin Energy Limited = —ZR 5t 5B A FI) 25 0 2553 7O HE 1T R A 8
FEHAE - LWRIRIPDNIFRARMEESFRZ S LM - AR
[PALAF A EBIOTCQXR 55 £ KIARSE [PDNI R % fh % 58 55
G T e

Patterson Lake South project, being Paladin’s primary and wholly-
owned asset. o
Patterson Lake SouthZE B - IR APaladin ARz T BN EHERE

Eo

The People’s Republic of China.
HEE AR HAE o

the Remuneration committee of the Board.

E=gFMERE -

the period from 1 January 2024 to 31 December 2024.
2024%1 B1HZE2024F12 A31 HHART -

Renminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC.

ARE  hBRZEEEE -

the Semizbay mine located in the Valihanov District of Akmolinsk
Oblast in Kazakhstan, which is owned and operated by Semizbay-U.
FOKZZFEFIBL - AR TE e A8 Akmolinsk Oblast 2 Valihanoviz
HAREERRER -

Semizbay-U Limited Liability Partnership, a limited liability partnership
established in Kazakhstan, with the Company holding 49% of its
equity interest through its wholly-owned subsidiary and recognised as
a joint venture of the Company.

FORZZFF B R E E 45 1% (Semizbay-U Limited Liability
Partnership) * ARMRERIBEN I CBERETEZEE - BEAATF
BEME AAFRAZENEBARIEAH40%ER °

the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of
Hong Kong) as amended from time to time.
TNRIEFTH RS AT IGRD) (EEEHIEE7T1T) °

ordinary share(s) in the Company with a nominal value of HK$0.01
each.
AARFREME.OVEIL 2 il o

239



240

CGN Mining Company Limited Annual Report 2024

Definitions

e .

“Shareholder(s)”
[ 3R ]

“SPUT”
[SPUT]

3

“Stock Exchange’
(Bt 22 P |

“subsidiary(ies)”
AR

“Swakop”
(R AR

“Takeovers Code
[ kg = Al
“Tenge”

(82X

“treasury shares”
[ 17

@y
[tul

“U,0,”

u,0,]

UK
[5EE ]

WS
[<E ]

“USD” or “US$”
EMEAIVE

“UxC”
[UxC]

“Zhalpak Deposit”
[$L1E]

For identification purpose only

E 5

means
B

means
=
B

means
B

means
B

means

means
B

means
B

means
B

means

means
=
B

means
B

means
B

means

holder(s) of the share(s) of the Company.
RRRIRGBFEFBA -

Sprott Physical Uranium Trust.
Sprott Physical Uranium Trust °

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.
BEBMERFMBRAR -

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules.
BERLTRAME T2 2% -

Swakop Uranium (Proprietary) Limited, a company incorporated in
Namibia and a subsidiary of CGNPC-URC.

Fh A ShZE HT R BR A 5] (Swakop Uranium (Proprietary) Limited)
REAURE MK 2 AR - AP EZBERNFRA

The Codes on Takeovers and Mergers and Share Buy-backs issued
by the Securities and Futures Commission of Hong Kong.
%5%3’&%&%1%%%%%?%%56%%2’&@4&&% - ARG @
<FAI o

Tenge, the lawful currency o\f, Kazakhstan.
BX - BERHIDEENZEEE -

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules.
BERFmAAME Tz -

tons of elemental uranium.

WE <5 JBB #h o

Triuranium octaoxide, a compound of uranium present as an olive
green to black, odorless solid. It is one of the more popular forms
of yellowcake and is transported between mills and refineries in this
form.

NEAL=$h - —BHMAY  SHBRERE  EENES - A
HRXEDNEH A2 — » W AR I TR KR R 2 &

)

the United King)dorrlof Great Britain and Northern Ireland.
ATV E RIS RS TE -

the United States of America.
EMBERE -

United States dollars, the lawful currency of the US.
En EROEEE -

UxC, LLC, one of the leading providers of uranium prices and an
independent third party. )
UxC, LLC » RtBRMBRIRHEZ — URBIFE=T °

the uranium deposit located in Sozak district, Kazakhstan, which is
owned and operated by Ortalyk. N
IRMRER MR R E A hiE - ARARTHEERER -
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